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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 
To the Members 
4Front Holdings LLC 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of 4Front Holdings LLC and its 
subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in members’ equity 
(deficit) and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects 
the consolidated financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 
 
Emphasis of matter 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements which 
describe matters and conditions that indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant 
doubt about 4Front Holdings LLC’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information, and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report.  If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this information, we are 
required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes an opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 
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report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 
 

 
San Francisco, California 
July 9, 2019 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

Note 2018 2017
ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash 1,262,733$                3,608,506$               
Accounts Receivable -                             18,576
Other Receivables Note 18 3,920,000                  71,494                      
Inventory Note 3 4,028,506 19,172                      
Biological Assets Note 4 755,309 -                           
Prepaid Expenses 266,094 125,014                    

  Notes Receivable and Accrued Interest from Related Parties Note 5 & 17 490,000                     -                           

Total Current Assets 10,722,642                3,842,762                 

Property and Equipment, Net Note 8 13,580,803                5,506,006
Notes Receivable and Accrued Interest from Related Parties Note 5 & 17 12,121,951                2,981,970
Intangible Assets, Net Note 7 21,893,503                1,141,003
Goodwill Note 7 6,065,518                  -                           
Deposits Note 6 631,610                     306,786                    

TOTAL ASSETS 65,016,027$              13,778,527$             

LIABILITIES AND OWNERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 1,283,279$                401,378$                  
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities 667,409 154,802
Taxes Payable 647,846 -                           
Unearned Revenue -                             60,000
Deferred Rent 229,547 120,638

  Finance Lease Note 10 41,940                       -                           
Notes Payable and Accrued Interest Note 9 9,198,014 -                           
Notes Payable and Accrued Interest to Related Parties Note 11 -                             3,795,041                 

Total Current Liabilities 12,068,035                4,531,859                 

Convertible Notes Note 12 -                             9,436,124                 
Deferred Tax Liability 232,321                     -                           
Finance Lease 45,598                       -                           
Unearned Revenue -                             367,500                    

TOTAL LIABILITIES 12,345,954                14,335,483               

MEMBERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Controlling Interest:

Contributed Capital 72,236,143                11,102,364               
Accumulated Deficit (18,918,755)               (11,450,567)             

Non-Controlling Interest   
Members' Deficit Note 15 (647,315)                    (208,753)                  

TOTAL MEMBERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 52,670,073                (556,956)                  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY 65,016,027$              13,778,527$             

Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1)
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 18)
Subsequent Events (Note 21)

Approved and authorized by the Board of Managers on July 9, 2019

"Josh Rosen" "Karl Chowscano"
Board of Managers Board of Managers

4FRONT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(Amounts Expressed in United States Dollars Unless Otherwise Stated)
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017

Note 2018 2017
REVENUE

Application Services 280,000$               310,000$               
Implementation Services 502,500                 260,200                 
Ongoing Fees and Other 63,248                   104,000                 
Dispensary Sales 2,817,053              46,809                   

Total Gross Revenue 3,662,801              721,009                 

Cost of Goods Sold - Sale of Grown and Manufactured Products (1,080,330)            (920,512)                
Cost of Goods Sold - Sales of Purchased Products (1,643,332)            (118,904)                
Fair Value Adjustment on Growth of Biological Assets Note 4 418,355                 -                         
Gross (Loss) Profit 1,357,494              (318,407)                

OPERATING EXPENSES

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses Note 13 12,690,864            4,338,358              

Loss from Operations (11,333,370)          (4,656,765)             

Other Income (Expense)
Interest Income 882,457                 200,646                 
Interest Expense (1,544,992)            (766,789)                
Gain on Sale of Investment -                         1,036,303              
Loss on Write-off of Loans to Related Parties -                         (152,522)                
Other Income - Legal Settlement Note 18 3,800,000              -                         

Other Expense (38,401)                  -                         
Total Other Income (Expense) 3,099,064              317,638                 

Loss Before Income Taxes (8,234,306)            (4,339,127)             

Income Tax Expense (105,000)               -                         

Net Loss (8,339,306)            (4,339,127)             

Net Loss Attributable to Non-Controlling Interest (871,118)               (750,257)                

Net Loss Attributable to 4Front Holdings LLC (7,468,188)$          (3,588,870)$           

4FRONT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Amounts Expressed in United States Dollars Unless Otherwise Stated)



The accompanying notes are an integral part of consolidated financial statements
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Non-Controlling
Interest

Note
Preferred 

Units
Common 

Units Contributed Capital
Accumulated

Deficit
Members' 

Deficit
Total

Equity

Balance, January 1, 2017 500,000         141,390       10,063,571$            (7,861,697)$           (235,643)$           1,966,231$                 

  Members' contributions Note 14 -                 -               -                           -                         777,147               777,147                      
Equity based compensation Note 16 -                 3,416           167,581                   -                         -                       167,581                      
Convertible debt loan discount Note 12 -                 -               871,212                   -                         -                       871,212                      
Net loss -                 -               -                           (3,588,870)             (750,257)             (4,339,127)                  

Balance, December 31, 2017 500,000         144,806       11,102,364              (11,450,567)           (208,753)             (556,956)                     

   Members' contributions Note 15 -                 -               -                           -                         637,498               637,498                      

   Conversion of debt to Class D Notes 11 & 12 -                 39,125         13,421,096              -                         -                       13,421,096                 

   Conversion of debt to Class F Note 11 & 14 -                 615              299,452                   -                         -                       299,452                      

   Sale of Class D units Note 14 30,181         13,355,078              -                         -                       13,355,078                 

   Sale of Class F units Note 14 -                 63,562         29,951,630              -                         -                       29,951,630                 

   Issuance of Class D units to acquire additional Note 11 & 14 -                 4,520           2,000,100                -                         -                       2,000,100                   

      interest in consolidated entities
   Issuance of Class E units to acquire Health Pharms Inc. Note 14 -                 7,605           3,500,000                -                         -                       3,500,000                   

   Issuance of Class F units to acquire additional Note 14 -                 3,663           1,783,148                -                         -                       1,783,148                   

      interest in consolidated entities
   Purchase of non-controlling interests Note 14 -                 -               (4,078,306)               -                         (204,942)             (4,283,248)                  

   Class C units redemption -                 (1,000)          (286,750)                  -                         -                       (286,750)                     
 Equity based compensation Note 16 -                 7,928           1,188,330                -                         -                       1,188,330                   
 Net loss -                 -               -                           (7,468,188)             (871,118)             (8,339,306)                  

Balance, December 31, 2018 500,000         301,005       72,236,143$            (18,918,755)$         (647,315)$           52,670,073$               

4FRONT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Members' Equity (Deficit)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Amounts Expressed in United States Dollars Unless Otherwise Stated)
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2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss attributable to controlling interest (7,468,188)$           (3,588,870)$           
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest (871,118)                (750,257)                

Adjustments to reconcile change in net loss to net cash used by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 544,966                 70,291                    
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 3,313                      -                         
Equity based compensation 1,188,330              167,581                 
Accrued interest income on notes receivable from related parties (995,487)                (174,984)                
Accrued interest on notes payable to related parties 223,056                 199,034                 
Amortization of loan discount on convertible notes 683,876                 187,337                 
Amortization of loan discount on note payable to related party 150,000                 162,969                 
Deferred rent expense 108,909                 31,948                    
Gain on sale of investment in dispensary to investing activity -                         (1,036,303)             
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
   Restricted cash -                         400,000                 

Accounts receivable 18,576                    (9,115)                    
Other receivables (3,848,506)             14,639                    
Deposits - collateral for cultivation bond -                         450,000                 
Deposits - other (185,491)                (66,704)                  
Inventory (1,409,334)             (19,172)                  
Biological assets (345,309)                -                         
Prepaid expenses (70,291)                  (64,723)                  
Accounts payable 850,120                 (321,944)                
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 320,399                 62,943                    
Taxes payable 105,000                 -                         
Unearned revenue (427,500)                (13,900)                  

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (11,424,678)           (4,299,230)             

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Healthy Pharms Inc., net of cash acquired (20,979,954)           -                         
Purchase of non-controlling interest (500,000)                -                         
Issuance of notes receivable to related parties (8,634,494)             (2,390,471)             
Repayment of notes receivable to related parties -                         405,391                 
Investment in dispensary -                         1,102,532              
Purchases of property and equipment (4,003,211)             (4,249,286)             

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (34,117,659)           (5,131,834)             

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Sale of Class D units 13,355,078            -                         
Sale of Class F units 29,951,630            -                         
Class C units Redemption (286,750)                -                         
Non-controlling interest members' contributions 637,498                 777,147                 
Issuance of Convertible Debt -                         10,120,000            
Finance Lease Liability (5,988)                    -                         
Issuance of Notes Payable 2,850,000              -                         
Repayment of Notes Payable (3,000,000)             -                         
Issuance of Notes Payable to Related Parties -                         80,000                    
Repayment of Notes Payable to Related Parties (304,904)                -                         

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 43,196,564            10,977,147            

4FRONT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Amounts Expressed in United States Dollars Unless Otherwise Stated)
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2018 2017

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH (2,345,773)             1,546,083              

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 3,608,506              2,062,423              

CASH, END OF YEAR 1,262,733$            3,608,506$            

Cash paid for interest 230,126$               217,684$               

OTHER NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Conversion of Debt into Class D Units 13,421,096$          -$                       
Conversion of Debt into Class F Units 299,452$               -$                       
Issuance of Class E units for purchase of Healthy Pharms 3,500,000$            -$                       
Issuance of Class F units to acquire non-controlling intereests 1,783,148$            -$                       

Acquisition of Healthy Pharms Inc.

  Prepaid expenses 70,789$                 -$                       
  Inventory 2,600,000              -                         
  Biological assets 410,000                 -                         
  Property & equipment 4,522,366              -                         
  Deposit 139,333                 -                         
  Intangible assets - Licenses 26,915,518            -                         
  Accounts payable (31,782)                  -                         
  Accrued liabilities (192,209)                -                         
  Income taxes payable (542,846)                -                         
  Deferred tax liability (232,321)                -                         
  Finance lease payable (93,526)                  
  Notes payable issued (9,085,368)             
 Equity interests issued (3,500,000)             -                         

20,979,954$          -$                       

(Amounts Expressed in United States Dollars Unless Otherwise Stated)

4FRONT HOLDINGS LLC
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
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For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Nature of Operations and Going Concern 
 
4Front Holdings LLC (“Holdings”) is a Delaware limited liability company and was founded on 
September 15, 2016, with the contribution of the assets and liabilities of 4Front Ventures, Inc. 
(“Ventures”) (collectively the “Company”). The Company owns and operates, manages, advises 
and licenses its intellectual property (i.e. standard operating procedures and know how) to licensed 
cannabis facilities in state-legal markets in the United States. On November 13, 2018 the Company 
acquired Healthy Pharms, Inc (“HPI”) an operator of a licensed cannabis production facility and a 
dispensary in Georgetown, Massachusetts and a licensed dispensary in Cambridge, Massachusetts. 
As of December 31, 2018, the Company operates a dispensary and a production facility in Illinois, 
two dispensaries and a production facility in Massachusetts, and a dispensary in Pennsylvania and 
manages a dispensary in Maryland. The Company expects to open a company-owned dispensary 
in Maryland in the second half of 2019 and to manage additional cannabis facilities in Maryland 
and Massachusetts in 2019. 
 
On March 1, 2019, the Company signed a definitive agreement with Cannex Capital Holdings, Inc. 
(“Cannex”) for a business combination, whereby the former securityholders of Cannex and 4Front 
will become securityholders in the combined company (“the Resulting Issuer”). Cannex leases real 
estate and provides packaging, intellectual property and consulting services to cannabis production 
facilities in the state of Washington. Cannex and 4Front are arm’s length parties. In connection 
with the transaction, an application has been made to list the Resulting Issuer’s subordinate voting 
shares for trading on the Canadian Security Exchange (“CSE”). The transaction was approved by 
shareholders of Cannex and the CSE has conditionally approved the Resulting Issuer for listing. 
The 4Front members are expected to approve the transaction and the transaction is expected to 
close in late July 2019. The issuance of Multiple Voting Shares of the Resulting Issuer will give 
4Front key shareholders voting control of the Resulting Issuer. Cannex and 4Front have agreed to 
a termination fee applicable under certain circumstances of $10 million. 
 
The Company operates a consulting business that assists customers with acquiring cannabis 
licenses and operating cannabis facilities. The Company has tightened the focus of its professional 
services resources to more squarely support the advancement of its own license interests and its 
legacy clients in key markets, while providing more limited services to select new clients. Revenue 
from the consulting business will continue due to ongoing fees from existing contracts. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting principles applicable 
to a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the 
normal course of business as they come due. Due to losses during the Company’s current growth 
phase, the Company has been required to secure sufficient financing to fund its working capital 
requirements. 
  
When the Company made its decision to merge with Cannex in November 2018, the Company 
elected to postpone its internal fundraising initiatives, which included a substantially negotiated 
secured promissory note exceeding $15 million in proceeds. In place of this note, an $8 million line 
of credit was obtained from Cannex (the note was subsequently increased to $13 million see Note 
21). The Cannex loan is short-term, which results in a working capital deficit.  
  



4FRONT HOLDINGS LLC, SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(Amounts Expressed in United States Dollars Unless Otherwise Stated)  
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (Continued) 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company had a $8.3 million loss, negative cash flow 
from operations, and a working capital deficit at December 31, 2018. The possibility of the 
cancelation of the Cannex merger (see Note 21) creates a material uncertainty and casts significant 
doubt as to the ability of the Company to meet its obligations as they come due unless it is able to 
raise sufficient funds to enable it to reach profitability, and, accordingly, the appropriateness of the 
use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern. These consolidated financial statements 
do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported 
expenses and balance sheet classifications that would be necessary if the going concern assumption 
was inappropriate, and these adjustments could be material. 
  
Management believes that, if the Cannex merger is cancelled (see Note 21), it will have time to 
execute existing fundraising initiatives and to repay any debt that comes due in the next year. 
Management has demonstrated its ability to raise capital and to secure loans in the past. 
Nevertheless, there is no assurance that these initiatives will be successful or sufficient. 
 

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Significant accounting policies for the Company, its subsidiaries, and its affiliates are as follows: 
 

(a) Basis of Preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) in 
effect for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of 
Managers of the Company on July 9, 2019. 
 

(b) Basis of Measurement 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, under the 
historical cost convention except for certain financial instruments and biological assets that are 
measured at fair value as described herein. 
 

(c) Functional Currency 
 
The Company and its affiliates’ functional currency is the United States (“U.S.”) dollar. These 
consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars. 
 

(d) Basis of Consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
its affiliates. Affiliates are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company 
has the power, directly and indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 
and is exposed to the variable returns from its activities. The financial statements of affiliates are   



4FRONT HOLDINGS LLC, SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(Amounts Expressed in United States Dollars Unless Otherwise Stated)  
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(d) Basis of Consolidation (Continued) 
 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases. 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include all of the Company’s affiliates in 
which the Company has control, most often because the Company holds a majority voting interest. 
 
Illinois Grown Medicine LLC (IGM) and Harborside Illinois Grown Medicine Inc. (Harborside 
IGM) are consolidated affiliates because an executive of the Company owns 60% of the entities. 
The executive has assigned to the Company control over the financial and operating policies of the 
entities and has assigned to the Company a beneficial interest in 60% of the income or loss of the 
entities. 
 
The Company reevaluates whether there is a controlling financial interest in these entities when the 
voting rights change. 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements consolidate the following subsidiaries and 
affiliates of 4Front Holdings LLC: 

Business Name Entity Type 
State of 

Operations 

2018 
Ownership 

% 

2017 
Ownership 

% 
4Front Ventures, Inc. Holding Company Arizona 100% 100% 
4Front Advisors, LLC Professional Services Various 100% 100% 
Mission Partners USA, LLC Investment Company Arizona 100% 100% 
Linchpin Investors, LLC Finance Company Arizona 100% 100% 
Healthy Pharms, Inc. Production and Dispensaries Massachusetts 100% - 
4Front Management Associates, LLC Management Company Massachusetts 76% 76% 
MMA Capital, LLC Finance Company Massachusetts 76% 76% 
Illinois Grown Medicine, LLC Production Facility Illinois 60% 60% 
Harborside Illinois Grown Medicine 
Inc. Dispensary Illinois 60% 60% 
Mission Maryland, LLC Dispensary Maryland 85% 65% 
Mission Pennsylvania II LLC Dispensary Pennsylvania 100% 50% 
4Front CIHI Investco, LLC Investment Company Maryland 95% 85% 
4Front PM Investco, LLC Investment Company Maryland 95% 83% 
4Front MARI Investco, LLC Investment Company Maryland 100% - 
Silver Spring Consulting Group, LLC Management Company Maryland 66% 66% 
Adroit Consulting Group, LLC Management Company Maryland 56% 56% 
Old State Line Consulting Group, LLC Management Company Maryland 60% - 

 
Non-controlling interests are separated from the members of the Company’s interest in the 
consolidated financial statements.  



4FRONT HOLDINGS LLC, SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
(Amounts Expressed in United States Dollars Unless Otherwise Stated)  
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(e) Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if 
any. Expenditures that materially increase the life of the assets are capitalized. Ordinary repairs and 
maintenance are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset using the following terms and methods: 
 
 Buildings and improvements   39 years 
 Furniture and fixtures    7 years 
 Computer equipment    3 – 5 years 
 Other equipment    7 – 10 years 
 Leasehold improvements   Remaining life of lease 
 Assets under construction    Not depreciated 
 
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each year-end 
and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. An asset is derecognized upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefit is expected. Any gain or loss from derecognition of the asset (the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value) is included in the Statements of 
Operations in the years of derecognition. 
 

(f) Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any. 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Any amortization is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, which 
do not exceed the contractual period. Cannabis licenses are intangible assets that have indefinite 
useful lives and are not subject to amortization. Intangible assets are tested annually for impairment, 
or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values, and amortization methods are reviewed at each year-end, 
and any changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively. The Company had not recognized 
any impairment losses for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
 

(g) Goodwill 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price paid for the acquisition of an entity over the 
fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is reviewed for possible 
impairment at least annually, or more frequently upon the occurrence of an event or circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount is greater than the fair value. Impairment is determined for 
goodwill by assessing if the carrying of the cash-generating unit (CGU), including goodwill, 
exceeds its recoverable amount determined as the greater of the estimated fair value less cost to 
sell and the value in use. Impairment losses recognized in respect of the CGU are first allocated 
to the carrying value of goodwill and any excess is allocated to the carrying amounts of assets in 
the CGU. Any goodwill impairment is recorded in income in the period in which the impairment 
is identified. Impairment losses on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. Management has 
determined that there is no impairment for the year ended December 31, 2018. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(h) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
 
Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for 
impairment at each date of the consolidated statement of financial position or whenever events 
occur or circumstances change that indicate that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested 
individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets 
(the cash generating unit, or “CGU”).  The recoverable amount of the asset or CGU is the higher 
of its fair value, less costs to sell, and its value in use.  If the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount, an impairment charge is recognized immediately in profit or loss equal to the amount by 
which the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.  Where an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the lesser of the revised 
estimate of recoverable amount, and the carrying amount that would have been recorded had no 
impairment loss been recognized previously. 
 

(i) Financial Instruments (See also Note 19) 
 
IFRS 9 addresses classification and measurement of financial assets and replaces the multiple 
category and measurement models in IAS 39 for debt instruments with a new mixed measurement 
model having only three categories: amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income, and fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity 
instruments and such instruments are either recognized at fair value through profit or loss or at fair 
value through other comprehensive income. The effective date of this standard was January 1, 2018. 
The Company has adopted this new standard as of its effective date on a retrospective basis. 
 

(i) Equity Instruments at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (“FVOCI”) 
 
This category only includes equity instruments, which the Company intends to hold for the 
foreseeable future and which the Company has irrevocably elected to so classify upon initial 
recognition or transition. There were no such instruments at December 31, 2018 or 2017. 
Equity instruments in this category are subsequently measured at fair value with changes 
recognized in other comprehensive income, with no recycling of gains or losses to profit or 
loss upon derecognition. Dividend income is recognized in earnings. Equity instruments at 
FVOCI are not subject to an impairment assessment under IFRS 9. 

 
(ii) Amortized Cost 

 
This category includes financial assets that are held within a business model with the 
objective to hold the financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows that meet the 
solely principal and interest (“SPPI”) criterion. Financial assets classified in this category 
are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(i) Financial Instruments (See also Note 19) (Continued) 
 

(iii) Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
 
This category includes derivative instruments as well as quoted equity instruments which the 
Company has not irrevocably elected, at initial recognition or transition, to classify at FOCI. 
This category would also include debt instruments whose cash flow characteristics fail the 
SPPI criterion or are not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect 
contractual cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell. Financial assets in 
this category are recorded at fair value with changes recognized in profit or loss. 

 
The assessment of the Company’s business models was made as of the date of initial application, 
January 1, 2018. 
 

 Classification 
Cash and Cash Equivalents Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
Other Receivables 
Notes Due from Related Parties 

Amortized Cost 
Amortized Cost 

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities Amortized Cost 
Notes Payable Amortized Cost 
Notes Payable to Related Parties 
 
 

Amortized Cost 
 

(iv)   Impairment of Financial Instruments 
 

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Company’s accounting for 
impairment losses for financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a 
forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach. IFRS 9 requires the Company to 
record an allowance for ECL’s for all debt financial assets not held at fair value through profit 
or loss. ECL’s are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive. The 
shortfall is then discounted at a rate approximating the asset’s original effective interest rate. 

 
(j) Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 

 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the review affects both current and future periods. 
 
Significant judgements, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements are described below.  
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(j) Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions (Continued) 

 
(i) Estimated Useful Lives and Depreciation of Property and Equipment (Also see Note 8) 

 
Depreciation of property and equipment is dependent upon estimates of useful lives, which 
are determined through the exercise of judgment. The assessment of any impairment of 
these assets is dependent upon estimates of recoverable amounts that take into account 
factors such as economic and market conditions and the useful lives of assets. 

 
(ii) Estimated Useful Lives and Amortization of Intangible Assets (Also see Note 7) 

 
Amortization of intangible assets is recorded on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the intangible asset. Intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives are not 
subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. 

 
(iii) Biological Assets (Also see Note 4) 

 
Management is required to make estimates in calculating the fair value of biological assets 
and harvested cannabis inventory. These estimates include a number of assumptions, such 
as estimating the stages of growth of the cannabis, harvested costs, sales price and expected 
yields. 
 

(iv) Share-Based Compensation (Also see Note 16) 
 

The fair value of share-based compensation expenses are estimated using the Black-
Scholes pricing model and rely on a number of estimates, including the life of the grant, 
the volatility of the underlying unit price, the risk free rate of return, and the estimated rate 
of forfeiture of units granted. 
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
(j) Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions (Continued) 

 
(v) Business Combinations (Also see Note 9) 

 
In a business combination, all identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
acquired are recorded at their fair values. One of the most significant estimates relates to 
the determination of the fair value of these assets and liabilities. Contingent consideration 
is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and is included as part of the consideration 
transferred in a business combination. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity 
is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain 
or loss being recognized in profit or loss. For any intangible asset identified, depending on 
the type of intangible asset and the complexity of determining its fair value, an independent 
valuation expert or management may develop the fair value, using appropriate valuation 
techniques, which are generally based on a forecast of the total expected future net cash 
flows. The evaluations are linked closely to the assumptions made by management 
regarding the future performance of the assets concerned and any changes in the discount 
rate applied. Amortization of intangible assets is recorded on a straight-line basis over 
estimated useful lives. 
 

(k) Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 
The following IFRS standards have been recently issued by the IASB. The Company is assessing 
the impact of these new standards on future consolidated financial statements. Pronouncements that 
are not applicable or where it has been determined do not have a significant impact to the Company 
have been excluded herein. 
 
IFRS 16, Leases 

 
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases, which will replace IAS 17, Leases. This 
standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and 
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than twelve months unless the underlying asset is of 
low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the 
underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. The 
standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier 
application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, at 
or before the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16.  The Company anticipates the financial impact of 
applying this standard will result in a $4,634,658 increase of in right-of-use assets, an increase of 
$4,634,658 in lease liability, a $228,638 adjustment to retained earnings, a $228,638 and a decrease 
to deferred rent.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(l) Cash 
 
The Company considers all cash accounts, which are not subject to withdrawal restrictions or 
penalties, and highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to 
be cash equivalents. 

 
(m) Accounts Receivable 

 
Accounts receivable are carried at the original invoiced amount. Management determines the need 
for an allowance for doubtful accounts by identifying any collection issues. Accounts receivable 
are written off when deemed uncollectible and recoveries of accounts receivable previously written 
off are recorded when received. No interest on past due accounts receivable is recognized in income 
until collected. As of December 31, 2018, and 2017, management has determined that no allowance 
for doubtful accounts is required to cover uncollectable balances. 
 

(n) Biological Assets 
 
The Company measures biological assets consisting of cannabis plants at fair value less costs to 
sell and complete up to the point of harvest, which becomes the basis for the cost of internally 
produced harvested cannabis and finished goods inventories after harvest. The direct costs, 
including seeds and growing materials, and indirect costs, such as utilities, indirect labor for 
individuals involved in the growing and quality control process, as well as depreciation and 
overhead, such as rent expense associated with the growing space, are capitalized as incurred. These 
costs are then recorded with cost of goods sold in the consolidated statement of operations in the 
period in which the related product is sold. Unrealized gains or losses arising from changes in fair 
value less cost to sell during the period are included in the results of operations. 
 

(o) Inventory 
 
Inventories of purchased finished goods and packing materials are initially valued at cost and 
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Inventories of harvested cannabis are 
transferred from biological assets at their fair value less costs to sell and complete at harvest which 
becomes the deemed cost. Any subsequent post-harvest costs are capitalized to inventory to the 
extent that the cost is less than net realizable value. Net realizable value is determined as the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course business less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost 
basis. Products for resale and supplies and consumables are valued at lower of cost and net 
realizable value. The Company reviews inventory for obsolete, redundant and slow-moving goods 
and any such inventories are written down to net realizable value. 
 

(p) Revenue Recognition 
 
The IASB replaced IAS 18 Revenue, in its entirety with IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers. The Company adopted IFRS 15 under the modified retrospective approach where the 
cumulative impact of adoption is recognized in retained earnings as of January 1, 2018 and 
comparatives will not be restated. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(p) Revenue Recognition (Continued) 
 
The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches 
to recognizing revenue, at a point in time or over time, the assessment of which requires judgement. 
The model features the following contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine 
whether, how much and when revenue is recognized: 
 

1. Identifying the contract with a customer; 
2. Identifying the performance obligation(s) in the contract; 
3. Determining the transaction price; 
4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract; and  
5. Recognizing revenue when or as the Company satisfies the performance obligations(s). 

 
Under IFRS 15, revenue from consulting contracts that include customer training and other services 
upon the request of the customer is not recognized until the customer’s dispensary is open or until 
the Company has determined that it is unlikely that the customer will request future services. 
Revenue for contracts for application services is recognized when the application is sent to the 
regulator and all obligations have been fulfilled. No revenue is recognized on contracts until 
payment is received from the customer unless there is persuasive evidence that a customer will pay. 
The implementation of IFRS 15 had no effect on the recognition of revenue for customer contracts 
as compared to the Company’s prior policy. 
 
Under IFRS 15, revenue from the sale of cannabis at the Company’s dispensaries is recognized at 
the point of sale when control over the goods have been transferred to the customer and the 
customer has paid for the merchandise. The implementation of IFRS 15 had no effect on the 
recognition of revenue for dispensary sales. 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, amounts recorded as revenue are net of 
discounts, which were not separately tracked. 

 
Any fees that are collected prior to their recognition as revenue are recorded as deferred revenue 
on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. 
 

(q) Provision for Income Tax  
 
Except for certain subsidiaries, the Company is treated as a partnership for federal and state income 
tax purposes and, accordingly, is generally not subject to company-level taxes. Taxable income or 
losses are allocated to the members in accordance with the limited liability company operating 
agreement. Therefore, there is no provision for federal or state income taxes in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements except for certain subsidiaries. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

(q) Provision for Income Tax (Continued) 
 
Three subsidiaries, HPI, Mission Pennsylvania II LLC, and Harborside IGM are taxed as 
corporations and are subject to federal and state income taxes. For these subsidiaries, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities and the related deferred tax expense or recovery are recognized for deferred 
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amount of 
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is 
realized or the liability is settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax 
rates is recognized in income in the period that substantive enactment occurs. Mission Pennsylvania 
II LLC converted to being taxed as a corporation in late 2018 and no significant deferred tax asset 
or deferred tax liability existed at conversion. Harborside IGM had sufficient NOLs to offset any 
deferred tax liability. All NOLs have a full valuation allowance. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current assets against current tax liabilities and when 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxing authority and the Company intends to settle 
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. At December 31, 2018, a deferred income tax 
liability of $232,321 was recorded, which is related to the book and tax differences in fair market 
value of biological assets and depreciable fixed assets. 

 
Certain Company subsidiaries are subject to U.S. Internal Revenue Code Section 280E. This 
section disallows deductions and credits attributable to a trade or business trafficking in controlled 
substances. Under U.S. law, marijuana is a Schedule I controlled substance. The Company has 
taken the position that any costs included in the cost of goods sold should not be treated as amounts 
subject to the Section 280E expense disallowance. The difference between the effective tax rate of 
21% of pre-tax earnings and the income tax provision expense of $105,000 is primarily due to the 
non-deductible IRC Section 280E expenses, state taxes and true-up of 2017 deferred taxes.   
 
The Federal and State income tax returns remain open for examination by the Federal and State 
taxing authorities for tax years 2015-2018. 
 
The Company would recognize any potential accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized 
tax benefits as part of its tax provision as interest or penalty expense, as applicable. The Company 
had no significant penalties or interest related to income taxes for years ended December 31, 2018 
and 2017.  
 

(r) Reclassification 
 
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year 
presentation.  These reclassifications had no effect on the reported consolidated results of 
operations. 
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3. INVENTORY 
 

 
The Company’s inventory includes the following at December 31, 2018 and 2017: 
 

                  2018                       2017       
 
 Raw Materials - Harvested Cannabis     $      247,588   $           - 
Work in Process – Flower and Extract         3,437,445                - 

Finished Goods – Packaged Products            343,473       19,172 

Total Inventory      $ 4,028,506    $  19,172  

Raw material is harvested cannabis where the flower has not been removed. Work in Process is 
processed bulk flower and processed cannabis oil.  Finished goods are ready for sale and include 
packaged flower, pre-rolls, vape cartridges, edibles, and paraphernalia. 
 
Cannabis inventory that is grown and manufactured by the Company is valued at the lower of 
cost or net realizable value, which is the value at harvest, plus cost to complete, less cost to sell. 
Cost is determined by using the average cost method. The Company reviews inventory for 
obsolete, redundant and slow moving goods and any such inventory identified are written down 
to net realizable value. 
 
Inventory that is purchased from third parties is valued at the lower of net realizable value or cost 
plus certain costs to purchase the inventory. 

 
4. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 

 
Biological assets consist of cannabis plants. At December 31, 2018, the changes in the carrying 
value of biological assets are shown below. The Company had no biological assets at December 
31, 2017. 
 
Beginning balance 

 
          $                   -                             

 

Biological assets acquired with HPI 
Costs to grow harvested and live plants 
Net change in fair value less costs to sell 

due to biological transformation 

                410,768 
             2,000,144          

        418,355 

 

Transferred to inventory upon harvest    (2,073,958)  

Ending balance          $     755,309    
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4. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 
The Company values its biological assets at the end of each reporting period at fair value less costs 
to sell and complete. Estimates of harvest yields were used to value plants at December 31, 2018. 
The cost to bring each live plant to harvest was estimated based on actual costs to grow plants in 
2018. The average sales price of cannabis flower at the HPI dispensaries was used as the estimated 
sales price of harvested flower for HPI. For IGM, the lowest actual wholesale price of cannabis 
sold in 2018 and through April of 2019 was used. Selling cost was estimated based on actual 
selling costs at the HPI dispensary and estimated wholesale selling costs for IGM. Using the age 
of the plant and the harvest date of each plant, a valuation model was used to determine the value 
of each live plant at December 31, 2018. 
 
The significant assumptions used in determining the fair value of cannabis plants are as follows: 
 

       HPI       IGM 
 Average selling price of flower per gram                       $10.25                  $  5.00    
 Post harvesting processing costs per gram             $  0.79    $  0.25 
 Selling costs per gram                $  3.36    $  0.25 
 Yield per plant in grams         77                       167 
 Number of growing days before harvest     108                         82 

 
Management has quantified the sensitivity of the inputs and has determined the following: 
 
• A decrease in the selling price per gram by 5% would result in the biological assets value 

decreasing by $54,661. 
• A decrease in the harvest yield per plant of 5% would result in the biological assets value 

decreasing by $37,765. 
• An increase in the number of growing days to harvest of 5% would result in the biological 

assets value decreasing by $40,179 
 
Biological assets are measured using Level 3 inputs, and therefore are subject to volatility and 
several uncontrollable factors, which could significantly affect the fair value of biological assets 
in future periods. 
 
All of the plants are to be harvested as agricultural produce (cannabis flower) and at December 
31, 2018, the biological assets were on average 47% complete for HPI plants, and 45% complete 
for IGM plants. 
 
Mother plants, or bearer plants, are plants grown for the purpose of taking cuttings in order to 
grow additional plants of the same type as the bearer plant. Bearer plants are critical to the success 
of the business, however are not measured for accounting purposes. Bearer plants are plants that 
once mature are held strictly to grow produce over their useful life. 
 
Unrealized gains or losses arising from changes in fair value less cost to sell during the period are 
included in the results of operations in the related period. 
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5. NOTES RECEIVABLE AND ACCRUED INTEREST FROM RELATED PARTIES 
 
The Company held various notes receivable totaling $12.6 million and $3.0 million at December 
31, 2018, and 2017, respectively, from related parties that hold cannabis licenses or control real 
estate that can be used for a cannabis facility. The parties are related because a Company executive 
is a member of the Board of Managers or the Board of Directors of the party, or employees of the 
Company have a significant ownership of the party. The notes are due on demand, and interest rates 
range from 0% to 18%. The notes require no payments prior to demand, and the Company does not 
expect to demand repayment on any note prior to the dispensaries or production facilities becoming 
operational. The notes are expected to be repaid from cash flows from the dispensaries and 
production facilities once they open. The current portion of these notes is $490,000 as of December 
31, 2018, which is the amount that is expected to be repaid from the cash flow of the dispensaries 
within the next year. See Note 17 for additional information on the notes receivable. 

 
6. DEPOSITS 

 
As of December 31, 2018, and 2017, deposits totaled $631,610 and $306,786, respectively. The 
deposits are primarily for real estate leases. 

 
7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS and GOODWILL 

 
At December 31, 2018, and 2017, the Company held intangible assets as follows: 
  
             Life                2018              2017  
 
   Production & dispensary licenses                 $18,741,003    $ 1,141,003  
   Customer relationships                                                       5 years           2,900,000            - 
   Non-competition agreement       3 years              150,000            - 
   Non-competition agreement        2 years              100,000            - 
   Trademarks         1 year                100,000                      - 
 Total identifiable intangible assets               21,991,003        1,141,003 
  
 Goodwill                            6,065,518                       - 
 
 Less accumulated amortization                  (   97,500)                        - 
 
 Total Intangible Assets and Goodwill             $ 27,959,021     $ 1,141,003 
 
 
The Company’s management has determined that the cannabis licenses and goodwill have 
indefinite useful lives and are not amortized. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
reviewed for impairment at least annually. No impairment has been recognized through December 
31, 2018. During 2018, amortization expense on finite lived intangible assets of $97,500 was 
recognized and is included in Selling, General and Administrative Expenses in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. There was no amortization in 2017.   
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8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
The following is a summary of property and equipment, at cost less accumulated depreciation as 
of December 31, 2018, and 2017: 
 

   Furniture,    

 
Buildings      Building 

Improvements  
 Equipment, 

And Other 
Leasehold 

Improvements Total 

Cost                                                                
Balance, January 1, 2017 $  312,189  $        239,301  $      299,501  $        504,233   $ 1,355,224 
Additions   362,070       1,783,649       624,628     1,478,939     4,249,286 
Balance December 31, 2017   674,259       2,022,950  924,129 1,983,172     5,604,510 
Additions               -       563,375            1,225,578         2,214,258      4,003,211              
HPI Acquisition               -                 -             312,265        4,210,100     4,522,365 
Disposals               -                          -       (9,214)   -          (9,214) 
Balance December 31, 2018 $  674,259  $       2,586,325  $   2,452,758 $      8,407,530 $14,120,872  
      
Accumulated Depreciation      
Balance, January 1, 2017 $              -  $                     - $       28,213  $                    -   $      28,213 
Depreciation                -                        -           30,988        39,303          70,291 
Balance December 31, 2017                -                        -           59,201              39,303                 98,504  
      
Depreciation       11,674            173,903         120,911            140,978        447,466   
Disposals                -                       -  (5,901)                          -          (5,901) 
Balance December 31, 2018 $    11,674 $        173,903   $        174,211 $         180,281   $    540,069 
      
Net Book Value      
  December 31, 2017 $  674,259  $      2,022,950  $      864,928   $   1,943,869  $  5,506,006 
  December 31, 2018 $  662,585 $      2,412,422 $   2,278,547 $      8,227,249 $13,580,803 
      

 
Depreciation of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the asset’s 
estimated useful life. Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, and 2017 was 
$447,466 and $70,291, respectively, of which $160,075 and $28,093 respectively, is included in 
cost of goods sold. 
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9. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY 
 
On November 13, 2018, the Company completed an acquisition of HPI, an entity that owns 
cannabis licenses in Massachusetts and operates two dispensaries and one vertically integrated 
production facility. The purchase price was $33.8 million and was paid in cash of approximately 
$21.2 million, the issuance of 7,605 Class E units with an approximate value of $3.5 million, and 
the issuance of a $3.5 million note payable. The interest rate on the note is 15% per annum, requires 
quarterly interest only payments (which were paid on January 2, 2019, on April 1, 2019 and on July 
1, 2019), and the principal is due on November 13, 2019. In addition, the Company agrees to pay 
up to $5.6 million to the sellers for the value of the HPI inventory. A $207,029 payment was made 
on March 13, 2019, and a payment is due July 13, 2019 (based on gross sales), with the final 
payment due on November 13, 2019. The final payment is subject to being reduced by up to $2.43 
million under certain circumstances. 
 
The transaction is accounted for by the Company as a business combination, with the results 
included in the Company’s net earnings from the date of acquisition. The assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed have been recorded by the Company at fair value as determined by the 
Company.  

 
The following table summarizes the preliminary purchase price allocation: 

 
 Cash        $ 269,346 
 Prepaid Expenses        70,789 
 Inventory                2,600,000 

            Biological Assets      410,000 
 Property and Equipment              4,522,366 
 Deposit       139,333 
  Identifiable Intangible Assets: 

 Cannabis Licenses               17,600,000 
 Customer Relationships              2,900,000 
 Non-Competition Agreements     250,000 
 Trademarks                                         100,000 
 Goodwill                                                      6,065,518 
 Accounts Payable                ( 31,782) 
 Accrued Liabilities               (192,209) 
 Income Taxes Payable                (542,846) 
 Deferred Tax Liability               (232,321) 
 Finance Lease Payable                    (93,526) 

  Fair value of net assets acquired   $      33,834,668 
 
  Cash Consideration     $      21,249,300 
 Notes payable issued               9,085,368 
 Equity paid in kind               3,500,000 
 
 Fair value of consideration    $      33,834,668 
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9. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 
 

Selected line items from the Company’s pro-forma Consolidated Statements of Operations for the 
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, adjusted as if the acquisition of HPI had occurred on 
January 1, 2017, are presented below: 

 
             Holdings                              HPI                             Pro-forma Results 

    2018            2017               2018            2017                2018               2017 
 

Revenue, net         $ 3,662,801    $   721,009    $4,229,293   $ 1,992,416   $  7,892,094     $ 2,713,425 
Gross profit (loss)      1,357,494     (   318,407)     2,025,151     1,942,087        3,382,645        1,623,680 
Net operating loss   (11,375,535)    (4,656,765)    (  251,986)   (   336,561)   (11,627,521)     (4,993,326) 
Net loss                   (  8,339,306)    (3,588,870)    (  875,889)   (1,837,261)   (  9,215,195)     (5,426,131) 

 
 Acquisition costs, of $126,354, were excluded from the consideration transferred, and were 

included in Selling, General and Administrative expenses in the period in which they were incurred. 
 
 The purchase price allocation is preliminary and the Company has up to one year to make 

adjustments to the purchase price allocation. 
 
10. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITY 
 

Through the acquisition of HPI, the Company acquired extraction equipment and a liability for a 
financing lease. The equipment is valued at $207,095 less accumulated depreciation and is 
included in fixed assets.  The lease liability is recorded as a current and non-current liability and 
is amortized as lease payments are made.  Imputed interest is recorded monthly based on the 
imputed interest rate of 6.53%.  Once the last lease payment is made in March 2021, the 
equipment can be purchased for $1 and the Company anticipates that it will purchase the 
equipment. Approximately $747 is recorded as interest expense by the Company for the year 
ended December 31, 2018 relating to this liability.  Minimum lease payments for each of the next 
three years are: 

  
2019          $       41,940 
2020                   41,940 
2021                   10,485 
         $       94,365 

 
The net present value of the minimum lease payments at December 31, 2018 using management’s 
estimate of the fair market interest rate of 15% is $79,673. 
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11. NOTES PAYABLE TO RELATED PARTIES 
 

In 2016, the Company received $3,000,000 in exchange for a note from an investor that is an owner 
of stock in Ventures and holds Class B units in Holdings. The note accrues interest at 5 percent per 
annum and requires no payments prior to maturity. In 2017, the maturity date of the note was 
extended from May 30, 2017, to December 31, 2018.  On June 15, 2018, the note plus accrued 
interest of $301,096 was converted into Class D units of Holdings. 
 
As part of the issuance of the note, the holder received fully vested warrants to purchase 2,258 
shares of Ventures for $0.01 per share. These warrants were exercised on June 15, 2018. The 
exercising of the warrants had no effect on the equity of Holdings. At the time of issuance, a loan 
discount was recorded for the $407,422 value of the warrants, which was based on the value of 
4Front Ventures, Inc. The loan discount was fully amortized as interest expense during the original 
loan term, which resulted in interest expense of $162,969 for the year ended December 31, 2017. 
There was no related interest expense in 2018. 

 
The Company had $500,000 at December 31, 2017 in notes outstanding with Company executives 
who are also owners. During November 2018, $250,000 of these notes were repaid in cash and the 
remaining $250,000 plus accrued interest was settled with Class F units with the noteholders. See 
Note 14. 
 
The balances at December 31, 2017, were as follows: 
 
$3 million note face value   $ 3,000,000 
Notes from executives          500,000 
Other                5,000          
Total Notes Payable to Related Parties  $ 3,505,000 
 
Accrued interest on $3 million note  $    232,877 
Accrued interest on notes from executives         57,164 
Total Related Party Interest Payable  $    290,041 

 
12. DEBT 
 

During 2017, the Company issued $10.12 million in convertible long-term debt. These notes accrue 
interest at an annual rate of 5% and mature in two years from issuance or are convertible upon an 
equity capital raise (Funding Event) of greater than $10 million by the Company. If no Funding 
Event occurs, at maturity, the debt holders have the option of converting the debt to equity units at 
a fixed price that was considered fair value at the time the note was issued.  

 
Since the rate of interest for a similar note without the warrants was 10%, at the time of issuance, 
a loan discount was recorded for the $871,213 value of the equity component of the notes. The loan 
discount is amortized over the two-year term of the notes, which resulted in $187,337 in interest 
expense during 2017 and a loan discount balance was $683,876 at December 31, 2017.     
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12. DEBT (Continued) 
 

A Funding Event occurred in June 2018 when a minimum of $10 million of Class D units were 
sold.  Effective June 15, 2018, all noteholders made the election to convert their notes to Class D 
units per the terms of the notes. This resulted in the acceleration of the amortization of the loan 
discount and $683,876 in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 for the $10.12 
million in notes that were outstanding at June 15, 2018. 
 
See Note 14 for additional information on the sale of Class D units. 

 
On August 31, 2018, the Company borrowed $3,000,000 through a note that matured on December 
31, 2018, accrued interest at 20 percent per annum and required no payments prior to maturity. A 
$150,000 original issue discount and $53,472 in legal fees were capitalized as a loan discount.  The 
note was repaid in full, including accrued interest, in December 2018. 

 
13. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 

 For year ended December 31, general and administrative expenses were comprised of: 
 

                                                                                                                            2018                   2017 
 
Salaries & Benefits 

 
      $  4,221,084 

 
  $   2,079,446 

Professional Fees           3,590,938         1,213,304 
Other       1,877,722     539,761 
Share-Based Compensation           1,188,330           167,581 
Marketing and Advertising               845,906           - 
Travel 526,600                   171,348 
 Rent               440,284           166,918 

Total        $12,690,864     $ 4,338,358 
 
14. MEMBERS’ EQUITY 

 
Ventures was the holding company for the Company prior to September 15, 2016.  Ventures has 
80,000 Series A Preferred shares and 36,125 Series B Preferred shares outstanding at December 
31, 2018 and 2017.   
 
On September 15, 2016, Ventures converted from a corporation to a limited liability company by 
transferring all of its assets and liabilities to newly formed Holdings in exchange for 500,000 Class 
A units (preferred units). The owners of Ventures continue to control Holdings through these Class 
A units. These units will receive a preferred distribution of $33,333,000, plus a 6% per annum 
preferred return on $33,333,000 with no maturity. After the preferred distribution and preferred 
return, the Class A units do not participate in any further distributions. The owners of Class A units 
were also issued 135,108 Class B units (common units) in Holdings that give the owner a profit 
interest. The Class A units and the Class B units are designed to put the holder in a similar economic 
position as they had prior to the formation of Holdings. 
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14. MEMBERS’ EQUITY (Continued) 
 
Upon conversion, 5,782 Class C units were granted and were fully vested to owners of Ventures 
stock options. These Class C units along with the existing stock options put option holders in a 
similar economic position as they held prior to the formation of Holdings. 
 
Subsequent to the formation of Holdings, the Company has granted additional Class C units to 
certain employees and a member of the Board of Managers. At December 31, 2018, 15,150 of these 
Class C units had vested, bring the total number of common units (Class B and Class C units) to 
150,258. 
 
As long as Ventures owns any Class A units, the Board of Directors of Ventures shall be entitled 
to remove and replace all three members of the Board of Managers of Holdings. The Board of 
Managers have the exclusive right to manage the Company. Class B and Class C units (common 
units) do not have voting rights. 

 
From February 2018 through June 2018, the Company completed a financing of Class D units for 
proceeds of $13.4 million.  The price of all Class D units was $442.50. The Class D units receive 
a preferred return of 5% that has a preference that is similar to the Class A units. After the Class A 
units and the Class D units receive their full preferred return, the Class D units participate with the 
Class B and the Class C units in any additional distributions except that the Class D units additional 
distributions are reduced by the value of the Class D preferred return. The Class D units have a 
right to elect one Manager who will sit on the Board of Managers. 
 
Because more than $10 million of Class D units were sold, the owners of convertible debt had the 
option of converting their debt into Class D units. All of the holders of the outstanding $10.1 million 
in convertible debt converted their debt into Class D units as of June 2018. 
 
The holder of a $3,000,000 note payable agreed to convert the $3,000,000 balance of the note plus 
$301,096 in accrued interest into Class D units at $442.50 each. This conversion was completed in 
June 2018. Stock warrants in Ventures that were held by the note holder were also exercised in 
exchange for 2,238 shares of Ventures’ common stock. See Note 11. 
 
On April 19, 2018 the Company, through an affiliate, purchased an additional 34.17% interest in 
Mission Pennsylvania II LLC from a non-controlling interest by issuing a $2,000,000 note. On 
August 29, 2018, the Company exchanged the note for 4,520 Class D units with a value of 
$2,000,100. The carrying value of the non-controlling interest on April 19, 2018 was a deficit of 
$45,929, resulting in a decrease in Contributed Capital on the Consolidated Statements of 
Members’ Equity of $2,046,029. 
 
During September and October 2018, the Company sold $30.3 million in Class F units to investors 
at $486.50 per unit. The proceeds were used to finance the HPI acquisition and for general business 
purposes. The Class F units have similar rights to the Class D units. 
 
During November 2018, $250,000 in debt plus accrued interest from Executives of the Company 
settled with Class F units. 
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14. MEMBERS’ EQUITY (Continued) 
 
On November 9, 2018, the Company, through an affiliate, purchased the remaining 15.83% interest 
in Mission Pennsylvania II LLC for $500,000 and by issuing 693.37 Class F units with a value of 
$337,500. The carrying value of the non-controlling interest on November 9, 2018 was a deficit of 
$38,061, resulting in a decrease in Contributed Capital on the Consolidated Statements of 
Members’ Equity of $875,561. 
 
On December 9, 2018, the Company, through an affiliate, purchased an additional 20% interest in 
Mission Maryland LLC from a non-controlling interest by issuing 1424 Class F units with a value 
of $693,132. The carrying value of the non-controlling interest on December 9, 2018 was a deficit 
of $33,441, resulting in a decrease in Contributed Capital on the Consolidated Statements of 
Members’ Equity of $726,573. 

 
On December 31, 2018, the Company, through an affiliate, purchased an additional 11% interest 
in 4Front PM Incvestco LLC from a non-controlling interest by issuing 565 Class F units with a 
value of $275,014. The carrying value of the non-controlling interest on December 31, 2018 was a 
deficit of $1,349, resulting in a decrease in Contributed Capital on the Consolidated Statements of 
Members’ Equity of $276,363. 
 
On December 31, 2018, the Company, through an affiliate, purchased an additional 10% interest 
in 4Front CIHI Incvestco LLC from a non-controlling interest by issuing 508 Class F units with a 
value of $247,269. The carrying value of the non-controlling interest on December 31, 2018 was 
$85,214, resulting in a decrease in Contributed Capital on the Consolidated Statements of 
Members’ Equity of $162,055. 
 
On December 31, 2018, the Company, through an affiliate, purchased the remaining 10% interest 
in 4Front MARI Incvestco LLC from a non-controlling interest by issuing 473 Class F units with 
a value of $230,233. The carrying value of the non-controlling interest on December 31, 2018 was 
$238,509, resulting in an increase in Contributed Capital on the Consolidated Statements of 
Members’ Equity of $8,276. 
 

15. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 
 
Non-controlling interest is shown as a component of total members’ equity on the Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Position, and the share of income (loss) attributable to non-controlling 
interest is shown as a component of net income (loss) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, non-controlling interests contributed 
$637,498 and $777,147 respectively in additional paid in capital for MMA Capital LLC, Mission 
Maryland LLC, CIHI Investco LLC, PM Investco LLC, and Old Line State Consulting Group, 
LLC. These capital contributions were required per the operating agreements. 
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16. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
Ventures issued stock options to certain employees in 2014 and 2015. The Company granted 31,750 
Class C units to those that held stock options and were still employed or were board member with 
vesting requirements that corresponded to the original stock options.  The Ventures stock that will 
be issued upon exercise of the options, plus the Class C units are designed to put the stock option 
holder in the same economic position that they held prior to the reorganization. The Company 
recognizes the vesting of Ventures stock options by using the values of the stock options as 
determined when the stock options were granted.  For the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
the Company recorded approximately $5,000 and $34,000, respectively, in share-based 
compensation for stock options. No stock options in Ventures were exercised as of December 31, 
2018. The Ventures stock options and corresponding Class C units, in general vest over a three year 
period from the grant date (at the anniversary date of the grant) and require continuous employment 
for vesting. 

 
During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company granted 13,531 and 5,150 in 
new Class C units, respectively The Company recognized total share-based compensation of 
approximately $1,188,330 and $167,581 during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively, for these new Class C units. 
 
The fair value of the Class C units granted in 2018 and 2017 was estimated using the Black‐ Scholes 
model, using various assumptions regarding (a) the expected holding period, (b) the risk‐free rate 
of return, (c) expected dividend yield on the underlying units, (d) the expected volatility in the fair 
value of the Company’s equity, and was calculated based on the grant agreement terms, which 
included a hurdle amount to be exceeded before participation in returns. 
 
The expected holding period represents the period of time that the units are expected to be 
outstanding. The units were assumed to remain outstanding until the Company experienced a 
change in control of ownership (CIC) or an initial public offering (IPO). The units vest based on 
continued employment with the Company. The risk‐free rate of return for periods approximating 
the expected holding period of the units was based on the U.S. constant maturity treasuries yield in 
effect at the grant date. A dividend yield was assumed based on the 6% preferred return for the 
Class A units. Because the Company’s equity was privately held and was not traded in an active 
market, the Company used the historical volatility of the share values of publicly traded companies 
within similar industries as the Company as a surrogate for the expected volatility of equity.. 
 
The key assumptions used for grants awarded in 2018 and 2017 were as follows:  
 
Expected holding period - 5 years and 1 years for grants on November 28, 2018 
 
Risk–free rate of return - 1.2%  
 
Expected volatility - 70.0% 
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16. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued) 
 
Share‐based compensation cost is recognized by amortizing the grant‐date fair value of the share  
based awards, less estimated forfeitures, on a straight‐line basis over the requisite service period of 
each award. Share-based compensation is included in general and administrative expenses in the 
accompanying consolidated statement of operations. As of December 31, 2018, there was 
approximately $1,264,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding share‐based 
awards, which is expected to be recognized subsequent to December 31, 2018. Total unrecognized 
compensation cost will be adjusted for estimated forfeitures. 

 
17. RELATED PARTIES 

 
(a) Key management personnel compensation 

 
Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling activities of the entity, directly or indirectly. The key management 
personnel of the Company are the members of the Company’s executive management team and 
Board of Managers, who control approximately 50% of the Class A, Class B and Class C units of 
the Company.  For the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, compensation provided to key 
management is as follows: 

 
                                                     2018                                 2017  
 
Short-term employee benefits           $ 1,098,000                      $ 1,009,000  
Share-based compensation                      433,000                              20,000 
                                                          $  1,531,000                      $ 1,029,000  
 

(b) Related party transactions 
 
The Company has issued notes receivable to certain related parties that hold or have applied for 
cannabis licenses or that have secured real estate that can be used for a cannabis facility. The 
Company’s strategy is to provide financing and real estate to related parties that own cannabis 
licenses where the Company has an economic interest through contracts. When related party 
cannabis operations open, cash flow is expected to be used to repay the loans and accrued interest. 
The Company has evaluated the value of the net assets of these related parties, including the 
cannabis licenses, and has determined that the value of the net assets is in excess of the loans and 
accrued interest outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017. The details of these notes receivable 
to related parties are as follows: 
 
The Company holds notes receivable from Mission MA Inc. (formally Mission Massachusetts 
Inc.) which is related because executives of the Company sit on the board of directors. As of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, principal on the notes receivable from Mission MA Inc. totaled 
$8,198,446 and $1,702,678, respectively, and accrued interest totaled $995,047 and $159,867. 
Mission MA Inc. has used the proceeds from the notes to build a cannabis dispensary and a 
production facility in Worcester Massachusetts.  The dispensary opened in second quarter 2019 
and the production facility is expected to open in late 2019.  
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17. RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 
 

(b) Related party transactions (Continued) 
 
The Company holds notes receivable from Premium Medicine of Maryland, LLC. At December 
31, 2018, there was $1,367,822 and $150,000 in principal receivable and $68,400 and $2,400 in 
accrued interest. 
 
The Company holds notes receivable from Chesapeake Integrated Health Institute, LLC (CIHI). At 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, there was $525,000 in principal receivable for both years and 
$55,300 and $12,717 respectively for accrued interest from CIHI. 
 
The Company holds notes receivable from Mission New Jersey LLC. At December 31, 2018 there 
was $529,197 in principal receivable and interest was not charged. There was no receivable balance 
in 2017. 
 
The Company holds notes receivable from Evergreen Farms Inc. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
there was $45,837 and $96,590 in principal payable respectively and interest was not charged. 
 
The Company holds notes receivable from Regatta Partners LLC. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
there was $272,850 and $210,795 in principal payable respectively and interest was not charged. 

 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company holds notes receivable of $549,052 and 
$121,923, respectively, from various other entities that hold cannabis licenses, have applied for 
cannabis licenses, or hold interests in real estate that can be used for cannabis operations. These 
entities are related parties because one or more employee of the Company has an ownership in the 
entity. 
 
These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amounts 
being the amounts agreed to by the parties. 
 

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Lease Expense – The Company has five real estate leases that are classified as operating leases. 
Future minimum lease obligations under these leases as of December 31, 2018, and for each of the 
five succeeding years and thereafter are as follows: 
 

  
2019 $         879,679 
2020            857,817 
2021 881,484 
2022 899,637 
2023 746,321 
Thereafter   2,673,782 
 $ 6,938,720 
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18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued) 
 
Future lease commitments include approximately $2,794,000 pertaining to the production facility 
in Elk Grove Village, Illinois. This lease has a 20 year term ending on August 31, 2035. The 
premises consist of 11,622 square feet and there are two options to rent additional space of 12,500 
square feet and 28,930 square feet. The additional space can be occupied following the expiration 
of the landlord’s lease with a third party on or before October 31, 2019. The Company has the right 
of first refusal for any sale of the property by the landlord. Escalating rent per the lease resulted in 
an increase to the deferred rent balance in 2017 as reflected in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 
 
Lease expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, was $532,453 and $304,982, 
respectively, of which $244,498 and $149,834 was included in cost of goods sold in 2018 and 2017, 
respectively. 

 
Other Contingencies – The Company's operations are subject to a variety of local and state 
regulation. Failure to comply with one or more of those regulations could result in fines, restrictions 
on its operations, or losses of permits that could result in the Company ceasing operations. While 
management of the Company believes that the Company is in compliance with applicable local and 
state regulation at December 31, 2018 and 2017, cannabis regulations continue to evolve and are 
subject to differing interpretations. As a result, the Company may be subject to regulatory fines, 
penalties, or restrictions in the future. 
 
Cannabis is still considered a Schedule 1 substance under the Controlled Substance Act. As such, 
there is an inherent risk related to the federal government’s position on cannabis; additionally, the 
risk exists, due to the Company’s business in cannabis, that third party service providers could 
suspend or withdraw services and as well as the risk that regulatory bodies could impose certain 
restrictions on the issuer’s ability to operate in the U.S.; however, the Company has deemed it not 
reasonable to estimate a potential liability related to the possible enforcement of laws against the 
medical cannabis industry.  
 
The Company is currently in a dispute with regulators in Massachusetts regarding the transfer of a 
cannabis license for a dispensary. The Company believes that it is in compliance and expects to 
settle the dispute in the third quarter of 2019. 
 
Legal Matters – The Company is involved in certain disputes arising in the ordinary course of 
business. Such disputes, taken in the aggregate, are not expected to have a material adverse effect 
on the Company. 
 
During 2017, the Company was in a legal dispute with two former consulting clients whom the 
Company performed services for since 2015. The parties agreed to arbitration, and a final decision 
by a Panel of the American Arbitration Association on November 27, 2018, has found that one of 
the consulting clients is liable to the Company in the amount of $5.5 million and the other 
consulting client is liable to the Company in the amount of $3.8 million. The $3.8 million was paid 
in April 2019 and the $3.8 million was recorded in Other Income in the 2018 consolidated statement 
of operations. Due to uncertainty regarding payment of the $5.5 million, the Company has not 
recognized an asset for the damages for this decision. 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, other receivables, notes receivable and 
accrued interest from related parties, accounts payable, other current liabilities, notes payable, notes 
payable to related parties, and convertible notes. The carrying values of these financial instruments 
approximate their fair values as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs to fair value measurements. The three levels of hierarchy are:  
 
Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly; and  
Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

 
There have been no transfers between fair value levels during the years ending December 31, 2018 
and 2017. 
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s financial instruments as of December 31, 2018: 

 
 

Loans and 
Receivables 

Other 
Financial 
Liabilities Total 

Financial Assets:    
     Cash  $     1,262,733 $         -      $       1,262,733 
    Notes Receivable and Accrued Interest      12,611,951                           -           12,611,951               
Financial Liabilities:    
    Accounts Payable           -        1,283,279       1,283,279 
    Accrued Liabilities           -   667,409                   667,409 

Taxes Payable    -                       647,846                647,846 
    Notes Payable and Accrued Interest         9,198,014             9,198,014 
    Finance Lease              87,538                  87,538 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

The following table summarizes the Company’s financial instruments as of December 31, 2017: 
 

 
Loans and 

Receivables 

Other  
Financial 
Liabilities Total 

Financial Assets:    
     Cash   $     3,608,506      $         -    $       3,608,506 
    Accounts Receivable              18,576                               -                 18,576 
    Other Receivables              71,494                      -                 71,494 
    Notes Receivable and Accrued Interest          2,981,970                                -                       2,981,970 
Financial Liabilities:    
   Accounts Payable           -           401,378               401,378 
    Other Current Liabilities           -            154,802                   154,802 
    Notes Payable and Accrued Interest to  
    Related Parties  

   -                        3,795,041            3,795,041 

Convertible Notes -           9,436,124               9,436,124 
    

 
(a) Financial Risk Management 

 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instruments related risks. The 
Board mitigates these risks by assessing, monitoring and approving the Company’s risk 
management processes. 

 
(b) Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of a potential loss to the Company if a third party or a related party to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
the maximum credit exposure related to the carrying amounts of Notes Receivable and Accrued 
Interest from Related Parties were $12.6 million and $3.0 million, respectively. 
 
The Company maintains cash with federally insured financial institutions. As of December 31, 
2018 and 2017, the Company exceeded federally insured limits by approximately $0.5 million 
and $3.0 million, respectively. The Company has historically not experienced any losses in such 
accounts. 
 

(c) Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. The Company manages liquidity risk through the management 
of its capital structure. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to raise sufficient capital 
to settle obligations and liabilities when due. 
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 

(c) Liquidity Risk (Continued) 
 
In addition to the commitments outlined in Note 18, the Company has the following contractual 
obligations: 
 

    <1 Year  1 to 3 Years  3 to 5 Years  Greater than 5      Total 
Accounts Payable and           
  Accrued Liabilities $     1,950,688  $                -  $                -  $                      -  $ 1,950,688 
  Deferred Rent         827    165     507  228,048        229,547 

  
 

Notes Payable $     9,198,014  -  -  -  $ 9,198,014 
 

(d) Price Risk 
 
Price risk is the risk of variability in fair value due to movements in equity or market prices. The 
Company keeps cannabis inventory levels at their dispensaries low to manage the risk of falling 
inventory values. 
 

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

Operating segments are components of the Company that engages in business activities from which 
they earn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses related to transactions 
with other components of the Company), the operations of which can be clearly distinguished, and 
the operating results of which are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker 
(“CODM”) for the purposes of resource allocation and assessing its performance. 

 
Company’s operating results are divided into two reportable operating segments plus corporate. 
The two reportable operating segments are cannabis and consulting. The Company primarily 
operates in the cannabis segment which includes building and operating dispensaries and 
production facilities. The Consulting segment serves third parties and includes application services 
to help secure licenses, implementation services to assist license holders with opening dispensaries, 
and ongoing fees from existing contracts. 
 
Significant Judgement 
 
Operating segments are determined based on internal reports used in making strategic decisions 
that are reviewed by the CODMs. The Company’s CODMs are the Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Operating Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
Year ended December 31, 
2018  Cannabis  Consulting   Corporate         Total       
Revenue $   2,817,053        $ 845,748      $      -           $ 3,662,801                  
Gross profit        511,746      845,748               -      1,357,494            
Net income (loss)    (2,513,246)                   3,391,376                       (9,112,436)            (8,234,306)                    
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20. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 
2017 

Medical 
Cannabis  Consulting   Corporate         Total       

Revenue $       46,809  $  674,200      $      -    $   721,009             
Gross profit       (992,607)                      674,200          -       ( 318,407)              
Net income (loss)    (2,704,329)                        674,200  (2,308,998)       ( 4,339,127)                                
        
 
The 2018 Consulting Segment includes a $3.8 million legal settlement that relates to Consulting 
contracts.  See Note 18 for additional information.                  

 
21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
On February 22, 2019, the Company completed an acquisition of PHX Interactive, LLC, an entity 
that manages and lends to Green Goddess Products, Inc. a cannabis license holder and dispensary 
operator in Phoenix, Arizona. The purchase price was $6 million and $3.35 million was paid in 
cash and $2.5 million was paid in kind by issuing 5,136.11 Class F units. The remaining $150,000 
is held by the Company and will be used to pay income taxes for 2018 or will be paid to the sellers. 
In March 2019, the Company settled certain legal matters on behalf of the sellers for approximately 
$350,000. The Company has agreed to defend certain other legal actions against the sellers and 
PHX Interactive, LLC and will record a liability for the estimated costs to defend and settle these 
legal actions. This legal liability will be included in the purchase price accounting for the 
acquisition.  
 
On March 1, 2019, the Company signed a definitive agreement with Cannex Capital Holdings, Inc. 
See Note 1 for additional information. 

 
On December 24, 2018, the Company received an $8 million line of credit from Cannex to be used 
prior to the merger. In March 2019 this line of credit was increased to $13 million. This line can be 
used for general corporate expenses and for acquisitions. If the merger is cancelled, the balance on 
the line of credit must be repaid within 90 days from the date of cancelation. 
 
As of the report date, the Company has completed the purchase of all non-controlling interests in 
IGM, Harborside IGM, MMA Capital LLC, Mission Maryland LLC, 4Front Management 
Associates, LLC, 4Front CIHI Investco LLC, Adroit Consulting Group LLC, and Old State Line 
Consulting Group LLC. Class F shares were issued for all of these interests. The only remaining 
non-controlling interest as of the report date is in Silver Spring Consulting Group LLC. 
 
On April 15, 2019, the Company completed an acquisition of Om of Medicine LLC, an entity that 
owns a cannabis license in Michigan and operates a dispensary in Ann Arbor. The purchase price 
was $5.7 million, $0.4 million was paid in cash, $0.9 million will be held by the Company to pay 
future taxes, other expenses, or payments to the sellers, and the remaining $4.4 million was paid in 
kind with the issuance of 9,039.54 Class F units. The Company will pay up to $6.0 million in 
additional cash contingent on the future gross sales of Om of Medicine LLC. 
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21. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued) 
 

On May 10, 2019 the Company, through a whole-owned subsidiary, received a $50 million loan 
from LI Lending LLC. Per the loan agreement, the lender can advance up to $45 million 
immediately. The advanced funds are kept in a bank account that is owned by the Company, but in 
which control can be assumed by the lender in the event of default on the loan. The funds can be 
used for permitted uses which include the acquisition and development of real estate to be used for 
cannabis operations. The loan matures in five years and has an interest rate of 10.25%. 
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	SECTION 1  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions
	(a) “Administrator” means such Executive or Employee of the Company as may be designated as Administrator by the Committee from time to time, or, if no such person is appointed, the Committee itself.
	(b) “Black-Out” means a restriction imposed by the Company on all or any of its directors, officers, employees, insiders or persons in a special relationship whereby they are to refrain from trading in the Company’s securities until the restriction ha...
	(c) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
	(d) “Change of Control” means an occurrence when either:
	(i) a Person or Entity, other than the current “control person” of the Company (as that term is defined in the Securities Act), becomes a “control person” of the Company; or
	(ii) a majority of the directors elected at any annual or extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of the Company are not individuals nominated by the Company’s then- incumbent Board.

	(e) “Class A Shares” means the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shares.
	(f) “Class B Shares” means the Company’s Class B proportionate voting shares.
	(g) “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder.
	(h) “Committee” means a committee of the Board to which the responsibility of approving the grant of stock options has been delegated, or if no such committee is appointed, the Board itself.  At any time that the Company is an SEC registrant and is no...
	(i) “Company” means 4Front Ventures Corp.
	(j) “Consultant” means an individual who:
	(i) is engaged to provide, on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Company or any Subsidiary, other than services provided in relation to a “distribution” (as that term is described in the Securities A...
	(ii) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any Subsidiary and the individual or a Consultant Entity (as defined in clause (v) below);
	(iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Company or any Subsidiary; and
	(iv) has a relationship with the Company or any Subsidiary that enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Company or is otherwise permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as a Consultant or ...
	(v) a corporation of which the individual is an employee or shareholder or a partnership of which the individual is an employee or partner (a “Consultant Entity”); or
	(vi) an RRSP or RRIF established by or for the individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(k) “Disability” means a medically determinable physical or mental impairment expected to result in death or to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, and which causes an individual to be unable to engage in any substantial gainful a...
	(l) “Employee” means:
	(i) an individual who works full-time or part-time for the Company or any Subsidiary and such other individual as may, from time to time, be permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as an employee or as an equivalent thereto; or
	(ii) an individual who works for the Company or any Subsidiary either full-time or on a continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and d...
	(iii) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(iv) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(m) “Exchange” means the stock exchange upon which the Class A Shares principally trade.
	(n) “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
	(o) “Executive” means an individual who is a director or officer of the Company or a Subsidiary, and includes:
	(i) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(ii) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(p) “Exercise Notice” means the written notice of the exercise of an Option, in the form set out as Schedule B hereto, duly executed by the Option Holder.
	(q) “Exercise Period” means the period during which a particular Option may be exercised and is the period from and including the Grant Date through to and including the Expiry Time on the Expiry Date provided, however, that no Option can be exercised...
	(r) “Exercise Price” means the price at which an Option is exercisable as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(s) “Expiry Date” means the date the Option expires as set out in the Option Certificate or as otherwise determined in accordance with sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 or 11.4.
	(t) “Expiry Time” means the time the Option expires on the Expiry Date, which is 4:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada on the Expiry Date.
	(u) “Fair Market Value” means the fair market value of the Class B Shares, which is the Market Value multiplied by 80.
	(v)  “Grant Date” means the date on which the Committee grants a particular Option, which is the date the Option comes into effect provided however that no Option can be exercised unless and until all necessary Regulatory Approvals have been obtained.
	(w) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is labelled or described as an Incentive Stock Option and which qualifies as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.
	(x) “Insider” means an insider as that term is defined in the Securities Act.
	(y) “Market Value” means the market value of the Class A Shares as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(z) “Non-Statutory Stock Option” means an Option granted to an Option Holder which is not intended to be or does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
	(aa) “Option” means a share purchase option granted pursuant to this Plan entitling the Option Holder to purchase Shares of the Company, and includes Incentive Stock Options and Non-Statutory Stock Options.
	(bb) “Option Certificate” means the certificate, in substantially the form set out as Schedule A hereto, evidencing the Option.
	(cc) “Option Holder” means a Person or Entity who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, the Personal Representative of such person.
	(dd) “Outstanding Issue” means the number of Class A Shares, taken together with the number of Class A Shares issuable on conversion of the Class B Shares and the Class C Multiple Voting Shares immediately prior to the Class B Share issuance or grant ...
	(ee) “Person or Entity” means an individual, natural person, corporation, government or political subdivision or agency of a government, and where two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group for the purpose ...
	(ff) “Personal Representative” means:
	(i) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and
	(ii) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder.

	(gg) “Plan” means this stock option plan as from time to time amended.
	(hh) “Regulatory Approvals” means any necessary approvals of the Regulatory Authorities as may be required from time to time for the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan or for the Options granted from time to time hereunder.
	(ii) “Regulatory Authorities” means all organized trading facilities on which the Shares are listed, and all securities commissions or similar securities regulatory bodies having jurisdiction over the Company, this Plan or the Options granted from tim...
	(jj) “Regulatory Rules” means all corporate and securities laws, regulations, rules, policies, notices, instruments and other orders of any kind whatsoever which may, from time to time, apply to the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan ...
	(kk) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), RSBC 1996, c.418 as from time to time amended.
	(ll) “Share” or “Shares” means, as the case may be, one or more Class B Shares in the capital stock of the Company.
	(mm) “Subsidiary” means a wholly-owned or controlled subsidiary corporation of the Company.
	(nn) “Ten Percent Shareholder Participant” means an individual to whom an Incentive Stock Option is granted pursuant to the provisions of the Plan who is, on the date of the grant, the owner of stock (as determined under Section 424(d) of the Code) po...
	(oo) “Triggering Event” means:
	(i) the proposed dissolution, liquidation or wind-up of the Company;
	(ii) a proposed merger, amalgamation, arrangement or reorganization of the Company with one or more corporations as a result of which, immediately following such event, the shareholders of the Company as a group, as they were immediately prior to such...
	(iii) the proposed acquisition of all or substantially all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company by one or more Persons or Entities;
	(iv) a proposed Change of Control of the Company;
	(v) the proposed sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
	(vi) a proposed material alteration of the capital structure of the Company which, in the opinion of the Committee, is of such a nature that it is not practical or feasible to make adjustments to this Plan or to the Options granted hereunder to permit...

	(pp) “U.S. Option Holder” means an Option Holder whose Options awarded under the Plan are subject to taxation under the Code, including U.S. residents and U.S. citizens regardless of country of residence.
	(qq) “Vest” or “Vesting” means that a portion of the Option granted to the Option Holder which is available to be exercised by the Option Holder at any time and from time to time.

	1.2 Choice of Law
	1.3 Headings

	SECTION 2  GRANT OF OPTIONS
	2.1 Grant of Options
	2.2 Record of Option Grants
	(a) the name and address of the Option Holder;
	(b) the category (Executive, Employee or Consultant) under which the Option was granted to him, her or it;
	(c) the designation of Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;
	(d) the Grant Date and Expiry Date of the Option;
	(e) the number of Shares which may be acquired on the exercise of the Option and the Exercise Price of the Option;
	(f) the vesting and other additional terms, if any, attached to the Option; and
	(g) the particulars of each and every time the Option is exercised.

	2.3 Effect of Plan

	SECTION 3  PURPOSE AND PARTICIPATION
	3.1 Purpose of Plan
	3.2 Participation in Plan
	3.3 Limits on Option Grants
	(a) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Option Holder under the Plan within any 12 month period shall be 5% of the Outstanding Issue (unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval if required by Regulator...
	(b) if required by Regulatory Rules, disinterested shareholder approval is required to the grant to Insiders, within a 12 month period, of a number of Options which, when added to the number of outstanding Options granted to Insiders within the previo...
	(c) with respect to section 5.1, the Expiry Date of an Option shall be no later than the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date of such Option;
	(d) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Consultant within any 12 month period must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue; and
	(e) the maximum number of Options which may be granted within any 12 month period to Employees or Consultants engaged in investor relations activities must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue and such options must vest in stages over 12 months with...

	3.4 Notification of Grant
	3.5 Copy of Plan; Effective Date of Plan
	3.6 Limitation on Service
	3.7 No Obligation to Exercise
	3.8 Agreement
	3.9 Notice
	3.10 Representation

	SECTION 4  NUMBER OF SHARES UNDER PLAN
	4.1 Number of Shares
	4.2 Fractional Shares

	SECTION 5  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS
	5.1 Exercise Period of Option
	5.2 Number of Shares Under Option
	5.3 Exercise Price of Option
	(a) for each organized trading facility on which the Class A Shares are listed, Market Value will be the closing trading price of the Class A Shares on the day immediately preceding the Grant Date, and, except with respect to Options awarded to U.S. O...
	(b) if the Company’s Class A Shares are listed on more than one organized trading facility, the Market Value shall be the Market Value as determined in accordance with subparagraph (a) above for the primary organized trading facility on which the Clas...
	(c) if the Company’s Class A Shares are listed on one or more organized trading facilities but have not traded during the ten trading days immediately preceding the Grant Date, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be requir...
	(d) if the Company’s Class A Shares are not listed on any organized trading facility, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to secure all necessary Regulatory Approvals, such value as is determined by the Committ...

	5.4 Incentive Stock Options.
	5.5 Termination of Option
	(a) Ceasing to Hold Office - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Executive and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be, unless ot...
	(i) ceasing to meet the qualifications set forth in the corporate legislation applicable to the Company;
	(ii) a special resolution having been passed by the shareholders of the Company removing the Option Holder as a director of the Company or any Subsidiary; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position; OR

	(b) Ceasing to be Employed or Engaged - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Op...
	(i) termination for cause;
	(ii) resigning his or her position; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position.


	5.6 Vesting of Option and Acceleration
	5.7 Additional Terms

	SECTION 6  TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS
	6.1 Non-transferable
	6.2 Death of Option Holder
	6.3 Disability of Option Holder
	6.4 Disability and Death of Option Holder
	6.5 Vesting
	6.6 Deemed Non-Interruption of Engagement

	SECTION 7  EXERCISE OF OPTION
	7.1 Exercise of Option
	7.2 Black Out Period
	7.3 Issue of Share Certificates
	7.4 No Rights as Shareholder
	7.5 No Right to Employment; Other Benefits
	7.6 Tax Withholding and Procedures
	(a) deliver a certified cheque, wire transfer or bank draft payable to the Company for the amount determined by the Company to be the appropriate amount on account of such taxes or related amounts;
	(b) otherwise ensure, in a manner acceptable to the Company (if at all) in its sole and unfettered discretion, that the amount will be securely funded; or
	(c) and must in all other respects follow any related procedures and conditions imposed by the Company.

	7.7 No trust Fund Created

	SECTION 8  ADMINISTRATION
	8.1 Board or Committee
	8.2 Powers of Committee
	(a) oversee the administration of the Plan in accordance with its terms;
	(b) appoint or replace the Administrator from time to time;
	(c) determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, including all questions relating to the Market Value;
	(d) correct any defect, supply any information or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purposes of the Plan;
	(e) prescribe, amend, and rescind rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Plan;
	(f) determine the duration and purposes of leaves of absence from employment or engagement by the Company which may be granted to Option Holders without constituting a termination of employment or engagement for purposes of the Plan;
	(g) do the following with respect to the granting of Options:
	(i) determine the Executives, Employees or Consultants to whom Options shall be granted, based on the eligibility criteria set out in this Plan;
	(ii) determine the terms of the Option to be granted to an Option Holder including, without limitation, the Grant Date, Expiry Date, Exercise Price and vesting schedule (which need not be identical with the terms of any other Option);
	(iii) subject to any necessary Regulatory Approvals and section 9.2, amend the terms of any Options;
	(iv) determine when Options shall be granted;
	(v) determine the number of Shares subject to each Option; and
	(vi) to designate Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;

	(h) accelerate the vesting schedule of any Option previously granted; and
	(i) make all other determinations necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion, for the administration of the Plan.

	8.3 Administration by Committee
	8.4 Interpretation

	SECTION 9  APPROVALS AND AMENDMENT
	9.1 Shareholder Approval of Plan
	9.2 Amendment of Option or Plan
	(a) materially decrease the rights or benefits accruing to an Option Holder; or
	(b) materially increase the obligations of an Option Holder; then, unless otherwise excepted out by a provision of this Plan, the Committee must also obtain the written consent of the Option Holder in question to such amendment.  If at the time the Ex...


	SECTION 10  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ISSUANCE OF OPTIONS AND SHARES
	10.1 Compliance with Laws
	10.2 Regulatory Approvals
	10.3 Inability to Obtain Regulatory Approvals

	SECTION 11  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	11.1 Termination of Plan
	11.2 No Grant During Suspension of Plan
	11.3 Alteration in Capital Structure
	(a) a change in the number or kind of shares of the Company covered by such Options; and
	(b) a change in the Exercise Price payable per Share provided, however, that the aggregate Exercise Price applicable to the unexercised portion of existing Options shall not be altered, it being intended that any adjustments made with respect to such ...
	(c) the issuance of additional securities of the Company in exchange for adequate consideration (including services); nor
	(d) the conversion of outstanding securities of the Company into Shares shall be deemed to be material alterations of the capital structure of the Company.  Any adjustment made to any Options pursuant to this section 11.3 shall not be considered an am...

	11.4 Triggering Events
	(a) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to terminate upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event; or
	(b) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to be exchanged for incentive stock options of another corporation upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event in such ratio and at such exercise price as the Committee deems approp...

	11.5 Notice of Termination by Triggering Event
	11.6 Determinations to be Made By Committee

	SECTION 12  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	12.1 Maximum Number of Options

	SECTION 13  CALIFORNIA OPTIONS
	13.1 California Options
	13.2 Termination Date
	13.3 Post-Termination Exercise Period
	(a) at least six months from the date of termination, if termination was caused by death or disability; or
	(b) at least 30 days from the date of termination, if termination was caused by other than death or disability.

	13.4 Shareholder Approval / Grant Limitations
	(a) the Company is a foreign private issuer, as defined by Rule 3b-4 of the Exchange Act, on the grant date of the California Award, and the aggregate number of persons in California granted awards under all compensation plans and agreements and issue...
	(b) prior to or within 12 months of the granting of the first California Award under the Plan and prior to increasing the number of Authorized Shares, the Plan is approved by a majority of the Company’s outstanding securities entitled to vote, not cou...

	13.5 Company Information
	(a) the Grant Date of this Option is ●, 20●; and
	(b) subject to sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 11.4 of the Plan, the Expiry Date of this Option is 20.
	1. The Options will not be exercisable unless and until they have vested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the vesting schedule below, and then only to the extent that they have vested.  Provided that the Option Holder remains in continuous...
	(a) ‎( Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after the Grant Date;
	(b) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(c) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(d) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];

	2. Upon the Option Holder ceasing to hold a position with the Company, other than as a result of the events set out in paragraphs 5.4(a) or 5.4(b) of the Plan, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be ( [Insert date desired that is longer or shorter tha...
	3. The following provisions apply to Incentive Stock Options.
	(a) Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) may be issued only to individuals who are employees of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (as defined under section 424(f) of the Code) (“U.S. Employees”).
	(b) If a U.S. Option Holder has been granted an ISO and ceases to be a U.S. Employee, then, in order to retain the status of the Option as an ISO for U.S. federal tax purposes, such Option must be exercised within the time limits set forth below.  Fai...


	(c) To the extent that an Option designated as an ISO becomes exercisable by an Option Holder for the first time during any calendar year for Shares having a fair market value greater than US$100,000 (measured by the fair market value as of the Grant ...
	(d) all of the Shares; or
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	SECTION 1  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions
	(a) “Administrator” means such Executive or Employee of the Company as may be designated as Administrator by the Committee from time to time, or, if no such person is appointed, the Committee itself.
	(b) “Black-Out” means a restriction imposed by the Company on all or any of its directors, officers, employees, insiders or persons in a special relationship whereby they are to refrain from trading in the Company’s securities until the restriction ha...
	(c) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
	(d) “Change of Control” means an occurrence when either:
	(i) a Person or Entity, other than the current “control person” of the Company (as that term is defined in the Securities Act), becomes a “control person” of the Company; or
	(ii) a majority of the directors elected at any annual or extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of the Company are not individuals nominated by the Company’s then- incumbent Board.

	(e) “Class A Shares” means the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shares.
	(f) “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder.
	(g) “Committee” means a committee of the Board to which the responsibility of approving the grant of stock options has been delegated, or if no such committee is appointed, the Board itself.  At any time that the Company is an SEC registrant and is no...
	(h) “Company” means 4Front Ventures Corp.
	(i) “Consultant” means an individual who:
	(i) is engaged to provide, on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Company or any Subsidiary, other than services provided in relation to a “distribution” (as that term is described in the Securities A...
	(ii) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any Subsidiary and the individual or a Consultant Entity (as defined in clause (v) below);
	(iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Company or any Subsidiary; and
	(iv) has a relationship with the Company or any Subsidiary that enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Company or is otherwise permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as a Consultant or ...
	(v) a corporation of which the individual is an employee or shareholder or a partnership of which the individual is an employee or partner (a “Consultant Entity”); or
	(vi) an RRSP or RRIF established by or for the individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(j) “Disability” means a medically determinable physical or mental impairment expected to result in death or to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, and which causes an individual to be unable to engage in any substantial gainful a...
	(k) “Employee” means:
	(i) an individual who works full-time or part-time for the Company or any Subsidiary and such other individual as may, from time to time, be permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as an employee or as an equivalent thereto; or
	(ii) an individual who works for the Company or any Subsidiary either full-time or on a continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and d...
	(iii) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(iv) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(l) “Exchange” means the stock exchange upon which the Class A Shares principally trade.
	(m) “Exchange Act “ means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
	(n) “Executive” means an individual who is a director or officer of the Company or a Subsidiary, and includes:
	(i) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(ii) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(o) “Exercise Notice” means the written notice of the exercise of an Option, in the form set out as Schedule B hereto, duly executed by the Option Holder.
	(p) “Exercise Period” means the period during which a particular Option may be exercised and is the period from and including the Grant Date through to and including the Expiry Time on the Expiry Date provided, however, that no Option can be exercised...
	(q) “Exercise Price” means the price at which an Option is exercisable as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(r) “Expiry Date” means the date the Option expires as set out in the Option Certificate or as otherwise determined in accordance with sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 or 11.4.
	(s) “Expiry Time” means the time the Option expires on the Expiry Date, which is 4:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada on the Expiry Date.
	(t) “Grant Date” means the date on which the Committee grants a particular Option, which is the date the Option comes into effect provided however that no Option can be exercised unless and until all necessary Regulatory Approvals have been obtained.
	(u) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is labelled or described as an Incentive Stock Option and which qualifies as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.
	(v) “Insider” means an insider as that term is defined in the Securities Act.
	(w) “Market Value” means the market value of the Class A Shares as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(x) “Non-Statutory Stock Option” means an Option granted to an Option Holder which is not intended to be or does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
	(y) “Option” means a share purchase option granted pursuant to this Plan entitling the Option Holder to purchase Shares of the Company, and includes Incentive Stock Options and Non-Statutory Stock Options.
	(z) “Option Certificate” means the certificate, in substantially the form set out as Schedule A hereto, evidencing the Option.
	(aa) “Option Holder” means a Person or Entity who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, the Personal Representative of such person.
	(bb) “Outstanding Issue” means the number of Class A Shares, taken together with the number of Shares issuable on conversion of the Class B Proportionate Voting Shares and the Class C Multiple Voting Shares immediately prior to the Class A Share issua...
	(cc) “Person or Entity” means an individual, natural person, corporation, government or political subdivision or agency of a government, and where two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group for the purpose ...
	(dd) “Personal Representative” means:
	(i) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and
	(ii) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder.

	(ee) “Plan” means this stock option plan as from time to time amended.
	(ff) “Regulatory Approvals” means any necessary approvals of the Regulatory Authorities as may be required from time to time for the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan or for the Options granted from time to time hereunder.
	(gg) “Regulatory Authorities” means all organized trading facilities on which the Shares are listed, and all securities commissions or similar securities regulatory bodies having jurisdiction over the Company, this Plan or the Options granted from tim...
	(hh) “Regulatory Rules” means all corporate and securities laws, regulations, rules, policies, notices, instruments and other orders of any kind whatsoever which may, from time to time, apply to the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan ...
	(ii) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), RSBC 1996, c.418 as from time to time amended.
	(jj) “Share” or “Shares” means, as the case may be, one or more Class A Shares in the capital stock of the Company.
	(kk) “Subsidiary” means a wholly-owned or controlled subsidiary corporation of the Company.
	(ll) “Ten Percent Shareholder Participant” means an individual to whom an Incentive Stock Option is granted pursuant to the provisions of the Plan who is, on the date of the grant, the owner of stock (as determined under Section 424(d) of the Code) po...
	(mm) “Triggering Event” means:
	(i) the proposed dissolution, liquidation or wind-up of the Company;
	(ii) a proposed merger, amalgamation, arrangement or reorganization of the Company with one or more corporations as a result of which, immediately following such event, the shareholders of the Company as a group, as they were immediately prior to such...
	(iii) the proposed acquisition of all or substantially all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company by one or more Persons or Entities;
	(iv) a proposed Change of Control of the Company;
	(v) the proposed sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
	(vi) a proposed material alteration of the capital structure of the Company which, in the opinion of the Committee, is of such a nature that it is not practical or feasible to make adjustments to this Plan or to the Options granted hereunder to permit...

	(nn) “U.S. Option Holder” means an Option Holder whose Options awarded under the Plan are subject to taxation under the Code, including U.S. residents and U.S. citizens regardless of country of residence.
	(oo) “Vest” or “Vesting” means that a portion of the Option granted to the Option Holder which is available to be exercised by the Option Holder at any time and from time to time.

	1.2 Choice of Law
	1.3 Headings

	SECTION 2  GRANT OF OPTIONS
	2.1 Grant of Options
	2.2 Record of Option Grants
	(a) the name and address of the Option Holder;
	(b) the category (Executive, Employee or Consultant) under which the Option was granted to him, her or it;
	(c) the designation of Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;
	(d) the Grant Date and Expiry Date of the Option;
	(e) the number of Shares which may be acquired on the exercise of the Option and the Exercise Price of the Option;
	(f) the vesting and other additional terms, if any, attached to the Option; and
	(g) the particulars of each and every time the Option is exercised.

	2.3 Effect of Plan

	SECTION 3  PURPOSE AND PARTICIPATION
	3.1 Purpose of Plan
	3.2 Participation in Plan
	3.3 Limits on Option Grants
	(a) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Option Holder under the Plan within any 12 month period shall be 5% of the Outstanding Issue (unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval if required by Regulator...
	(b) if required by Regulatory Rules, disinterested shareholder approval is required to the grant to Insiders, within a 12 month period, of a number of Options which, when added to the number of outstanding Options granted to Insiders within the previo...
	(c) with respect to section 5.1, the Expiry Date of an Option shall be no later than the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date of such Option;
	(d) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Consultant within any 12 month period must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue; and
	(e) the maximum number of Options which may be granted within any 12 month period to Employees or Consultants engaged in investor relations activities must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue and such options must vest in stages over 12 months with...

	3.4 Notification of Grant
	3.5 Copy of Plan; Effective Date of Plan
	3.6 Limitation on Service
	3.7 No Obligation to Exercise
	3.8 Agreement
	3.9 Notice
	3.10 Representation

	SECTION 4  NUMBER OF SHARES UNDER PLAN
	4.1 Number of Shares
	4.2 Fractional Shares

	SECTION 5  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS
	5.1 Exercise Period of Option
	5.2 Number of Shares Under Option
	5.3 Exercise Price of Option
	(a) for each organized trading facility on which the Shares are listed, Market Value will be the closing trading price of the Shares on the day immediately preceding the Grant Date, and, except with respect to Options awarded to U.S. Option Holders, m...
	(b) if the Company’s Shares are listed on more than one organized trading facility, the Market Value shall be the Market Value as determined in accordance with subparagraph (a) above for the primary organized trading facility on which the Shares are l...
	(c) if the Company’s Shares are listed on one or more organized trading facilities but have not traded during the ten trading days immediately preceding the Grant Date, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to se...
	(d) if the Company’s Shares are not listed on any organized trading facility, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to secure all necessary Regulatory Approvals, such value as is determined by the Committee to be...

	5.4 Incentive Stock Options.
	5.5 Termination of Option
	(a) Ceasing to Hold Office - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Executive and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be, unless ot...
	(i) ceasing to meet the qualifications set forth in the corporate legislation applicable to the Company;
	(ii) a special resolution having been passed by the shareholders of the Company removing the Option Holder as a director of the Company or any Subsidiary; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position; OR

	(b) Ceasing to be Employed or Engaged - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Op...
	(i) termination for cause;
	(ii) resigning his or her position; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position.


	5.6 Vesting of Option and Acceleration
	5.7 Additional Terms

	SECTION 6  TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS
	6.1 Non-transferable
	6.2 Death of Option Holder
	6.3 Disability of Option Holder
	6.4 Disability and Death of Option Holder
	6.5 Vesting
	6.6 Deemed Non-Interruption of Engagement

	SECTION 7  EXERCISE OF OPTION
	7.1 Exercise of Option
	7.2 Black Out Period
	7.3 Issue of Share Certificates
	7.4 No Rights as Shareholder
	7.5 No Right to Employment; Other Benefits
	7.6 Tax Withholding and Procedures
	(a) deliver a certified cheque, wire transfer or bank draft payable to the Company for the amount determined by the Company to be the appropriate amount on account of such taxes or related amounts;
	(b) otherwise ensure, in a manner acceptable to the Company (if at all) in its sole and unfettered discretion, that the amount will be securely funded; or
	(c) and must in all other respects follow any related procedures and conditions imposed by the Company.

	7.7 No trust Fund Created

	SECTION 8  ADMINISTRATION
	8.1 Board or Committee
	8.2 Powers of Committee
	(a) oversee the administration of the Plan in accordance with its terms;
	(b) appoint or replace the Administrator from time to time;
	(c) determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, including all questions relating to the Market Value;
	(d) correct any defect, supply any information or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purposes of the Plan;
	(e) prescribe, amend, and rescind rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Plan;
	(f) determine the duration and purposes of leaves of absence from employment or engagement by the Company which may be granted to Option Holders without constituting a termination of employment or engagement for purposes of the Plan;
	(g) do the following with respect to the granting of Options:
	(i) determine the Executives, Employees or Consultants to whom Options shall be granted, based on the eligibility criteria set out in this Plan;
	(ii) determine the terms of the Option to be granted to an Option Holder including, without limitation, the Grant Date, Expiry Date, Exercise Price and vesting schedule (which need not be identical with the terms of any other Option);
	(iii) subject to any necessary Regulatory Approvals and section 9.2, amend the terms of any Options;
	(iv) determine when Options shall be granted;
	(v) determine the number of Shares subject to each Option; and
	(vi) to designate Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;

	(h) accelerate the vesting schedule of any Option previously granted; and
	(i) make all other determinations necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion, for the administration of the Plan.

	8.3 Administration by Committee
	8.4 Interpretation

	SECTION 9  APPROVALS AND AMENDMENT
	9.1 Shareholder Approval of Plan
	9.2 Amendment of Option or Plan
	(a) materially decrease the rights or benefits accruing to an Option Holder; or
	(b) materially increase the obligations of an Option Holder; then, unless otherwise excepted out by a provision of this Plan, the Committee must also obtain the written consent of the Option Holder in question to such amendment.  If at the time the Ex...


	SECTION 10  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ISSUANCE OF OPTIONS AND SHARES
	10.1 Compliance with Laws
	10.2 Regulatory Approvals
	10.3 Inability to Obtain Regulatory Approvals

	SECTION 11  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	11.1 Termination of Plan
	11.2 No Grant During Suspension of Plan
	11.3 Alteration in Capital Structure
	(a) a change in the number or kind of shares of the Company covered by such Options; and
	(b) a change in the Exercise Price payable per Share provided, however, that the aggregate Exercise Price applicable to the unexercised portion of existing Options shall not be altered, it being intended that any adjustments made with respect to such ...
	(c) the issuance of additional securities of the Company in exchange for adequate consideration (including services); nor
	(d) the conversion of outstanding securities of the Company into Shares shall be deemed to be material alterations of the capital structure of the Company.  Any adjustment made to any Options pursuant to this section 11.3 shall not be considered an am...

	11.4 Triggering Events
	(a) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to terminate upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event; or
	(b) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to be exchanged for incentive stock options of another corporation upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event in such ratio and at such exercise price as the Committee deems approp...

	11.5 Notice of Termination by Triggering Event
	11.6 Determinations to be Made By Committee

	SECTION 12  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	12.1 Maximum Number of Options

	SECTION 13  CALIFORNIA OPTIONS
	13.1 California Options
	13.2 Termination Date
	13.3 Post-Termination Exercise Period
	(a) at least six months from the date of termination, if termination was caused by death or disability; or
	(b) at least 30 days from the date of termination, if termination was caused by other than death or disability.

	13.4 Shareholder Approval / Grant Limitations
	(a) the Company is a foreign private issuer, as defined by Rule 3b-4 of the Exchange Act, on the grant date of the California Award, and the aggregate number of persons in California granted awards under all compensation plans and agreements and issue...
	(b) prior to or within 12 months of the granting of the first California Award under the Plan and prior to increasing the number of Authorized Shares, the Plan is approved by a majority of the Company’s outstanding securities entitled to vote, not cou...

	13.5 Company Information
	(a) the Grant Date of this Option is ●, 20●; and
	(b) subject to sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 11.4 of the Plan, the Expiry Date of this Option is 20.
	1. The Options will not be exercisable unless and until they have vested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the vesting schedule below, and then only to the extent that they have vested.  Provided that the Option Holder remains in continuous...
	(a) ‎( Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after the Grant Date;
	(b) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(c) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(d) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];

	2. Upon the Option Holder ceasing to hold a position with the Company, other than as a result of the events set out in paragraphs 5.4(a) or 5.4(b) of the Plan, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be ( [Insert date desired that is longer or shorter tha...
	3. The following provisions apply to Incentive Stock Options.
	(a) Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) may be issued only to individuals who are employees of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (as defined under section 424(f) of the Code) (“U.S. Employees”).
	(b) If a U.S. Option Holder has been granted an ISO and ceases to be a U.S. Employee, then, in order to retain the status of the Option as an ISO for U.S. federal tax purposes, such Option must be exercised within the time limits set forth below.  Fai...


	(c) To the extent that an Option designated as an ISO becomes exercisable by an Option Holder for the first time during any calendar year for Shares having a fair market value greater than US$100,000 (measured by the fair market value as of the Grant ...
	(d) all of the Shares; or



	Notice of Articles and Articles.pdf
	Affidavit + Attachments.pdf
	CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
	Forward-Looking Statements
	Information Contained in this Information Circular
	Information Pertaining to Cannex
	Note to U.S. Securityholders

	GLOSSARY OF DEFINED TERMS
	SUMMARY OF INFORMATION CIRCULAR
	The Meeting
	Purpose of the Meeting
	Securityholder and Other Approvals
	Nevada Holdco Approvals
	OSC Rule 56-501 and Part 12 of NI 41-101

	The Companies
	4Front Corp.
	Cannex Capital Holdings Inc.
	Resulting Issuer

	The Business Combination
	The Continuance
	The Resulting Issuer Equity Incentive Plans
	Recommendation of the Nevada Holdco Board
	Principal Reasons for the Nevada Holdco Board’s Favourable Recommendation
	Dissent Rights
	Dissent Rights Under the Nevada Revised Statute for Nevada Holdco Shareholders
	Dissent Rights Under the BCBCA for Nevada Holdco Shareholders

	Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations
	Certain United States Federal Income Tax Considerations
	Securities Laws Information for Canadian Shareholders
	Securities Laws Information for U.S. Securityholders

	THE BUSINESS COMBINATION
	Overview
	Background to the Business Combination
	Recommendation of the Nevada Holdco Board
	Principal Reasons for the Nevada Holdco Board’s Favourable Recommendation
	Fairness Opinion
	Nevada Holdco Shareholder Approval
	4Front Voting Agreements
	Court Approval of the Business Combination
	Interim Order

	Effective Date of the Business Combination
	Cancellation of Rights after Six Years
	Dissent Rights
	Dissent Rights Under NRS
	Addresses for Notice
	Dissent Rights Under BCBCA

	Interests of Certain Persons in the Business Combination
	(1) Share numbers are approximate and subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Combination Agreement.
	(2) All Resulting Issuer Multiple Voting Shares will be held directly by the individuals listed in the first column. As a group, the holders of the Resulting Issuer Multiple Voting Shares are expected to control approximately 65.9% of the votes of all...
	(3) Certain of the Resulting Issuer Subordinate Proportionate Voting Shares of Josh Rosen and Karl Chowscano will be held of record and beneficially by Mr. Rosen or Mr. Chowscano,  as applicable. Certain of the Resulting Issuer Subordinate Proportiona...

	Regulatory Approvals
	Delivery of Resulting Issuer Shares

	THE BUSINESS COMBINATION AGREEMENT
	Conditions Precedent to the Business Combination
	Mutual Conditions Precedent
	Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of 4Front
	Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of Cannex
	Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of BC Newco
	Conditions Precedent to the Obligations of Nevada Holdco

	Representations and Warranties
	Covenants
	Non-Solicitation Covenant
	Termination
	Termination Payments
	Termination Fee
	4Front Termination Fee:


	Amendment and Waiver
	Amendment
	Waiver
	Adjustments

	Amendments to the Business Combination Agreement
	Risk Factors

	OTHER PARTICULARS OF MATTERS TO BE ACTED ON AT THE NEVADA HOLDCO MEETING
	Continuance
	Material Differences of Nevada Holdco Shareholder Rights after the Change of Corporate Jurisdiction
	Acquisition of Controlling Interest
	Combination with Interested Stockholder
	Recommendation of the Nevada Holdco Board

	Business Combination
	Recommendation of the Nevada Holdco Board

	Resulting Issuer Equity Incentive Plans
	Summary of the Resulting Issuer Equity Incentive Plans
	Recommendation of the Nevada Holdco Board


	RISK FACTORS
	CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS
	Currency Conversion
	Holders Resident in Canada
	Continuance of Nevada Holdco under the BCBCA
	BC Amalgamation
	Taxation of Dividends on Resulting Issuer Shares
	Disposition of Resulting Issuer Shares
	Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses
	Refundable Tax
	Dissenting Resident Holders
	Dissent Rights under the NRS
	Dissent Rights under the BCBCA
	Interest received by a Dissenting Resident Holder

	Holders Not Resident in Canada
	Continuance of Nevada Holdco under the BCBCA
	Status of Nevada Holdco Subordinate Voting Shares, Nevada Holdco Canada Subordinate Voting Shares and Resulting Issuer Shares as “Taxable Canadian Property”
	BC Amalgamation
	Dividends on Resulting Issuer Shares
	Disposition of Resulting Issuer Shares
	Dissenting Non-Resident Holders
	Dissent Rights under the NRS
	Dissent Rights under the BCBCA
	Interest received by a Dissenting Non-Resident Holder


	CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS
	Tax Classification of Nevada Holdco Canada and the Resulting Issuer as U.S. Domestic Corporations
	U.S. Federal Tax Consequences to U.S. Holders
	Receipt of Nevada Holdco Canada Shares Pursuant to the Continuance
	Dissenting U.S. Holders
	Receipt of Resulting Issuer Shares Pursuant to the BC Amalgamation

	Ownership and Disposition of Resulting Issuer Shares
	Distributions
	Sale or Other Taxable Disposition
	Foreign Tax Credit Limitations Applicable to Resulting Issuer Shares

	Other Tax Matters
	Additional Tax on Passive Income
	Foreign Tax Credits Applicable to the Continuance and BC Amalgamation
	Receipt of Foreign Currency
	Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
	Disclosure Requirements for Specified Foreign Financial Assets

	Tax Considerations for Non U.S. Holders Regarding Holding and Disposing of Resulting Issuer Shares
	Definition of a Non U.S. Holder
	Distributions
	Sale or Other Taxable Disposition
	Information Reporting and Backup Withholding
	FATCA


	SECURITIES LAWS CONSIDERATIONS
	Canadian Securities Laws
	U.S. Securities Laws
	Status under U.S. Securities Laws
	Exemption Relied Upon from the Registration Requirements of the U.S. Securities Act
	Exercise of the Resulting Issuer Replacement Options for Subordinate Voting Shares, Resulting Issuer Replacement Options for Subordinate Proportionate Voting Shares and Resulting Issuer Warrants
	Resales of Resulting Issuer Subordinate Voting Shares and Resulting Issuer Subordinate Proportionate Voting Shares within the United States after the Effective Time
	Non-Affiliates of Resulting Issuer
	Affiliates of Resulting Issuer and Affiliates of Nevada Holdco, 4Front or Cannex


	GENERAL PROXY INFORMATION
	Solicitation of Proxies
	Record Date
	Appointment of Proxyholders
	Voting by Proxyholder
	Registered Shareholders of Nevada Holdco
	Nevada Holdco Beneficial Shareholders
	Revocation of Proxies

	VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF
	Votes Necessary to Pass Resolutions

	OTHER MATTERS
	INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND SENIOR OFFICERS
	INTEREST OF INFORMED PERSONS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS
	INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS OR COMPANIES IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON
	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
	Exhibit A – Securityholder Proxy Card
	1. Continuance Resolution
	2. Business Combination Resolution
	3. Equity Incentive Plan Resolution For Against

	Schedule A  – Nevada Holdco Continuance Resolution
	Schedule B  – Nevada Holdco Business Combination Resolution
	Schedule C – Equity Incentive Plan Resolution
	Schedule D  – Interim Order
	Schedule E  – Nevada Holdco Notice of Hearing of Petition and Petition
	Schedule F  – Notice of Articles and Articles of Nevada Holdco Canada
	Schedule G  – Nevada Holdco Plan of Conversion
	Schedule H  – Plan of Arrangement
	Schedule I  – Eight Capital Fairness Opinion
	Schedule J  – Dissent Rights of Nevada Holdco Shareholders under NRS
	Schedule K – Dissent Rights of Nevada Holdco Shareholders under BCBCA
	Schedule L  – Information About Cannex, 4Front and the Resulting Issuer
	Schedule C Ex A - Class B Option Plan.pdf
	SECTION 1  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions
	(a) “Administrator” means such Executive or Employee of the Company as may be designated as Administrator by the Committee from time to time, or, if no such person is appointed, the Committee itself.
	(b) “Black-Out” means a restriction imposed by the Company on all or any of its directors, officers, employees, insiders or persons in a special relationship whereby they are to refrain from trading in the Company’s securities until the restriction ha...
	(c) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
	(d) “Change of Control” means an occurrence when either:
	(i) a Person or Entity, other than the current “control person” of the Company (as that term is defined in the Securities Act), becomes a “control person” of the Company; or
	(ii) a majority of the directors elected at any annual or extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of the Company are not individuals nominated by the Company’s then- incumbent Board.

	(e) “Class A Shares” means the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shares.
	(f) “Class B Shares” means the Company’s Class B proportionate voting shares.
	(g) “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder.
	(h) “Committee” means a committee of the Board to which the responsibility of approving the grant of stock options has been delegated, or if no such committee is appointed, the Board itself.  At any time that the Company is an SEC registrant and is no...
	(i) “Company” means 4Front Ventures Corp.
	(j) “Consultant” means an individual who:
	(i) is engaged to provide, on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Company or any Subsidiary, other than services provided in relation to a “distribution” (as that term is described in the Securities A...
	(ii) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any Subsidiary and the individual or a Consultant Entity (as defined in clause (v) below);
	(iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Company or any Subsidiary; and
	(iv) has a relationship with the Company or any Subsidiary that enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Company or is otherwise permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as a Consultant or ...
	(v) a corporation of which the individual is an employee or shareholder or a partnership of which the individual is an employee or partner (a “Consultant Entity”); or
	(vi) an RRSP or RRIF established by or for the individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(k) “Disability” means a medically determinable physical or mental impairment expected to result in death or to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, and which causes an individual to be unable to engage in any substantial gainful a...
	(l) “Employee” means:
	(i) an individual who works full-time or part-time for the Company or any Subsidiary and such other individual as may, from time to time, be permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as an employee or as an equivalent thereto; or
	(ii) an individual who works for the Company or any Subsidiary either full-time or on a continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and d...
	(iii) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(iv) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(m) “Exchange” means the stock exchange upon which the Class A Shares principally trade.
	(n) “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
	(o) “Executive” means an individual who is a director or officer of the Company or a Subsidiary, and includes:
	(i) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(ii) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(p) “Exercise Notice” means the written notice of the exercise of an Option, in the form set out as Schedule B hereto, duly executed by the Option Holder.
	(q) “Exercise Period” means the period during which a particular Option may be exercised and is the period from and including the Grant Date through to and including the Expiry Time on the Expiry Date provided, however, that no Option can be exercised...
	(r) “Exercise Price” means the price at which an Option is exercisable as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(s) “Expiry Date” means the date the Option expires as set out in the Option Certificate or as otherwise determined in accordance with sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 or 11.4.
	(t) “Expiry Time” means the time the Option expires on the Expiry Date, which is 4:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada on the Expiry Date.
	(u) “Fair Market Value” means the fair market value of the Class B Shares, which is the Market Value multiplied by 80.
	(v)  “Grant Date” means the date on which the Committee grants a particular Option, which is the date the Option comes into effect provided however that no Option can be exercised unless and until all necessary Regulatory Approvals have been obtained.
	(w) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is labelled or described as an Incentive Stock Option and which qualifies as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.
	(x) “Insider” means an insider as that term is defined in the Securities Act.
	(y) “Market Value” means the market value of the Class A Shares as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(z) “Non-Statutory Stock Option” means an Option granted to an Option Holder which is not intended to be or does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
	(aa) “Option” means a share purchase option granted pursuant to this Plan entitling the Option Holder to purchase Shares of the Company, and includes Incentive Stock Options and Non-Statutory Stock Options.
	(bb) “Option Certificate” means the certificate, in substantially the form set out as Schedule A hereto, evidencing the Option.
	(cc) “Option Holder” means a Person or Entity who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, the Personal Representative of such person.
	(dd) “Outstanding Issue” means the number of Class A Shares, taken together with the number of Class A Shares issuable on conversion of the Class B Shares and the Class C Multiple Voting Shares immediately prior to the Class B Share issuance or grant ...
	(ee) “Person or Entity” means an individual, natural person, corporation, government or political subdivision or agency of a government, and where two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group for the purpose ...
	(ff) “Personal Representative” means:
	(i) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and
	(ii) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder.

	(gg) “Plan” means this stock option plan as from time to time amended.
	(hh) “Regulatory Approvals” means any necessary approvals of the Regulatory Authorities as may be required from time to time for the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan or for the Options granted from time to time hereunder.
	(ii) “Regulatory Authorities” means all organized trading facilities on which the Shares are listed, and all securities commissions or similar securities regulatory bodies having jurisdiction over the Company, this Plan or the Options granted from tim...
	(jj) “Regulatory Rules” means all corporate and securities laws, regulations, rules, policies, notices, instruments and other orders of any kind whatsoever which may, from time to time, apply to the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan ...
	(kk) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), RSBC 1996, c.418 as from time to time amended.
	(ll) “Share” or “Shares” means, as the case may be, one or more Class B Shares in the capital stock of the Company.
	(mm) “Subsidiary” means a wholly-owned or controlled subsidiary corporation of the Company.
	(nn) “Ten Percent Shareholder Participant” means an individual to whom an Incentive Stock Option is granted pursuant to the provisions of the Plan who is, on the date of the grant, the owner of stock (as determined under Section 424(d) of the Code) po...
	(oo) “Triggering Event” means:
	(i) the proposed dissolution, liquidation or wind-up of the Company;
	(ii) a proposed merger, amalgamation, arrangement or reorganization of the Company with one or more corporations as a result of which, immediately following such event, the shareholders of the Company as a group, as they were immediately prior to such...
	(iii) the proposed acquisition of all or substantially all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company by one or more Persons or Entities;
	(iv) a proposed Change of Control of the Company;
	(v) the proposed sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
	(vi) a proposed material alteration of the capital structure of the Company which, in the opinion of the Committee, is of such a nature that it is not practical or feasible to make adjustments to this Plan or to the Options granted hereunder to permit...

	(pp) “U.S. Option Holder” means an Option Holder whose Options awarded under the Plan are subject to taxation under the Code, including U.S. residents and U.S. citizens regardless of country of residence.
	(qq) “Vest” or “Vesting” means that a portion of the Option granted to the Option Holder which is available to be exercised by the Option Holder at any time and from time to time.

	1.2 Choice of Law
	1.3 Headings

	SECTION 2  GRANT OF OPTIONS
	2.1 Grant of Options
	2.2 Record of Option Grants
	(a) the name and address of the Option Holder;
	(b) the category (Executive, Employee or Consultant) under which the Option was granted to him, her or it;
	(c) the designation of Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;
	(d) the Grant Date and Expiry Date of the Option;
	(e) the number of Shares which may be acquired on the exercise of the Option and the Exercise Price of the Option;
	(f) the vesting and other additional terms, if any, attached to the Option; and
	(g) the particulars of each and every time the Option is exercised.

	2.3 Effect of Plan

	SECTION 3  PURPOSE AND PARTICIPATION
	3.1 Purpose of Plan
	3.2 Participation in Plan
	3.3 Limits on Option Grants
	(a) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Option Holder under the Plan within any 12 month period shall be 5% of the Outstanding Issue (unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval if required by Regulator...
	(b) if required by Regulatory Rules, disinterested shareholder approval is required to the grant to Insiders, within a 12 month period, of a number of Options which, when added to the number of outstanding Options granted to Insiders within the previo...
	(c) with respect to section 5.1, the Expiry Date of an Option shall be no later than the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date of such Option;
	(d) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Consultant within any 12 month period must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue; and
	(e) the maximum number of Options which may be granted within any 12 month period to Employees or Consultants engaged in investor relations activities must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue and such options must vest in stages over 12 months with...

	3.4 Notification of Grant
	3.5 Copy of Plan; Effective Date of Plan
	3.6 Limitation on Service
	3.7 No Obligation to Exercise
	3.8 Agreement
	3.9 Notice
	3.10 Representation

	SECTION 4  NUMBER OF SHARES UNDER PLAN
	4.1 Number of Shares
	4.2 Fractional Shares

	SECTION 5  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS
	5.1 Exercise Period of Option
	5.2 Number of Shares Under Option
	5.3 Exercise Price of Option
	(a) for each organized trading facility on which the Class A Shares are listed, Market Value will be the closing trading price of the Class A Shares on the day immediately preceding the Grant Date, and, except with respect to Options awarded to U.S. O...
	(b) if the Company’s Class A Shares are listed on more than one organized trading facility, the Market Value shall be the Market Value as determined in accordance with subparagraph (a) above for the primary organized trading facility on which the Clas...
	(c) if the Company’s Class A Shares are listed on one or more organized trading facilities but have not traded during the ten trading days immediately preceding the Grant Date, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be requir...
	(d) if the Company’s Class A Shares are not listed on any organized trading facility, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to secure all necessary Regulatory Approvals, such value as is determined by the Committ...

	5.4 Incentive Stock Options.
	5.5 Termination of Option
	(a) Ceasing to Hold Office - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Executive and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be, unless ot...
	(i) ceasing to meet the qualifications set forth in the corporate legislation applicable to the Company;
	(ii) a special resolution having been passed by the shareholders of the Company removing the Option Holder as a director of the Company or any Subsidiary; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position; OR

	(b) Ceasing to be Employed or Engaged - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Op...
	(i) termination for cause;
	(ii) resigning his or her position; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position.


	5.6 Vesting of Option and Acceleration
	5.7 Additional Terms

	SECTION 6  TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS
	6.1 Non-transferable
	6.2 Death of Option Holder
	6.3 Disability of Option Holder
	6.4 Disability and Death of Option Holder
	6.5 Vesting
	6.6 Deemed Non-Interruption of Engagement

	SECTION 7  EXERCISE OF OPTION
	7.1 Exercise of Option
	7.2 Black Out Period
	7.3 Issue of Share Certificates
	7.4 No Rights as Shareholder
	7.5 No Right to Employment; Other Benefits
	7.6 Tax Withholding and Procedures
	(a) deliver a certified cheque, wire transfer or bank draft payable to the Company for the amount determined by the Company to be the appropriate amount on account of such taxes or related amounts;
	(b) otherwise ensure, in a manner acceptable to the Company (if at all) in its sole and unfettered discretion, that the amount will be securely funded; or
	(c) and must in all other respects follow any related procedures and conditions imposed by the Company.

	7.7 No trust Fund Created

	SECTION 8  ADMINISTRATION
	8.1 Board or Committee
	8.2 Powers of Committee
	(a) oversee the administration of the Plan in accordance with its terms;
	(b) appoint or replace the Administrator from time to time;
	(c) determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, including all questions relating to the Market Value;
	(d) correct any defect, supply any information or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purposes of the Plan;
	(e) prescribe, amend, and rescind rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Plan;
	(f) determine the duration and purposes of leaves of absence from employment or engagement by the Company which may be granted to Option Holders without constituting a termination of employment or engagement for purposes of the Plan;
	(g) do the following with respect to the granting of Options:
	(i) determine the Executives, Employees or Consultants to whom Options shall be granted, based on the eligibility criteria set out in this Plan;
	(ii) determine the terms of the Option to be granted to an Option Holder including, without limitation, the Grant Date, Expiry Date, Exercise Price and vesting schedule (which need not be identical with the terms of any other Option);
	(iii) subject to any necessary Regulatory Approvals and section 9.2, amend the terms of any Options;
	(iv) determine when Options shall be granted;
	(v) determine the number of Shares subject to each Option; and
	(vi) to designate Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;

	(h) accelerate the vesting schedule of any Option previously granted; and
	(i) make all other determinations necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion, for the administration of the Plan.

	8.3 Administration by Committee
	8.4 Interpretation

	SECTION 9  APPROVALS AND AMENDMENT
	9.1 Shareholder Approval of Plan
	9.2 Amendment of Option or Plan
	(a) materially decrease the rights or benefits accruing to an Option Holder; or
	(b) materially increase the obligations of an Option Holder; then, unless otherwise excepted out by a provision of this Plan, the Committee must also obtain the written consent of the Option Holder in question to such amendment.  If at the time the Ex...


	SECTION 10  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ISSUANCE OF OPTIONS AND SHARES
	10.1 Compliance with Laws
	10.2 Regulatory Approvals
	10.3 Inability to Obtain Regulatory Approvals

	SECTION 11  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	11.1 Termination of Plan
	11.2 No Grant During Suspension of Plan
	11.3 Alteration in Capital Structure
	(a) a change in the number or kind of shares of the Company covered by such Options; and
	(b) a change in the Exercise Price payable per Share provided, however, that the aggregate Exercise Price applicable to the unexercised portion of existing Options shall not be altered, it being intended that any adjustments made with respect to such ...
	(c) the issuance of additional securities of the Company in exchange for adequate consideration (including services); nor
	(d) the conversion of outstanding securities of the Company into Shares shall be deemed to be material alterations of the capital structure of the Company.  Any adjustment made to any Options pursuant to this section 11.3 shall not be considered an am...

	11.4 Triggering Events
	(a) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to terminate upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event; or
	(b) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to be exchanged for incentive stock options of another corporation upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event in such ratio and at such exercise price as the Committee deems approp...

	11.5 Notice of Termination by Triggering Event
	11.6 Determinations to be Made By Committee

	SECTION 12  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	12.1 Maximum Number of Options

	SECTION 13  CALIFORNIA OPTIONS
	13.1 California Options
	13.2 Termination Date
	13.3 Post-Termination Exercise Period
	(a) at least six months from the date of termination, if termination was caused by death or disability; or
	(b) at least 30 days from the date of termination, if termination was caused by other than death or disability.

	13.4 Shareholder Approval / Grant Limitations
	(a) the Company is a foreign private issuer, as defined by Rule 3b-4 of the Exchange Act, on the grant date of the California Award, and the aggregate number of persons in California granted awards under all compensation plans and agreements and issue...
	(b) prior to or within 12 months of the granting of the first California Award under the Plan and prior to increasing the number of Authorized Shares, the Plan is approved by a majority of the Company’s outstanding securities entitled to vote, not cou...

	13.5 Company Information
	(a) the Grant Date of this Option is ●, 20●; and
	(b) subject to sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 11.4 of the Plan, the Expiry Date of this Option is 20.
	1. The Options will not be exercisable unless and until they have vested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the vesting schedule below, and then only to the extent that they have vested.  Provided that the Option Holder remains in continuous...
	(a) ‎( Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after the Grant Date;
	(b) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(c) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(d) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];

	2. Upon the Option Holder ceasing to hold a position with the Company, other than as a result of the events set out in paragraphs 5.4(a) or 5.4(b) of the Plan, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be ( [Insert date desired that is longer or shorter tha...
	3. The following provisions apply to Incentive Stock Options.
	(a) Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) may be issued only to individuals who are employees of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (as defined under section 424(f) of the Code) (“U.S. Employees”).
	(b) If a U.S. Option Holder has been granted an ISO and ceases to be a U.S. Employee, then, in order to retain the status of the Option as an ISO for U.S. federal tax purposes, such Option must be exercised within the time limits set forth below.  Fai...


	(c) To the extent that an Option designated as an ISO becomes exercisable by an Option Holder for the first time during any calendar year for Shares having a fair market value greater than US$100,000 (measured by the fair market value as of the Grant ...
	(d) all of the Shares; or
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	SECTION 1  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions
	(a) “Administrator” means such Executive or Employee of the Company as may be designated as Administrator by the Committee from time to time, or, if no such person is appointed, the Committee itself.
	(b) “Black-Out” means a restriction imposed by the Company on all or any of its directors, officers, employees, insiders or persons in a special relationship whereby they are to refrain from trading in the Company’s securities until the restriction ha...
	(c) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
	(d) “Change of Control” means an occurrence when either:
	(i) a Person or Entity, other than the current “control person” of the Company (as that term is defined in the Securities Act), becomes a “control person” of the Company; or
	(ii) a majority of the directors elected at any annual or extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of the Company are not individuals nominated by the Company’s then- incumbent Board.

	(e) “Class A Shares” means the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shares.
	(f) “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder.
	(g) “Committee” means a committee of the Board to which the responsibility of approving the grant of stock options has been delegated, or if no such committee is appointed, the Board itself.  At any time that the Company is an SEC registrant and is no...
	(h) “Company” means 4Front Ventures Corp.
	(i) “Consultant” means an individual who:
	(i) is engaged to provide, on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Company or any Subsidiary, other than services provided in relation to a “distribution” (as that term is described in the Securities A...
	(ii) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any Subsidiary and the individual or a Consultant Entity (as defined in clause (v) below);
	(iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Company or any Subsidiary; and
	(iv) has a relationship with the Company or any Subsidiary that enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Company or is otherwise permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as a Consultant or ...
	(v) a corporation of which the individual is an employee or shareholder or a partnership of which the individual is an employee or partner (a “Consultant Entity”); or
	(vi) an RRSP or RRIF established by or for the individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(j) “Disability” means a medically determinable physical or mental impairment expected to result in death or to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, and which causes an individual to be unable to engage in any substantial gainful a...
	(k) “Employee” means:
	(i) an individual who works full-time or part-time for the Company or any Subsidiary and such other individual as may, from time to time, be permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as an employee or as an equivalent thereto; or
	(ii) an individual who works for the Company or any Subsidiary either full-time or on a continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and d...
	(iii) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(iv) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(l) “Exchange” means the stock exchange upon which the Class A Shares principally trade.
	(m) “Exchange Act “ means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
	(n) “Executive” means an individual who is a director or officer of the Company or a Subsidiary, and includes:
	(i) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(ii) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(o) “Exercise Notice” means the written notice of the exercise of an Option, in the form set out as Schedule B hereto, duly executed by the Option Holder.
	(p) “Exercise Period” means the period during which a particular Option may be exercised and is the period from and including the Grant Date through to and including the Expiry Time on the Expiry Date provided, however, that no Option can be exercised...
	(q) “Exercise Price” means the price at which an Option is exercisable as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(r) “Expiry Date” means the date the Option expires as set out in the Option Certificate or as otherwise determined in accordance with sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 or 11.4.
	(s) “Expiry Time” means the time the Option expires on the Expiry Date, which is 4:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada on the Expiry Date.
	(t) “Grant Date” means the date on which the Committee grants a particular Option, which is the date the Option comes into effect provided however that no Option can be exercised unless and until all necessary Regulatory Approvals have been obtained.
	(u) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is labelled or described as an Incentive Stock Option and which qualifies as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.
	(v) “Insider” means an insider as that term is defined in the Securities Act.
	(w) “Market Value” means the market value of the Class A Shares as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(x) “Non-Statutory Stock Option” means an Option granted to an Option Holder which is not intended to be or does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
	(y) “Option” means a share purchase option granted pursuant to this Plan entitling the Option Holder to purchase Shares of the Company, and includes Incentive Stock Options and Non-Statutory Stock Options.
	(z) “Option Certificate” means the certificate, in substantially the form set out as Schedule A hereto, evidencing the Option.
	(aa) “Option Holder” means a Person or Entity who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, the Personal Representative of such person.
	(bb) “Outstanding Issue” means the number of Class A Shares, taken together with the number of Shares issuable on conversion of the Class B Proportionate Voting Shares and the Class C Multiple Voting Shares immediately prior to the Class A Share issua...
	(cc) “Person or Entity” means an individual, natural person, corporation, government or political subdivision or agency of a government, and where two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group for the purpose ...
	(dd) “Personal Representative” means:
	(i) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and
	(ii) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder.

	(ee) “Plan” means this stock option plan as from time to time amended.
	(ff) “Regulatory Approvals” means any necessary approvals of the Regulatory Authorities as may be required from time to time for the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan or for the Options granted from time to time hereunder.
	(gg) “Regulatory Authorities” means all organized trading facilities on which the Shares are listed, and all securities commissions or similar securities regulatory bodies having jurisdiction over the Company, this Plan or the Options granted from tim...
	(hh) “Regulatory Rules” means all corporate and securities laws, regulations, rules, policies, notices, instruments and other orders of any kind whatsoever which may, from time to time, apply to the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan ...
	(ii) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), RSBC 1996, c.418 as from time to time amended.
	(jj) “Share” or “Shares” means, as the case may be, one or more Class A Shares in the capital stock of the Company.
	(kk) “Subsidiary” means a wholly-owned or controlled subsidiary corporation of the Company.
	(ll) “Ten Percent Shareholder Participant” means an individual to whom an Incentive Stock Option is granted pursuant to the provisions of the Plan who is, on the date of the grant, the owner of stock (as determined under Section 424(d) of the Code) po...
	(mm) “Triggering Event” means:
	(i) the proposed dissolution, liquidation or wind-up of the Company;
	(ii) a proposed merger, amalgamation, arrangement or reorganization of the Company with one or more corporations as a result of which, immediately following such event, the shareholders of the Company as a group, as they were immediately prior to such...
	(iii) the proposed acquisition of all or substantially all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company by one or more Persons or Entities;
	(iv) a proposed Change of Control of the Company;
	(v) the proposed sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
	(vi) a proposed material alteration of the capital structure of the Company which, in the opinion of the Committee, is of such a nature that it is not practical or feasible to make adjustments to this Plan or to the Options granted hereunder to permit...

	(nn) “U.S. Option Holder” means an Option Holder whose Options awarded under the Plan are subject to taxation under the Code, including U.S. residents and U.S. citizens regardless of country of residence.
	(oo) “Vest” or “Vesting” means that a portion of the Option granted to the Option Holder which is available to be exercised by the Option Holder at any time and from time to time.

	1.2 Choice of Law
	1.3 Headings

	SECTION 2  GRANT OF OPTIONS
	2.1 Grant of Options
	2.2 Record of Option Grants
	(a) the name and address of the Option Holder;
	(b) the category (Executive, Employee or Consultant) under which the Option was granted to him, her or it;
	(c) the designation of Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;
	(d) the Grant Date and Expiry Date of the Option;
	(e) the number of Shares which may be acquired on the exercise of the Option and the Exercise Price of the Option;
	(f) the vesting and other additional terms, if any, attached to the Option; and
	(g) the particulars of each and every time the Option is exercised.

	2.3 Effect of Plan

	SECTION 3  PURPOSE AND PARTICIPATION
	3.1 Purpose of Plan
	3.2 Participation in Plan
	3.3 Limits on Option Grants
	(a) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Option Holder under the Plan within any 12 month period shall be 5% of the Outstanding Issue (unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval if required by Regulator...
	(b) if required by Regulatory Rules, disinterested shareholder approval is required to the grant to Insiders, within a 12 month period, of a number of Options which, when added to the number of outstanding Options granted to Insiders within the previo...
	(c) with respect to section 5.1, the Expiry Date of an Option shall be no later than the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date of such Option;
	(d) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Consultant within any 12 month period must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue; and
	(e) the maximum number of Options which may be granted within any 12 month period to Employees or Consultants engaged in investor relations activities must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue and such options must vest in stages over 12 months with...

	3.4 Notification of Grant
	3.5 Copy of Plan; Effective Date of Plan
	3.6 Limitation on Service
	3.7 No Obligation to Exercise
	3.8 Agreement
	3.9 Notice
	3.10 Representation

	SECTION 4  NUMBER OF SHARES UNDER PLAN
	4.1 Number of Shares
	4.2 Fractional Shares

	SECTION 5  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS
	5.1 Exercise Period of Option
	5.2 Number of Shares Under Option
	5.3 Exercise Price of Option
	(a) for each organized trading facility on which the Shares are listed, Market Value will be the closing trading price of the Shares on the day immediately preceding the Grant Date, and, except with respect to Options awarded to U.S. Option Holders, m...
	(b) if the Company’s Shares are listed on more than one organized trading facility, the Market Value shall be the Market Value as determined in accordance with subparagraph (a) above for the primary organized trading facility on which the Shares are l...
	(c) if the Company’s Shares are listed on one or more organized trading facilities but have not traded during the ten trading days immediately preceding the Grant Date, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to se...
	(d) if the Company’s Shares are not listed on any organized trading facility, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to secure all necessary Regulatory Approvals, such value as is determined by the Committee to be...

	5.4 Incentive Stock Options.
	5.5 Termination of Option
	(a) Ceasing to Hold Office - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Executive and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be, unless ot...
	(i) ceasing to meet the qualifications set forth in the corporate legislation applicable to the Company;
	(ii) a special resolution having been passed by the shareholders of the Company removing the Option Holder as a director of the Company or any Subsidiary; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position; OR

	(b) Ceasing to be Employed or Engaged - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Op...
	(i) termination for cause;
	(ii) resigning his or her position; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position.


	5.6 Vesting of Option and Acceleration
	5.7 Additional Terms

	SECTION 6  TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS
	6.1 Non-transferable
	6.2 Death of Option Holder
	6.3 Disability of Option Holder
	6.4 Disability and Death of Option Holder
	6.5 Vesting
	6.6 Deemed Non-Interruption of Engagement

	SECTION 7  EXERCISE OF OPTION
	7.1 Exercise of Option
	7.2 Black Out Period
	7.3 Issue of Share Certificates
	7.4 No Rights as Shareholder
	7.5 No Right to Employment; Other Benefits
	7.6 Tax Withholding and Procedures
	(a) deliver a certified cheque, wire transfer or bank draft payable to the Company for the amount determined by the Company to be the appropriate amount on account of such taxes or related amounts;
	(b) otherwise ensure, in a manner acceptable to the Company (if at all) in its sole and unfettered discretion, that the amount will be securely funded; or
	(c) and must in all other respects follow any related procedures and conditions imposed by the Company.

	7.7 No trust Fund Created

	SECTION 8  ADMINISTRATION
	8.1 Board or Committee
	8.2 Powers of Committee
	(a) oversee the administration of the Plan in accordance with its terms;
	(b) appoint or replace the Administrator from time to time;
	(c) determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, including all questions relating to the Market Value;
	(d) correct any defect, supply any information or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purposes of the Plan;
	(e) prescribe, amend, and rescind rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Plan;
	(f) determine the duration and purposes of leaves of absence from employment or engagement by the Company which may be granted to Option Holders without constituting a termination of employment or engagement for purposes of the Plan;
	(g) do the following with respect to the granting of Options:
	(i) determine the Executives, Employees or Consultants to whom Options shall be granted, based on the eligibility criteria set out in this Plan;
	(ii) determine the terms of the Option to be granted to an Option Holder including, without limitation, the Grant Date, Expiry Date, Exercise Price and vesting schedule (which need not be identical with the terms of any other Option);
	(iii) subject to any necessary Regulatory Approvals and section 9.2, amend the terms of any Options;
	(iv) determine when Options shall be granted;
	(v) determine the number of Shares subject to each Option; and
	(vi) to designate Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;

	(h) accelerate the vesting schedule of any Option previously granted; and
	(i) make all other determinations necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion, for the administration of the Plan.

	8.3 Administration by Committee
	8.4 Interpretation

	SECTION 9  APPROVALS AND AMENDMENT
	9.1 Shareholder Approval of Plan
	9.2 Amendment of Option or Plan
	(a) materially decrease the rights or benefits accruing to an Option Holder; or
	(b) materially increase the obligations of an Option Holder; then, unless otherwise excepted out by a provision of this Plan, the Committee must also obtain the written consent of the Option Holder in question to such amendment.  If at the time the Ex...


	SECTION 10  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ISSUANCE OF OPTIONS AND SHARES
	10.1 Compliance with Laws
	10.2 Regulatory Approvals
	10.3 Inability to Obtain Regulatory Approvals

	SECTION 11  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	11.1 Termination of Plan
	11.2 No Grant During Suspension of Plan
	11.3 Alteration in Capital Structure
	(a) a change in the number or kind of shares of the Company covered by such Options; and
	(b) a change in the Exercise Price payable per Share provided, however, that the aggregate Exercise Price applicable to the unexercised portion of existing Options shall not be altered, it being intended that any adjustments made with respect to such ...
	(c) the issuance of additional securities of the Company in exchange for adequate consideration (including services); nor
	(d) the conversion of outstanding securities of the Company into Shares shall be deemed to be material alterations of the capital structure of the Company.  Any adjustment made to any Options pursuant to this section 11.3 shall not be considered an am...

	11.4 Triggering Events
	(a) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to terminate upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event; or
	(b) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to be exchanged for incentive stock options of another corporation upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event in such ratio and at such exercise price as the Committee deems approp...

	11.5 Notice of Termination by Triggering Event
	11.6 Determinations to be Made By Committee

	SECTION 12  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	12.1 Maximum Number of Options

	SECTION 13  CALIFORNIA OPTIONS
	13.1 California Options
	13.2 Termination Date
	13.3 Post-Termination Exercise Period
	(a) at least six months from the date of termination, if termination was caused by death or disability; or
	(b) at least 30 days from the date of termination, if termination was caused by other than death or disability.

	13.4 Shareholder Approval / Grant Limitations
	(a) the Company is a foreign private issuer, as defined by Rule 3b-4 of the Exchange Act, on the grant date of the California Award, and the aggregate number of persons in California granted awards under all compensation plans and agreements and issue...
	(b) prior to or within 12 months of the granting of the first California Award under the Plan and prior to increasing the number of Authorized Shares, the Plan is approved by a majority of the Company’s outstanding securities entitled to vote, not cou...

	13.5 Company Information
	(a) the Grant Date of this Option is ●, 20●; and
	(b) subject to sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 11.4 of the Plan, the Expiry Date of this Option is 20.
	1. The Options will not be exercisable unless and until they have vested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the vesting schedule below, and then only to the extent that they have vested.  Provided that the Option Holder remains in continuous...
	(a) ‎( Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after the Grant Date;
	(b) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(c) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(d) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];

	2. Upon the Option Holder ceasing to hold a position with the Company, other than as a result of the events set out in paragraphs 5.4(a) or 5.4(b) of the Plan, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be ( [Insert date desired that is longer or shorter tha...
	3. The following provisions apply to Incentive Stock Options.
	(a) Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) may be issued only to individuals who are employees of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (as defined under section 424(f) of the Code) (“U.S. Employees”).
	(b) If a U.S. Option Holder has been granted an ISO and ceases to be a U.S. Employee, then, in order to retain the status of the Option as an ISO for U.S. federal tax purposes, such Option must be exercised within the time limits set forth below.  Fai...


	(c) To the extent that an Option designated as an ISO becomes exercisable by an Option Holder for the first time during any calendar year for Shares having a fair market value greater than US$100,000 (measured by the fair market value as of the Grant ...
	(d) all of the Shares; or
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	PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA
	Part 1  INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions.
	1.2 Business Corporations Act Definitions Apply.
	1.3 Interpretation Act Applies.
	1.4 Conflict in Definitions.
	1.5 Conflict Between Articles and Legislation.

	Part 2  SHARES AND SHARE CERTIFICATES
	2.1 Authorized Share Structure.
	2.2 Form of Share Certificate.
	2.3 Right to Share Certificate or Acknowledgement.
	(a) one certificate representing the share or shares of each class or series of shares registered in the shareholder’s name; or
	(b) a non-transferable written acknowledgment of the shareholder’s right to obtain such a share certificate,

	2.4 Sending of Share Certificate.
	2.5 Replacement of Worn Out or Defaced Certificate.
	(a) order the certificate to be cancelled; and
	(b) issue a replacement share certificate.

	2.6 Replacement of Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificate.
	(a) proof satisfactory to them that the certificate is lost, stolen or destroyed; and
	(b) any indemnity the board of directors, or any officer or agent designated by the directors, considers adequate.

	2.7 Splitting Share Certificates.
	2.8 Certificate Fee.
	2.9 Recognition of Trusts.

	Part 3  ISSUE OF SHARES
	3.1 Directors Authorized to Issue Shares.
	3.2 Commissions and Discounts.
	3.3 Brokerage.
	3.4 Conditions of Issue.
	(a) consideration is provided to the Company for the issue of the share by one or more of the following:
	(i) past services performed for the Company;
	(ii) property; or
	(iii) money; and

	(b) the value of the consideration received by the Company equals or exceeds the issue price set for the share under Article 3.1.

	3.5 Warrants, Options and Rights.
	3.6 Fractional Shares.

	Part 4  SHARE REGISTERS
	4.1 Central Securities Register.
	4.2 Branch Registers.
	4.3 Appointment of Agents.
	4.4 Closing Register.

	Part 5  SHARE TRANSFERS
	5.1 Recording or Registering Transfer.
	(a) a duly signed instrument of transfer in respect of the share has been received by the Company;
	(b) if a share certificate has been issued by the Company in respect of the share to be transferred, that share certificate has been surrendered to the Company; and
	(c) if a non-transferable written acknowledgment of the shareholder’s right to obtain a share certificate has been issued by the Company in respect of the share to be transferred, that acknowledgment has been surrendered to the Company.

	5.2 Form of Instrument of Transfer.
	5.3 Transferor Remains Shareholder.
	5.4 Signing of Instrument of Transfer.
	(a) in the name of the person named as transferee in that instrument of transfer; or
	(b) if no person is named as transferee in that instrument of transfer, in the name of the person on whose behalf the share certificate is deposited for the purpose of having the transfer registered.

	5.5 Enquiry as to Title Not Required.
	5.6 Transfer Fee.

	Part 6  TRANSMISSION OF SHARES
	6.1 Legal Personal Representative Recognized on Death.
	6.2 Rights of Legal Personal Representative.

	Part 7  PURCHASE OF SHARES
	7.1 Company Authorized to Purchase Shares.
	7.2 Purchase When Insolvent.
	(a) the Company is insolvent; or
	(b) making the payment or providing the consideration would render the Company insolvent.

	7.3 Sale and Voting of Purchased Shares.
	(a) is not entitled to vote the share at a meeting of its shareholders;
	(b) must not pay a dividend in respect of the share; and
	(c) must not make any other distribution in respect of the share.


	Part 8  BORROWING POWERS
	8.1 Powers of Directors.
	(a) borrow money in the manner and amount, on the security, from the sources and on the terms and conditions that the directors consider appropriate;
	(b) issue bonds, debentures and other debt obligations either outright or as security for any liability or obligation of the Company or any other person;
	(c) guarantee the repayment of money by any other person or the performance of any obligation of any other person; and
	(d) mortgage or charge, whether by way of specific or floating charge, or give other security on the whole or any part of the present and future undertaking of the Company.

	8.2 Terms of Debt Instruments.
	8.3 Delegation by Directors.

	Part 9  ALTERATIONS
	9.1 Alteration of Authorized Share Structure.
	(a) create one or more classes or series of shares or, if none of the shares of a class or series of shares is allotted or issued, eliminate that class or series of shares;
	(b) increase, reduce or eliminate the maximum number of shares that the Company is authorized to issue out of any class or series of shares or establish a maximum number of shares that the Company is authorized to issue out of any class or series of s...
	(c) subdivide or consolidate all or any of its unissued, or fully paid issued, shares;
	(d) if the Company is authorized to issue shares of a class of shares with par value:
	(i) decrease the par value of those shares; or
	(ii) if none of the shares of that class of shares is allotted or issued, increase the par value of those shares;

	(e) change all or any of its unissued, or fully paid issued, shares with par value into shares without par value or any of its unissued shares without par value into shares with par value;
	(f) alter the identifying name of any of its shares; or
	(g) otherwise alter its shares or authorized share structure when required or permitted to do so by the Business Corporations Act.

	9.2 Special Rights and Restrictions.
	(a) create special rights or restrictions for, and attach those special rights or restrictions to, the shares of any class or series of shares, whether or not any or all of those shares have been issued; or
	(b) vary or delete any special rights or restrictions attached to the shares of any class or series of shares, whether or not any or all of those shares have been issued.

	9.3 Company Alterations

	Part 10  MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS
	10.1 Annual General Meetings.
	10.2 Resolution Instead of Annual General Meeting.
	10.3 Calling of Shareholder Meetings.
	10.4 Location of Shareholder Meetings.
	10.5 Notice for Meetings of Shareholders.
	(a) if and for so long as the Company is a public company, 21 days; and
	(b) otherwise, 10 days.

	10.6 Record Date for Notice.
	(a) if and for so long as the Company is a public company, 21 days; and
	(b) otherwise, 10 days.

	10.7 Record Date for Voting.
	10.8 Failure to Give Notice and Waiver of Notice.
	10.9 Notice of Special Business at Meetings of Shareholders.
	(a) state the general nature of the special business; and
	(b) if the special business includes considering, approving, ratifying, adopting or authorizing any document or the signing of or giving of effect to any document, have attached to it a copy of the document or state that a copy of the document will be...
	(i) at the Company’s records office, or at such other reasonably accessible location in British Columbia as is specified in the notice; and
	(ii) during statutory business hours on any one or more specified days before the day set for the holding of the meeting.



	Part 11  PROCEEDINGS AT MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS
	11.1 Special Business.
	(a) at a meeting of shareholders that is not an annual general meeting, all business is special business except business relating to the conduct of or voting at the meeting;
	(b) at an annual general meeting, all business is special business except for the following:
	(i) business relating to the conduct of, or voting at, the meeting;
	(ii) consideration of any financial statements of the Company presented to the meeting;
	(iii) consideration of any reports of the directors or auditor;
	(iv) the setting or changing of the number of directors;
	(v) the election or appointment of directors;
	(vi) the appointment of an auditor;
	(vii) business arising out of a report of the directors not requiring the passing of a special resolution or an exceptional resolution; and
	(viii) any other business which, under these Articles or the Business Corporations Act, may be transacted at a meeting of shareholders without prior notice of the business being given to the shareholders.


	11.2 Special Majority.
	11.3 Quorum.
	11.4 One Shareholder May Constitute Quorum.
	(a) the quorum is one person who is, or who represents by proxy, that shareholder; and
	(b) that shareholder, present in person or by proxy, may constitute the meeting.

	11.5 Meetings by Telephone or Other Communications Medium.
	11.6 Other Persons May Attend.
	11.7 Requirement of Quorum.
	11.8 Lack of Quorum.
	(a) in the case of a general meeting convened by requisition of shareholders, the meeting is dissolved; and
	(b) in the case of any other meeting of shareholders, the meeting stands adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place, or at such other date, time or location as the chair specifies on the adjournment.

	11.9 Lack of Quorum at Succeeding Meeting.
	11.10 Chair.
	(a) the chair of the board, if any; and
	(b) if the chair of the board is absent or unwilling to act as chair of the meeting, the president, if any.

	11.11 Selection of Alternate Chair.
	11.12 Adjournments.
	11.13 Notice of Adjourned Meeting.
	11.14 Decisions by Show of Hands or Poll.
	11.15 Declaration of Result.
	11.16 Motion Need Not Be Seconded.
	11.17 Casting Vote.
	11.18 Manner of Taking a Poll.
	(a) the poll must be taken:
	(i) at the meeting, or within seven days after the date of the meeting, as the chair of the meeting directs; and
	(ii) in the manner, at the time and at the place that the chair of the meeting directs;

	(b) the result of the poll is deemed to be a resolution of and passed at the meeting at which the poll is demanded; and
	(c) the demand for the poll may be withdrawn by the person who demanded it.

	11.19 Demand for a Poll on Adjournment.
	11.20 Chair Must Resolve Dispute.
	11.21 Casting of Votes.
	11.22 Demand for Poll.
	11.23 Demand for a Poll Not to Prevent Continuation of Meeting.
	11.24 Retention of Ballots and Proxies.

	Part 12  VOTES OF SHAREHOLDERS
	12.1 Number of Votes by Shareholder or by Shares.
	(a) on a vote by show of hands, every person present who is a shareholder or proxy holder and entitled to vote at the meeting has one vote, and
	(b) on a poll, every shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting has one vote in respect of each share held by that shareholder and may exercise that vote either in person or by proxy.

	12.2 Votes of Persons in Representative Capacity.
	12.3 Votes by Joint Shareholders.
	(a) any one of the joint shareholders may vote at any meeting, either personally or by proxy, in respect of the share as if that joint shareholder were solely entitled to it; or
	(b) if more than one of the joint shareholders is present at any meeting, personally or by proxy, and more than one of them votes in respect of that share, then only the vote of the joint shareholder present whose name stands first on the central secu...

	12.4 Legal Personal Representatives as Joint Shareholders.
	12.5 Representative of a Corporate Shareholder.
	(a) for that purpose, the instrument appointing a representative must:
	(i) be received at the registered office of the Company or at any other place specified, in the notice calling the meeting, for the receipt of proxies, at least the number of business days specified in the notice for the receipt of proxies or, if no n...
	(ii) be provided, at the meeting, to the chair of the meeting or to a person designated by the chair of the meeting; and

	(b) if a representative is appointed under this Article 12.5:
	(i) the representative is entitled to exercise in respect of and at that meeting the same rights on behalf of the corporation that the representative represents as that corporation could exercise if it were a shareholder who is an individual, includin...
	(ii) the representative, if present at the meeting, is to be counted for the purpose of forming a quorum and is deemed to be a shareholder present in person at the meeting.


	12.6 Proxy Provisions Do Not Apply to All Companies.
	12.7 Appointment of Proxy Holder.
	12.8 Alternate Proxy Holders.
	12.9 When Proxy Holder Need Not Be Shareholder.
	(a) the person appointing the proxy holder is a corporation or a representative of a corporation appointed under Article 12.5;
	(b) the Company has at the time of the meeting for which the proxy holder is to be appointed only one shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting;
	(c) the shareholders present in person or by proxy at and entitled to vote at the meeting for which the proxy holder is to be appointed, by a resolution on which the proxy holder is not entitled to vote but in respect of which the proxy holder is to b...
	(d) the Company is a public company.

	12.10 Deposit of Proxy.
	(a) be received at the registered office of the Company or at any other place specified, in the notice calling the meeting, for the receipt of proxies, at least the number of business days specified in the notice, or if no number of days is specified,...
	(b) unless the notice provides otherwise, be provided, at the meeting, to the chair of the meeting or to a person designated by the chair of the meeting.

	12.11 Validity of Proxy Vote.
	(a) at the registered office of the Company, at any time up to and including the last business day before the day set for the holding of the meeting at which the proxy is to be used; or
	(b) by the chair of the meeting, before the vote is taken.

	12.12 Form of Proxy.
	12.13 Revocation of Proxy.
	(a) received at the registered office of the Company at any time up to and including the last business day before the day set for the holding of the meeting at which the proxy is to be used; or
	(b) provided, at the meeting, to the chair of the meeting.

	12.14 Revocation of Proxy Must Be Signed.
	(a) if the shareholder for whom the proxy holder is appointed is an individual, the instrument must be signed by the shareholder or his or her legal personal representative or trustee in bankruptcy; or
	(b) if the shareholder for whom the proxy holder is appointed is a corporation, the instrument must be signed by the corporation or by a representative appointed for the corporation under Article 12.5.

	12.15 Production of Evidence of Authority to Vote.

	Part 13  DIRECTORS
	13.1 Number of Directors.
	(a) if the Company is a public company, the greater of three and the most recently set of:
	(i) the number of directors set by ordinary resolution (whether or not previous notice of the resolution was given); and
	(ii) the number of directors set under Article 14.4;

	(b) if the Company is not a public company, the most recently set of:
	(i) the number of directors set by ordinary resolution (whether or not previous notice of the resolution was given); and
	(ii) the number of directors set under Article 14.4.


	13.2 Change in Number of Directors.
	(a) the shareholders may elect or appoint the directors needed to fill any vacancies in the board of directors up to that number;
	(b) if the shareholders do not elect or appoint the directors needed to fill any vacancies in the board of directors up to that number contemporaneously with the setting of that number, then the directors may appoint, or the shareholders may elect or ...

	13.3 Directors’ Acts Valid Despite Vacancy.
	13.4 Qualifications of Directors.
	13.5 Remuneration of Directors.
	13.6 Reimbursement of Expenses of Directors.
	13.7 Special Remuneration for Directors.
	13.8 Gratuity, Pension or Allowance on Retirement of Director.

	Part 14  ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
	14.1 Election at Annual General Meeting.
	(a) the shareholders entitled to vote at the annual general meeting for the election of directors must elect, or in the unanimous resolution appoint, a board of directors consisting of the number of directors for the time being set under these Article...
	(b) all the directors cease to hold office immediately before the election or appointment of directors under paragraph (a), but are eligible for re-election or re-appointment.

	14.2 Consent to be a Director.
	(a) that individual consents to be a director in the manner provided for in the Business Corporations Act; or
	(b) that individual is elected or appointed at a meeting at which the individual is present and the individual does not refuse, at the meeting, to be a director.

	14.3 Failure to Elect or Appoint Directors.
	(a) the Company fails to hold an annual general meeting, and all the shareholders who are entitled to vote at an annual general meeting fail to pass the unanimous resolution contemplated by Article 10.2, on or before the date by which the annual gener...
	(b) the shareholders fail, at the annual general meeting or in the unanimous resolution contemplated by Article 10.2, to elect or appoint any directors;
	(c) the date on which his or her successor is elected or appointed; and
	(d) the date on which he or she otherwise ceases to hold office under the Business Corporations Act or these Articles.

	14.4 Places of Retiring Directors Not Filled.
	14.5 Directors May Fill Casual Vacancies.
	14.6 Remaining Directors Power to Act.
	14.7 Shareholders May Fill Vacancies.
	14.8 Additional Directors.
	(a) one-third of the number of first directors, if, at the time of the appointments, one or more of the first directors have not yet completed their first term of office; or
	(b) in any other case, one-third of the number of the current directors who were elected or appointed as directors other than under this Article 14.8.

	14.9 Ceasing to be a Director.
	(a) the term of office of the director expires;
	(b) the director dies;
	(c) the director resigns as a director by notice in writing provided to the Company or a lawyer for the Company; or
	(d) the director is removed from office pursuant to Articles 14.10 or 14.11.

	14.10 Removal of Director by Shareholders.
	14.11 Removal of Director by Directors.

	Part 15  POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS
	15.1 Powers of Management.
	15.2 Appointment of Attorney of Company.

	Part 16  DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
	16.1 Obligation to Account for Profits.
	16.2 Restrictions on Voting by Reason of Interest.
	16.3 Interested Director Counted in Quorum.
	16.4 Disclosure of Conflict of Interest or Property.
	16.5 Director Holding Other Office in the Company.
	16.6 No Disqualification.
	16.7 Professional Services by Director or Officer.
	16.8 Director or Officer in Other Corporations.

	Part 17  PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS
	17.1 Meetings of Directors.
	17.2 Voting at Meetings.
	17.3 Chair of Meetings.
	(a) the chair of the board, if any;
	(b) in the absence of the chair of the board, the president, if any, if the president is a director; or
	(c) any other director chosen by the directors if:
	(i) neither the chair of the board nor the president, if a director, is present at the meeting within 15 minutes after the time set for holding the meeting;
	(ii) neither the chair of the board nor the president, if a director, is willing to chair the meeting; or
	(iii) the chair of the board and the president, if a director, have advised the secretary, if any, or any other director, that they will not be present at the meeting.


	17.4 Meetings by Telephone or Other Communications Medium.
	17.5 Calling of Meetings.
	17.6 Notice of Meetings.
	17.7 When Notice Not Required.
	(a) the meeting is to be held immediately following a meeting of shareholders at which that director was elected or appointed or is the meeting of the directors at which that director is appointed; or
	(b) the director has waived notice of the meeting.

	17.8 Meeting Valid Despite Failure to Give Notice.
	17.9 Waiver of Notice of Meetings.
	17.10 Quorum.
	17.11 Validity of Acts Where Appointment Defective.
	17.12 Consent Resolutions in Writing.

	Part 18  EXECUTIVE AND OTHER COMMITTEES
	18.1 Appointment and Powers of Executive Committee.
	(a) the power to fill vacancies in the board of directors;
	(b) the power to remove a director;
	(c) the power to change the membership of, or fill vacancies in, any committee of the directors; and
	(d) such other powers, if any, as may be set out in the resolution or any subsequent directors’ resolution.

	18.2 Appointment and Powers of Other Committees.
	(a) appoint one or more committees (other than the executive committee) consisting of the director or directors that they consider appropriate;
	(b) delegate to a committee appointed under paragraph (a) any of the directors’ powers, except:
	(i) the power to fill vacancies in the board of directors;
	(ii) the power to remove a director;
	(iii) the power to change the membership of, or fill vacancies in, any committee of the board, and
	(iv) the power to appoint or remove officers appointed by the board; and

	(c) make any delegation referred to in paragraph (b) subject to the conditions set out in the resolution.

	18.3 Obligations of Committee.
	(a) conform to any rules that may from time to time be imposed on it by the directors; and
	(b) report every act or thing done in exercise of those powers as the directors may require.

	18.4 Powers of Board.
	(a) revoke or alter the authority given to a committee, or override a decision made by a committee, except as to acts done before such revocation, alteration or overriding;
	(b) terminate the appointment of, or change the membership of, a committee; and
	(c) fill vacancies on a committee.

	18.5 Committee Meetings.
	(a) the committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper;
	(b) the committee may elect a chair of its meetings but, if no chair of the meeting is elected, or if at any meeting the chair of the meeting is not present within 15 minutes after the time set for holding the meeting, the directors present who are me...
	(c) a majority of the members of a directors’ committee constitutes a quorum of the committee; and
	(d) questions arising at any meeting of the committee are determined by a majority of votes of the members present, and in case of an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting has no second or casting vote.


	Part 19  OFFICERS
	19.1 Appointment of Officers.
	19.2 Functions, Duties and Powers of Officers.
	(a) determine the functions and duties of the officer;
	(b) entrust to and confer on the officer any of the powers exercisable by the directors on such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as the directors think fit; and
	(c) revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any of the functions, duties and powers of the officer.

	19.3 Qualifications.
	19.4 Remuneration.

	Part 20  INDEMNIFICATION
	20.1 Definitions.
	(a) “eligible penalty” means a judgment, penalty or fine awarded or imposed in, or an amount paid in settlement of, an eligible proceeding;
	(b) “eligible proceeding” means a legal proceeding or investigative action, whether current, threatened, pending or completed, in which a director, former director of the Company or an affiliate of the Company (an “eligible party”) or any of the heirs...
	(i) is or may be joined as a party; or
	(ii) is or may be liable for or in respect of a judgment, penalty or fine in, or expenses related to, the proceeding;

	(c) “expenses” has the meaning set out in the Business Corporations Act.

	20.2 Mandatory Indemnification of Directors and Former Directors.
	20.3 Indemnification of Other Persons.
	20.4 Non-Compliance with Business Corporations Act.
	20.5 Company May Purchase Insurance.
	(a) is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company;
	(b) is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of a corporation at a time when the corporation is or was an affiliate of the Company;
	(c) at the request of the Company, is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of a corporation or of a partnership, trust, joint venture or other unincorporated entity;
	(d) at the request of the Company, holds or held a position equivalent to that of a director or officer of a partnership, trust, joint venture or other unincorporated entity;


	Part 21  DIVIDENDS
	21.1 Payment of Dividends Subject to Special Rights.
	21.2 Declaration of Dividends.
	21.3 No Notice Required.
	21.4 Record Date.
	21.5 Manner of Paying Dividend.
	21.6 Settlement of Difficulties.
	(a) set the value for distribution of specific assets;
	(b) determine that cash payments in substitution for all or any part of the specific assets to which any shareholders are entitled may be made to any shareholders on the basis of the value so fixed in order to adjust the rights of all parties; and
	(c) vest any such specific assets in trustees for the persons entitled to the dividend.

	21.7 When Dividend Payable.
	21.8 Dividends to be Paid in Accordance with Number of Shares.
	21.9 Receipt by Joint Shareholders.
	21.10 Dividend Bears No Interest.
	21.11 Fractional Dividends.
	21.12 Payment of Dividends.
	21.13 Capitalization of Surplus.

	Part 22  DOCUMENTS, RECORDS AND REPORTS
	22.1 Recording of Financial Affairs.
	22.2 Inspection of Accounting Records.
	22.3 Remuneration of Auditors.

	Part 23  NOTICES
	23.1 Method of Giving Notice.
	(a) mail addressed to the person at the applicable address for that person as follows:
	(i) for a record mailed to a shareholder, the shareholder’s registered address;
	(ii) for a record mailed to a director or officer, the prescribed address for mailing shown for the director or officer in the records kept by the Company or the mailing address provided by the recipient for the sending of that record or records of th...
	(iii) in any other case, the mailing address of the intended recipient;

	(b) delivery at the applicable address for that person as follows, addressed to the person:
	(i) for a record delivered to a shareholder, the shareholder’s registered address;
	(ii) for a record delivered to a director or officer, the prescribed address for delivery shown for the director or officer in the records kept by the Company or the delivery address provided by the recipient for the sending of that record or records ...
	(iii) in any other case, the delivery address of the intended recipient;

	(c) sending the record by fax to the fax number provided by the intended recipient for the sending of that record or records of that class;
	(d) sending the record, or a reference providing the intended recipient with immediate access to the record, by electronic communication to an address provided by the intended recipient for the sending of that record or records of that class;
	(e) sending the record by any method of transmitting legibly recorded messages, including without limitation by digital medium, magnetic medium, optical medium, mechanical reproduction or graphic imaging, to an address provided by the intended recipie...
	(f) physical delivery to the intended recipient.

	23.2 Deemed Receipt.
	23.3 Certificate of Sending.
	23.4 Notice to Joint Shareholders.
	23.5 Notice to Trustees.
	(a) mailing the record, addressed to them:
	(i) by name, by the title of the legal personal representative of the deceased or incapacitated shareholder, by the title of trustee of the bankrupt shareholder or by any similar description; and
	(ii) at the address, if any, supplied to the Company for that purpose by the persons claiming to be so entitled; or

	(b) if an address referred to in paragraph (a)(ii) has not been supplied to the Company, by giving the notice in a manner in which it might have been given if the death, bankruptcy or incapacity had not occurred.


	Part 24  SEAL
	24.1 Who May Attest Seal.
	(a) any two directors;
	(b) any officer, together with any director;
	(c) if the Company only has one director, that director; or
	(d) any one or more directors or officers or persons as may be determined by resolution of the directors.

	24.2 Sealing Copies.
	24.3 Mechanical Reproduction of Seal.

	Part 25  PROHIBITIONS
	25.1 Definitions.
	(a) “designated security” means:
	(i) a voting security of the Company;
	(ii) a security of the Company that is not a debt security and that carries a residual right to participate in the earnings of the Company or, on the liquidation or winding up of the Company, in its assets; or
	(iii) a security of the Company convertible, directly or indirectly, into a security described in paragraph (a) or (b);

	(b) “security” has the meaning assigned in the Securities Act (British Columbia);
	(c) “voting security” means a security of the Company that:
	(i) is not a debt security, and
	(ii) carries a voting right either under all circumstances or under some circumstances that have occurred and are continuing.


	25.2 Application.
	25.3 Consent Required for Transfer of Shares or Designated Securities.

	Part 26  SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS ATTACHED TO SUBORDINATE VOTING SHARES
	26.1 Voting
	26.2 Alteration to Rights of Subordinate Voting Shares
	(a) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right attached to the Subordinate Voting Shares; or
	(b) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares or Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis as provided for herein.

	26.3 Dividends
	(a)
	(ii) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Proportionate Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Proportionate Voting Share equal to the amount of the dividend declared per Subordinate Voting Share, multiplied by 80; and
	(b)

	(ii) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Multiple Voting Share equal to the amount of the dividend declared per Subordinate Voting Share.

	26.4 Liquidation Rights
	26.5 Subdivision or Consolidation
	26.6 Conversion of the Shares Upon An Offer
	(a) required, pursuant to applicable securities legislation or the rules of any stock exchange on which: (i) the Proportionate Voting Shares; or (ii) the Subordinate Voting Shares which may be obtained upon conversion of the Proportionate Voting Share...
	(b) not made to the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares for consideration per Subordinate Voting Share equal to 0.0125 of the consideration offered per Proportionate Voting Share;
	(i) give written notice of exercise of the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right to the transfer agent for the Subordinate Voting Shares, and of the number of Subordinate Voting Shares in respect of which the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Ri...
	(ii) deliver to the transfer agent for the Subordinate Voting Shares any share certificate or certificates representing the Subordinate Voting Shares in respect of which the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right is being exercised; and
	(iii) pay any applicable stamp tax or similar duty on or in respect of such conversion.



	Part 27  SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS ATTACHED TO PROPORTIONATE VOTING SHARES
	27.1 Voting
	27.2 Alteration to Rights of Proportionate Voting Shares
	(a) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right attached to the Proportionate Voting Shares; or
	(b) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares or Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis as provided for herein.

	27.3 Shares Superior to Proportionate Voting Shares
	(a) The Company may take no action which would authorize or create shares of any class or series having preferences superior to or on a parity with the Proportionate Voting Shares without the consent of the holders of a majority of the Proportionate V...
	(b) At any meeting of holders of Proportionate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares called to consider such a separate ordinary resolution, each Proportionate Voting Share and Multiple Voting Share will entitle the holder to one (1) vote and each ...

	27.4 Dividends
	(a) The holders of Proportionate Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive such dividends payable in cash or property of the Company as may be declared by the directors from time to time. The directors may declare no dividend payable in cash or prope...
	(b) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Proportionate Voting Shares on the Proportionate Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Proportionate Voting Shares on the Subordinate ...
	(c) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Subordinate Voting Shares on the Proportionate Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Voti...
	(d) Holders of fractional Proportionate Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive any dividend declared on the Proportionate Voting Shares, in an amount equal to the dividend per Proportionate Voting Share multiplied by the fraction thereof held by s...

	27.5 Liquidation Rights
	27.6 Subdivision or Consolidation
	27.7 Voluntary Conversion
	(a) Right to Convert Proportionate Voting Shares. Each Proportionate Voting Share shall be convertible at the option of the holder into such number of Subordinate Voting Shares as is determined by multiplying the number of Proportionate Voting Shares ...
	(b) Conversion Limitation Officer. Unless already appointed, upon receipt of a Conversion Notice (as defined below) for the period (the “Restricted Conversion Period”) prior to the date that is the later of six (6) months following December 31, 2018 a...
	(c) Foreign Private Issuer Status. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain its status as a “foreign private issuer” (as determined in accordance with Rule 3b-4 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Excha...
	(d) Conversion Limitation. In order to give effect to the FPI Restriction, the number of Subordinate Voting Shares issuable to a holder of Proportionate Voting Shares upon exercise by such holder of the Share Conversion Right during the Restricted Con...
	(e) Disputes.
	(i) Any holder of Proportionate Voting Shares who beneficially owns more than 5% of the issued and outstanding Proportionate Voting Shares may submit a written dispute as to the calculation of the 40% Threshold or the FPI Restriction by the Conversion...
	(ii) In the event of a dispute as to the number of Subordinate Voting Shares issuable to a holder of Proportionate Voting Shares in connection with a voluntary conversion of Proportionate Voting Shares, the Company shall issue to the holder of Proport...

	(f) Mechanics of Conversion. Before any holder of Proportionate Voting Shares shall be entitled to voluntarily convert Proportionate Voting Shares into Subordinate Voting Shares in accordance with Articles 27.7(a), the holder shall surrender the certi...


	Part 28  SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS ATTACHED TO MULTIPLE VOTING SHARES
	28.1 Voting
	28.2 Alteration to Rights of Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right attached to the Multiple Voting Shares; or
	(b) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis as provided for herein.

	28.3 Shares Superior to Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) The Company may take no action which would authorize or create shares of any class or series having preferences superior to or on a parity with the Multiple Voting Shares without the consent of the holders of a majority of the Multiple Voting Shar...
	(b) At any meeting of holders of Multiple Voting Shares called to consider such a separate ordinary resolution, each Multiple Voting Share will entitle the holder to one (1) vote and each fraction of a Multiple Voting Share shall entitle the holder to...

	28.4 Dividends
	(a) The holders of Multiple Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive such dividends payable in cash or property of the Company as may be declared by the directors from time to time. The directors may declare no dividend payable in cash or property o...
	(b) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Proportionate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Proportionate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Votin...
	(c) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Subordinate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Voting Sh...
	(d) Holders of fractional Multiple Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive any dividend declared on the Multiple Voting Shares, in an amount equal to the dividend per Multiple Voting Share multiplied by the fraction thereof held by such holder.

	28.5 Liquidation Rights
	28.6 Subdivision or Consolidation
	28.7 Transfer of Multiple Voting Shares
	28.8 Mandatory Conversion of Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) Definitions. In this Article 28.8 and 28.9:
	(i) “4Front” means 4Front Holdings LLC;
	(ii) “BC HoldCo” means 1196260 B.C. Ltd.;
	(iii) “Business Combination” means the completion of the combination of the businesses of 4Front, Nevada HoldCo, BC HoldCo and Cannex Capital Holdings Inc. pursuant to the Definitive Agreement;
	(iv) “Definitive Agreement” means the business combination agreement between, inter alia, 4Front, Nevada HoldCo, BC HoldCo and Cannex Capital Holdings Inc. dated <@>, 2019;
	(v) “Disability” means such holder (i) has been declared legally incompetent by a final court decree (the date of such decree being deemed to be the date on which the disability occurred), or (ii) has been found to be mentally disabled pursuant to a D...
	(vi) “Initial Holders” means the holders of Multiple Voting Shares as of the date of initial issuance of Multiple Voting Shares.
	(vii) “Involuntary Transfer Event” occurs in the event that an Initial Holder (a) files a voluntary petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or a petition for the appointment of a receiver or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, (b...
	(viii) “Nevada HoldCo means 4Front Ventures Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada.

	(b) Mandatory Conversion. Multiple Voting Shares are not convertible until the later of the date (the “Initial Conversion Date”) that (i) the aggregate number of Proportionate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares held by the Initial Holders are re...
	(i) the date of the Mandatory Conversion Event;
	(ii) the number of Subordinate Voting Shares into which the Multiple Voting Shares held by such holder have been converted.


	28.9 Transfers Prior to Initial Conversion Date
	(a) Limitation on Transfers. Subject to Section 28.7, an Initial Holder is permitted to Transfer Multiple Voting Shares prior to the Initial Conversion Date to another Initial Holder without compliance with this Section 28.9.
	(b) Purchase Obligation Upon Certain Events. Prior to the Initial Conversion Date, upon: (i) the death or Disability of an Initial Holder the other Initial Holders shall have the obligation to purchase all of such Initial Holder’s Multiple Voting Shar...
	(c) Notice of Purchase Obligation.  Promptly following an event triggering a Purchase Obligation, the Transferring Initial Holder shall send a written notice to the Company and other Initial Holders setting forth the event triggering the Purchase Obli...
	(d) Purchase Obligation Terms.
	(i) The closing shall be on or before the thirtieth day following the transmittal of the notice of the Purchase Obligation (the “Closing”).  At the Closing:  (i) the purchasing Initial Holder shall deliver to the Transferring Initial Holder the purcha...
	(ii) The per share price of the Subject Multiple Voting Shares to be purchased pursuant to this Section 28.9 shall be the Fair Market Value of the Subordinate Voting Shares as of the date prior to the date of the event triggering the Purchase Obligati...
	(iii) The purchase price of any Subject Multiple Voting Shares purchased pursuant to this Section 28.9 shall be paid in any combination of cash, by wire transfer, by certified or cashier’s check, or by a promissory note containing the terms set forth ...

	(e) Note Terms.
	(i) Any Note shall be paid in no more than 12 equal quarterly installments of principal and interest, and the first installment of which shall be due 90 days after the Closing.
	(ii) Any Note shall bear interest on such principal amount at the minimum rate established pursuant to IRS Code Sections 483 and 1274 necessary to avoid any imputed interest or original issue discount being attributed to the Note holder.  The Note sha...
	(iii) Any Note shall be secured by a pledge of such number of the purchasing Initial Holder’s Proportionate Voting Shares or Subordinate Voting Shares or such other assets (excluding the Multiple Voting Shares being acquired) such that the Pledged Val...
	(iv) As long as the Note is not in default, the purchasing Initial Holder shall be entitled to receive all dividends on such Multiple Voting Shares and to exercise all voting rights with respect to such Multiple Voting Shares.
	(v) Failure to make any payment required by a Note within 10 days after its due date shall constitute a default and shall cause the remaining unpaid balance to become immediately due and payable, at the holder’s option, and the Transferring Initial Ho...


	28.10 Extension of Offer to Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) required: (i) pursuant to applicable securities legislation or the rules of any stock exchange on which the Proportionate Voting Shares may then be listed, to be made to all or substantially all of the holders of Proportionate Voting Shares in a p...
	(b) such MVS Offer shall be extended by the offeror to the holders of Multiple Voting Shares (which shall not be required to convert in order to participate in the MVS Offer) for consideration per Multiple Voting Share equal to: (i) 0.0125 of the cons...
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	AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF CONVERSION
	by and among
	4FRONT HOLDINGS, LLC
	4FRONT VENTURES INC.
	4FRONT CAN/AM INVESTCO INC.
	and
	JOSHUA ROSEN
	Dated as of March 22, 2019
	AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF CONVERSION
	ARTICLE I   DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION; CONSTRUCTION
	1.1. Definitions
	1.2. Interpretation; Construction
	(a)   The table of contents and headings herein are for convenience of reference only, do not constitute part of this Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or otherwise affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
	(b)   No summary of this Agreement prepared by a party hereto shall affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
	(c)   Where a reference in this Agreement is made to an Article, Section or Exhibit, such reference shall be to an Article or Section of or Exhibit to this Agreement, unless otherwise indicated.
	(d)   Where a reference in a Section of this Agreement is made to clause, such reference shall be to a clause of such Section, unless otherwise indicated.
	(e)   The words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder” and “hereby” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall, unless otherwise indicated, refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.
	(f)   Whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation,” unless otherwise indicated.
	(g)   All pronouns and all variations thereof shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of the Person may require.
	(h)   Where a word or phrase is defined herein, each of its other grammatical forms shall have a corresponding meaning.
	(i)   A reference to any party to this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall include such party’s predecessors, successors and permitted assigns.
	(j)   A reference to any Law in this Agreement means such Law as amended, modified, codified, replaced or reenacted, and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
	(k)   All references to “$” in this Agreement are to United States dollars.
	(l)   The parties have participated jointly in negotiating and drafting this Agreement. In the event that an ambiguity or a question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties, and no pre...


	ARTICLE II   The CONTINUANCE AND VOTING RIGHTS
	2.1. The Continuance
	2.2. Shareholder Approval and Grant of Contractual Voting Rights.
	(a)   Joshua Rosen, the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date for the special meeting to approve the Continuance and the Arrangement, is the only shareholder of record entitled to vote on the Meeting Proposals.
	(b)   The Parties agree that it is in the best interests of the Constituent Shareholders to permit them to consider the Meeting Proposals and to vote their Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, Class B Proportionate Voting Shares or Class C Multiple Voti...
	(i)        Joshua Rosen, as the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date, will vote his common shares in accordance with the Constituent Shareholders by voting his common shares (1) in favor of the equity incentive plans if a majority of t...
	(ii)        Joshua Rosen, as the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date, will vote his common shares in accordance with the Constituent Shareholders by voting his common shares (1) in favor of the Continuance if a majority of the voting ...
	(iii)       Joshua Rosen, as the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date, will vote his common shares in accordance with the Constituent Shareholders by voting his common shares (1) in favor of the Arrangement if (x) at least 66⅔% of the ...

	(c)   The Parties agree that it is in the best interests of the Constituent Shareholders to grant them dissent rights in relation to the Continuance and the Arrangement as though they were shareholders on the record date, and Nevada Holdco hereby agre...
	(d)   Nevada Holdco agrees to convene and conduct the Meeting on the Meeting Date, subject to any adjournment or postponement thereof as contemplated in the information circular relating to the Meeting;
	(e)   Nevada Holdco agrees to provide notice of the Meeting and Meeting Date to each of the Constituent Shareholders and permit them to exercise their Contractual Voting Rights and vote at the Meeting;

	2.3. Effective Time
	2.4. Effect of Continuance.
	(a)          The name of the Continued Corporation will be “4Front Ventures Corp.”;
	(b)          The Notice of Articles and Articles of the Continued Corporation at the Effective Time will be in a form agreed to by the Parties, acting reasonably, and will reflect an authorized capital consisting of (i) an unlimited number of Class A ...
	(c)          By virtue of the Continuance and without any further action on the part of Nevada Holdco, the Continued Corporation or its shareholders:

	2.5. Closing
	2.6. Necessary Further Actions

	ARTICLE III   TAXES
	3.1. Tax Treatment.
	3.2. Tax Certification

	ARTICLE IV   Corporation Securities
	4.1. Effect on Outstanding Securities
	4.2. U.S. Securities Law Compliance.

	ARTICLE V   Conditions
	5.1. Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation to Effect the Continuance
	(a)   Shareholder Approval. The Continuance shall have been duly adopted by the holders of record on the record date, voting pursuant to the Contractual Voting Rights, constituting the majority vote in accordance with applicable Law and the certificat...
	(b)   Orders. No Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is in effect and has the effect of making the Continuance illegal or...
	(c)   Combination Agreement.  The conditions set forth in Article 3 of the Combination Agreement shall have been fulfilled, satisfied or waived by mutual consent.
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	AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF CONVERSION
	1. DEFINED TERMS.
	Except as described below, capitalized terms used, but not defined, in this Amendment shall have the meanings specified in the Agreement.

	2. Amendments to the Agreement.
	The following definitions in Section 1.1 of the Agreement are hereby amended and restated as follows:

	3. General Provisions.
	(a) Effectiveness.  The amendment set forth in this Amendment shall be effective as of the date first written above.
	(b)  Except as specifically amended by this Amendment, all provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
	(a) Interpretation.  For the avoidance of doubt, from and after the date of this Amendment, references in the Agreement to the “Agreement” or any provision thereof shall be deemed to refer to the Agreement or such provision as amended by this Amendmen...
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	1. CORPORATE STRUCTURE
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	Jurisdiction of Incorporation
	Inter-corporate Relationships
	Post-Business Combination

	2. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS
	Financing Activities of 4Front
	Financing Activities of Cannex
	Regulatory Overview
	Regulation of Cannabis in the United States Federally
	The Regulatory Landscape on a U.S. State Level

	3. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS
	General Business of Cannex
	General Business of 4Front
	(1) All costs are approximate and based on management’s best estimates.
	(2) Objectives being met depends on a number of factors, including completing additional financings. See “Risk Factors” and “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Market, Securities and Other Risks – Additional financing” in this Information Circular.
	(3) Over the next 12 months, the Resulting Issuer does not intend to expand operations in Arkansas.
	Purpose of Funds
	Forecast 12 Month Budget
	Ability to Access Public and Private Capital

	Research and Development

	4. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	Annual Information
	4Front’s Annual Information
	Cannex’s Annual Information
	(1) Information is derived from the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Cannex as of and for the period from Formation on February 23, 2017 to September 30, 2017 and for the seven months ended April 30, 2018, which statements were required to...
	(2) On June 28, 2019, Cannex elected to change its fiscal year end to July 31.


	See Exhibit “L-1”  – Financial Statements.
	Selected Annual Financial Information [NTD: 4Front to update upon receipt of audited statements]
	(1) Information is derived from the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Cannex as of and for the period from Formation on February 23, 2017 to September 30, 2017 and for the seven months ended April 30, 2018, which statements were required to...
	(2) After giving effect to the Business Combination.
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	Summary of the Resulting Issuer Equity Incentive Plans
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	General Description of the Share Capital of the Resulting Issuer
	Subordinate Voting Shares
	Debt Securities
	Upon conversion, the Resulting Issuer Notes will also be subject to customary adjustment provisions in the event of a subdivision or re-division of the outstanding Resulting Issuer Shares into a greater number of Resulting Issuer Subordinate Proportio...
	Cannex, 4Front, and GGP continue to work to determine the precise terms of the Resulting Issuer Notes, and therefore, the above is a general outline of the anticipated terms of the Resulting Issuer Notes only, which terms are subject to change.
	Other Securities
	Prior Sales
	(1) Class C Units are profit interest units. Granted at a time when the fair market value of the units of 4Front were $442.50.
	(2) Issued in connection with a private placement of Class D Units at a price of $442.50 per unit and the conversion of the May 2016 loan, with interest, into Class D Units at a price of $442.50 per unit. The total funds raised were approximately $13....
	(3) Issued in connection with the acquisition by 4Front in November 2018 of all of the outstanding shares of Healthy Pharms for $27 million, of which $20 million was paid in cash, $3.5 million of Class E Units and $3.5 million in a promissory note of ...
	(4) Issued in connection with a private placement of Class F Units for gross proceeds of $31,258,329. 4Front also issued one 4Front Liquidity Warrant for each Class F Unit issued and sold in the private placement. As the Liquidity Event did not occur ...
	(5) Issued in connection with the acquisition by 4Front in November 2018 of all of the outstanding ownership interests of MavMax, LLC.
	(6) Class C Units are profit interest units. Granted at a time when the fair market value of the units of 4Front were $486.75.
	(7) Issued in connection with the partial repayment of the principal and interest of the December 2016 officer loans.
	(8) Issued in connection with four acquisitions by 4Front in February 2019.
	(9) Issued in connection with three acquisitions by 4Front in March 2019.
	(10) Issued in connection with five acquisitions by 4Front in April 2019.
	(1) Issued to certain shareholders of Cannex pursuant to the Cannex-Arco RTO Amalgamation.
	(2) Issued to certain shareholders of Arco pursuant to the Cannex-Arco RTO Amalgamation.
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	(5) Principal amount of senior secured convertible note issued by Cannex in connection with Cannex Notes. On completion of the Business Combination, the Cannex Notes will be exchanged for Resulting Issuer Notes. If the conversion right under the Resul...
	(6) Each GGP Note Warrant A is exercisable to purchase one share at the warrant exercise price of US$1.00 for a period of 36 months from November 21, 2018. On completion of the Business Combination, each GGP Note Warrant A will be exchanged for Result...
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	(9) Issued upon conversion of the Subscription Receipts sold pursuant to the Cannex Private Placement (see Section 10.4 Other Securities). Each Resulting Issuer Agent Warrant will be exercisable for one Subordinate Voting Share at an exercise price of...
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	SECTION 1  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions
	(a) “Administrator” means such Executive or Employee of the Company as may be designated as Administrator by the Committee from time to time, or, if no such person is appointed, the Committee itself.
	(b) “Black-Out” means a restriction imposed by the Company on all or any of its directors, officers, employees, insiders or persons in a special relationship whereby they are to refrain from trading in the Company’s securities until the restriction ha...
	(c) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
	(d) “Change of Control” means an occurrence when either:
	(i) a Person or Entity, other than the current “control person” of the Company (as that term is defined in the Securities Act), becomes a “control person” of the Company; or
	(ii) a majority of the directors elected at any annual or extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of the Company are not individuals nominated by the Company’s then- incumbent Board.

	(e) “Class A Shares” means the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shares.
	(f) “Class B Shares” means the Company’s Class B proportionate voting shares.
	(g) “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder.
	(h) “Committee” means a committee of the Board to which the responsibility of approving the grant of stock options has been delegated, or if no such committee is appointed, the Board itself.  At any time that the Company is an SEC registrant and is no...
	(i) “Company” means 4Front Ventures Corp.
	(j) “Consultant” means an individual who:
	(i) is engaged to provide, on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Company or any Subsidiary, other than services provided in relation to a “distribution” (as that term is described in the Securities A...
	(ii) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any Subsidiary and the individual or a Consultant Entity (as defined in clause (v) below);
	(iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Company or any Subsidiary; and
	(iv) has a relationship with the Company or any Subsidiary that enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Company or is otherwise permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as a Consultant or ...
	(v) a corporation of which the individual is an employee or shareholder or a partnership of which the individual is an employee or partner (a “Consultant Entity”); or
	(vi) an RRSP or RRIF established by or for the individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(k) “Disability” means a medically determinable physical or mental impairment expected to result in death or to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, and which causes an individual to be unable to engage in any substantial gainful a...
	(l) “Employee” means:
	(i) an individual who works full-time or part-time for the Company or any Subsidiary and such other individual as may, from time to time, be permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as an employee or as an equivalent thereto; or
	(ii) an individual who works for the Company or any Subsidiary either full-time or on a continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and d...
	(iii) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(iv) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(m) “Exchange” means the stock exchange upon which the Class A Shares principally trade.
	(n) “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
	(o) “Executive” means an individual who is a director or officer of the Company or a Subsidiary, and includes:
	(i) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(ii) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(p) “Exercise Notice” means the written notice of the exercise of an Option, in the form set out as Schedule B hereto, duly executed by the Option Holder.
	(q) “Exercise Period” means the period during which a particular Option may be exercised and is the period from and including the Grant Date through to and including the Expiry Time on the Expiry Date provided, however, that no Option can be exercised...
	(r) “Exercise Price” means the price at which an Option is exercisable as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(s) “Expiry Date” means the date the Option expires as set out in the Option Certificate or as otherwise determined in accordance with sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 or 11.4.
	(t) “Expiry Time” means the time the Option expires on the Expiry Date, which is 4:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada on the Expiry Date.
	(u) “Fair Market Value” means the fair market value of the Class B Shares, which is the Market Value multiplied by 80.
	(v)  “Grant Date” means the date on which the Committee grants a particular Option, which is the date the Option comes into effect provided however that no Option can be exercised unless and until all necessary Regulatory Approvals have been obtained.
	(w) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is labelled or described as an Incentive Stock Option and which qualifies as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.
	(x) “Insider” means an insider as that term is defined in the Securities Act.
	(y) “Market Value” means the market value of the Class A Shares as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(z) “Non-Statutory Stock Option” means an Option granted to an Option Holder which is not intended to be or does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
	(aa) “Option” means a share purchase option granted pursuant to this Plan entitling the Option Holder to purchase Shares of the Company, and includes Incentive Stock Options and Non-Statutory Stock Options.
	(bb) “Option Certificate” means the certificate, in substantially the form set out as Schedule A hereto, evidencing the Option.
	(cc) “Option Holder” means a Person or Entity who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, the Personal Representative of such person.
	(dd) “Outstanding Issue” means the number of Class A Shares, taken together with the number of Class A Shares issuable on conversion of the Class B Shares and the Class C Multiple Voting Shares immediately prior to the Class B Share issuance or grant ...
	(ee) “Person or Entity” means an individual, natural person, corporation, government or political subdivision or agency of a government, and where two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group for the purpose ...
	(ff) “Personal Representative” means:
	(i) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and
	(ii) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder.

	(gg) “Plan” means this stock option plan as from time to time amended.
	(hh) “Regulatory Approvals” means any necessary approvals of the Regulatory Authorities as may be required from time to time for the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan or for the Options granted from time to time hereunder.
	(ii) “Regulatory Authorities” means all organized trading facilities on which the Shares are listed, and all securities commissions or similar securities regulatory bodies having jurisdiction over the Company, this Plan or the Options granted from tim...
	(jj) “Regulatory Rules” means all corporate and securities laws, regulations, rules, policies, notices, instruments and other orders of any kind whatsoever which may, from time to time, apply to the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan ...
	(kk) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), RSBC 1996, c.418 as from time to time amended.
	(ll) “Share” or “Shares” means, as the case may be, one or more Class B Shares in the capital stock of the Company.
	(mm) “Subsidiary” means a wholly-owned or controlled subsidiary corporation of the Company.
	(nn) “Ten Percent Shareholder Participant” means an individual to whom an Incentive Stock Option is granted pursuant to the provisions of the Plan who is, on the date of the grant, the owner of stock (as determined under Section 424(d) of the Code) po...
	(oo) “Triggering Event” means:
	(i) the proposed dissolution, liquidation or wind-up of the Company;
	(ii) a proposed merger, amalgamation, arrangement or reorganization of the Company with one or more corporations as a result of which, immediately following such event, the shareholders of the Company as a group, as they were immediately prior to such...
	(iii) the proposed acquisition of all or substantially all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company by one or more Persons or Entities;
	(iv) a proposed Change of Control of the Company;
	(v) the proposed sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
	(vi) a proposed material alteration of the capital structure of the Company which, in the opinion of the Committee, is of such a nature that it is not practical or feasible to make adjustments to this Plan or to the Options granted hereunder to permit...

	(pp) “U.S. Option Holder” means an Option Holder whose Options awarded under the Plan are subject to taxation under the Code, including U.S. residents and U.S. citizens regardless of country of residence.
	(qq) “Vest” or “Vesting” means that a portion of the Option granted to the Option Holder which is available to be exercised by the Option Holder at any time and from time to time.

	1.2 Choice of Law
	1.3 Headings

	SECTION 2  GRANT OF OPTIONS
	2.1 Grant of Options
	2.2 Record of Option Grants
	(a) the name and address of the Option Holder;
	(b) the category (Executive, Employee or Consultant) under which the Option was granted to him, her or it;
	(c) the designation of Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;
	(d) the Grant Date and Expiry Date of the Option;
	(e) the number of Shares which may be acquired on the exercise of the Option and the Exercise Price of the Option;
	(f) the vesting and other additional terms, if any, attached to the Option; and
	(g) the particulars of each and every time the Option is exercised.

	2.3 Effect of Plan

	SECTION 3  PURPOSE AND PARTICIPATION
	3.1 Purpose of Plan
	3.2 Participation in Plan
	3.3 Limits on Option Grants
	(a) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Option Holder under the Plan within any 12 month period shall be 5% of the Outstanding Issue (unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval if required by Regulator...
	(b) if required by Regulatory Rules, disinterested shareholder approval is required to the grant to Insiders, within a 12 month period, of a number of Options which, when added to the number of outstanding Options granted to Insiders within the previo...
	(c) with respect to section 5.1, the Expiry Date of an Option shall be no later than the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date of such Option;
	(d) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Consultant within any 12 month period must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue; and
	(e) the maximum number of Options which may be granted within any 12 month period to Employees or Consultants engaged in investor relations activities must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue and such options must vest in stages over 12 months with...

	3.4 Notification of Grant
	3.5 Copy of Plan; Effective Date of Plan
	3.6 Limitation on Service
	3.7 No Obligation to Exercise
	3.8 Agreement
	3.9 Notice
	3.10 Representation

	SECTION 4  NUMBER OF SHARES UNDER PLAN
	4.1 Number of Shares
	4.2 Fractional Shares

	SECTION 5  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS
	5.1 Exercise Period of Option
	5.2 Number of Shares Under Option
	5.3 Exercise Price of Option
	(a) for each organized trading facility on which the Class A Shares are listed, Market Value will be the closing trading price of the Class A Shares on the day immediately preceding the Grant Date, and, except with respect to Options awarded to U.S. O...
	(b) if the Company’s Class A Shares are listed on more than one organized trading facility, the Market Value shall be the Market Value as determined in accordance with subparagraph (a) above for the primary organized trading facility on which the Clas...
	(c) if the Company’s Class A Shares are listed on one or more organized trading facilities but have not traded during the ten trading days immediately preceding the Grant Date, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be requir...
	(d) if the Company’s Class A Shares are not listed on any organized trading facility, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to secure all necessary Regulatory Approvals, such value as is determined by the Committ...

	5.4 Incentive Stock Options.
	5.5 Termination of Option
	(a) Ceasing to Hold Office - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Executive and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be, unless ot...
	(i) ceasing to meet the qualifications set forth in the corporate legislation applicable to the Company;
	(ii) a special resolution having been passed by the shareholders of the Company removing the Option Holder as a director of the Company or any Subsidiary; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position; OR

	(b) Ceasing to be Employed or Engaged - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Op...
	(i) termination for cause;
	(ii) resigning his or her position; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position.


	5.6 Vesting of Option and Acceleration
	5.7 Additional Terms

	SECTION 6  TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS
	6.1 Non-transferable
	6.2 Death of Option Holder
	6.3 Disability of Option Holder
	6.4 Disability and Death of Option Holder
	6.5 Vesting
	6.6 Deemed Non-Interruption of Engagement

	SECTION 7  EXERCISE OF OPTION
	7.1 Exercise of Option
	7.2 Black Out Period
	7.3 Issue of Share Certificates
	7.4 No Rights as Shareholder
	7.5 No Right to Employment; Other Benefits
	7.6 Tax Withholding and Procedures
	(a) deliver a certified cheque, wire transfer or bank draft payable to the Company for the amount determined by the Company to be the appropriate amount on account of such taxes or related amounts;
	(b) otherwise ensure, in a manner acceptable to the Company (if at all) in its sole and unfettered discretion, that the amount will be securely funded; or
	(c) and must in all other respects follow any related procedures and conditions imposed by the Company.

	7.7 No trust Fund Created

	SECTION 8  ADMINISTRATION
	8.1 Board or Committee
	8.2 Powers of Committee
	(a) oversee the administration of the Plan in accordance with its terms;
	(b) appoint or replace the Administrator from time to time;
	(c) determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, including all questions relating to the Market Value;
	(d) correct any defect, supply any information or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purposes of the Plan;
	(e) prescribe, amend, and rescind rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Plan;
	(f) determine the duration and purposes of leaves of absence from employment or engagement by the Company which may be granted to Option Holders without constituting a termination of employment or engagement for purposes of the Plan;
	(g) do the following with respect to the granting of Options:
	(i) determine the Executives, Employees or Consultants to whom Options shall be granted, based on the eligibility criteria set out in this Plan;
	(ii) determine the terms of the Option to be granted to an Option Holder including, without limitation, the Grant Date, Expiry Date, Exercise Price and vesting schedule (which need not be identical with the terms of any other Option);
	(iii) subject to any necessary Regulatory Approvals and section 9.2, amend the terms of any Options;
	(iv) determine when Options shall be granted;
	(v) determine the number of Shares subject to each Option; and
	(vi) to designate Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;

	(h) accelerate the vesting schedule of any Option previously granted; and
	(i) make all other determinations necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion, for the administration of the Plan.

	8.3 Administration by Committee
	8.4 Interpretation

	SECTION 9  APPROVALS AND AMENDMENT
	9.1 Shareholder Approval of Plan
	9.2 Amendment of Option or Plan
	(a) materially decrease the rights or benefits accruing to an Option Holder; or
	(b) materially increase the obligations of an Option Holder; then, unless otherwise excepted out by a provision of this Plan, the Committee must also obtain the written consent of the Option Holder in question to such amendment.  If at the time the Ex...


	SECTION 10  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ISSUANCE OF OPTIONS AND SHARES
	10.1 Compliance with Laws
	10.2 Regulatory Approvals
	10.3 Inability to Obtain Regulatory Approvals

	SECTION 11  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	11.1 Termination of Plan
	11.2 No Grant During Suspension of Plan
	11.3 Alteration in Capital Structure
	(a) a change in the number or kind of shares of the Company covered by such Options; and
	(b) a change in the Exercise Price payable per Share provided, however, that the aggregate Exercise Price applicable to the unexercised portion of existing Options shall not be altered, it being intended that any adjustments made with respect to such ...
	(c) the issuance of additional securities of the Company in exchange for adequate consideration (including services); nor
	(d) the conversion of outstanding securities of the Company into Shares shall be deemed to be material alterations of the capital structure of the Company.  Any adjustment made to any Options pursuant to this section 11.3 shall not be considered an am...

	11.4 Triggering Events
	(a) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to terminate upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event; or
	(b) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to be exchanged for incentive stock options of another corporation upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event in such ratio and at such exercise price as the Committee deems approp...

	11.5 Notice of Termination by Triggering Event
	11.6 Determinations to be Made By Committee

	SECTION 12  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	12.1 Maximum Number of Options

	SECTION 13  CALIFORNIA OPTIONS
	13.1 California Options
	13.2 Termination Date
	13.3 Post-Termination Exercise Period
	(a) at least six months from the date of termination, if termination was caused by death or disability; or
	(b) at least 30 days from the date of termination, if termination was caused by other than death or disability.

	13.4 Shareholder Approval / Grant Limitations
	(a) the Company is a foreign private issuer, as defined by Rule 3b-4 of the Exchange Act, on the grant date of the California Award, and the aggregate number of persons in California granted awards under all compensation plans and agreements and issue...
	(b) prior to or within 12 months of the granting of the first California Award under the Plan and prior to increasing the number of Authorized Shares, the Plan is approved by a majority of the Company’s outstanding securities entitled to vote, not cou...

	13.5 Company Information
	(a) the Grant Date of this Option is ●, 20●; and
	(b) subject to sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 11.4 of the Plan, the Expiry Date of this Option is 20.
	1. The Options will not be exercisable unless and until they have vested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the vesting schedule below, and then only to the extent that they have vested.  Provided that the Option Holder remains in continuous...
	(a) ‎( Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after the Grant Date;
	(b) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(c) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(d) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];

	2. Upon the Option Holder ceasing to hold a position with the Company, other than as a result of the events set out in paragraphs 5.4(a) or 5.4(b) of the Plan, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be ( [Insert date desired that is longer or shorter tha...
	3. The following provisions apply to Incentive Stock Options.
	(a) Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) may be issued only to individuals who are employees of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (as defined under section 424(f) of the Code) (“U.S. Employees”).
	(b) If a U.S. Option Holder has been granted an ISO and ceases to be a U.S. Employee, then, in order to retain the status of the Option as an ISO for U.S. federal tax purposes, such Option must be exercised within the time limits set forth below.  Fai...


	(c) To the extent that an Option designated as an ISO becomes exercisable by an Option Holder for the first time during any calendar year for Shares having a fair market value greater than US$100,000 (measured by the fair market value as of the Grant ...
	(d) all of the Shares; or
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	SECTION 1  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions
	(a) “Administrator” means such Executive or Employee of the Company as may be designated as Administrator by the Committee from time to time, or, if no such person is appointed, the Committee itself.
	(b) “Black-Out” means a restriction imposed by the Company on all or any of its directors, officers, employees, insiders or persons in a special relationship whereby they are to refrain from trading in the Company’s securities until the restriction ha...
	(c) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
	(d) “Change of Control” means an occurrence when either:
	(i) a Person or Entity, other than the current “control person” of the Company (as that term is defined in the Securities Act), becomes a “control person” of the Company; or
	(ii) a majority of the directors elected at any annual or extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of the Company are not individuals nominated by the Company’s then- incumbent Board.

	(e) “Class A Shares” means the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shares.
	(f) “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder.
	(g) “Committee” means a committee of the Board to which the responsibility of approving the grant of stock options has been delegated, or if no such committee is appointed, the Board itself.  At any time that the Company is an SEC registrant and is no...
	(h) “Company” means 4Front Ventures Corp.
	(i) “Consultant” means an individual who:
	(i) is engaged to provide, on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Company or any Subsidiary, other than services provided in relation to a “distribution” (as that term is described in the Securities A...
	(ii) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any Subsidiary and the individual or a Consultant Entity (as defined in clause (v) below);
	(iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Company or any Subsidiary; and
	(iv) has a relationship with the Company or any Subsidiary that enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Company or is otherwise permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as a Consultant or ...
	(v) a corporation of which the individual is an employee or shareholder or a partnership of which the individual is an employee or partner (a “Consultant Entity”); or
	(vi) an RRSP or RRIF established by or for the individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(j) “Disability” means a medically determinable physical or mental impairment expected to result in death or to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, and which causes an individual to be unable to engage in any substantial gainful a...
	(k) “Employee” means:
	(i) an individual who works full-time or part-time for the Company or any Subsidiary and such other individual as may, from time to time, be permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as an employee or as an equivalent thereto; or
	(ii) an individual who works for the Company or any Subsidiary either full-time or on a continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and d...
	(iii) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(iv) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(l) “Exchange” means the stock exchange upon which the Class A Shares principally trade.
	(m) “Exchange Act “ means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
	(n) “Executive” means an individual who is a director or officer of the Company or a Subsidiary, and includes:
	(i) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(ii) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(o) “Exercise Notice” means the written notice of the exercise of an Option, in the form set out as Schedule B hereto, duly executed by the Option Holder.
	(p) “Exercise Period” means the period during which a particular Option may be exercised and is the period from and including the Grant Date through to and including the Expiry Time on the Expiry Date provided, however, that no Option can be exercised...
	(q) “Exercise Price” means the price at which an Option is exercisable as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(r) “Expiry Date” means the date the Option expires as set out in the Option Certificate or as otherwise determined in accordance with sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 or 11.4.
	(s) “Expiry Time” means the time the Option expires on the Expiry Date, which is 4:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada on the Expiry Date.
	(t) “Grant Date” means the date on which the Committee grants a particular Option, which is the date the Option comes into effect provided however that no Option can be exercised unless and until all necessary Regulatory Approvals have been obtained.
	(u) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is labelled or described as an Incentive Stock Option and which qualifies as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.
	(v) “Insider” means an insider as that term is defined in the Securities Act.
	(w) “Market Value” means the market value of the Class A Shares as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(x) “Non-Statutory Stock Option” means an Option granted to an Option Holder which is not intended to be or does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
	(y) “Option” means a share purchase option granted pursuant to this Plan entitling the Option Holder to purchase Shares of the Company, and includes Incentive Stock Options and Non-Statutory Stock Options.
	(z) “Option Certificate” means the certificate, in substantially the form set out as Schedule A hereto, evidencing the Option.
	(aa) “Option Holder” means a Person or Entity who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, the Personal Representative of such person.
	(bb) “Outstanding Issue” means the number of Class A Shares, taken together with the number of Shares issuable on conversion of the Class B Proportionate Voting Shares and the Class C Multiple Voting Shares immediately prior to the Class A Share issua...
	(cc) “Person or Entity” means an individual, natural person, corporation, government or political subdivision or agency of a government, and where two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group for the purpose ...
	(dd) “Personal Representative” means:
	(i) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and
	(ii) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder.

	(ee) “Plan” means this stock option plan as from time to time amended.
	(ff) “Regulatory Approvals” means any necessary approvals of the Regulatory Authorities as may be required from time to time for the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan or for the Options granted from time to time hereunder.
	(gg) “Regulatory Authorities” means all organized trading facilities on which the Shares are listed, and all securities commissions or similar securities regulatory bodies having jurisdiction over the Company, this Plan or the Options granted from tim...
	(hh) “Regulatory Rules” means all corporate and securities laws, regulations, rules, policies, notices, instruments and other orders of any kind whatsoever which may, from time to time, apply to the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan ...
	(ii) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), RSBC 1996, c.418 as from time to time amended.
	(jj) “Share” or “Shares” means, as the case may be, one or more Class A Shares in the capital stock of the Company.
	(kk) “Subsidiary” means a wholly-owned or controlled subsidiary corporation of the Company.
	(ll) “Ten Percent Shareholder Participant” means an individual to whom an Incentive Stock Option is granted pursuant to the provisions of the Plan who is, on the date of the grant, the owner of stock (as determined under Section 424(d) of the Code) po...
	(mm) “Triggering Event” means:
	(i) the proposed dissolution, liquidation or wind-up of the Company;
	(ii) a proposed merger, amalgamation, arrangement or reorganization of the Company with one or more corporations as a result of which, immediately following such event, the shareholders of the Company as a group, as they were immediately prior to such...
	(iii) the proposed acquisition of all or substantially all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company by one or more Persons or Entities;
	(iv) a proposed Change of Control of the Company;
	(v) the proposed sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
	(vi) a proposed material alteration of the capital structure of the Company which, in the opinion of the Committee, is of such a nature that it is not practical or feasible to make adjustments to this Plan or to the Options granted hereunder to permit...

	(nn) “U.S. Option Holder” means an Option Holder whose Options awarded under the Plan are subject to taxation under the Code, including U.S. residents and U.S. citizens regardless of country of residence.
	(oo) “Vest” or “Vesting” means that a portion of the Option granted to the Option Holder which is available to be exercised by the Option Holder at any time and from time to time.

	1.2 Choice of Law
	1.3 Headings

	SECTION 2  GRANT OF OPTIONS
	2.1 Grant of Options
	2.2 Record of Option Grants
	(a) the name and address of the Option Holder;
	(b) the category (Executive, Employee or Consultant) under which the Option was granted to him, her or it;
	(c) the designation of Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;
	(d) the Grant Date and Expiry Date of the Option;
	(e) the number of Shares which may be acquired on the exercise of the Option and the Exercise Price of the Option;
	(f) the vesting and other additional terms, if any, attached to the Option; and
	(g) the particulars of each and every time the Option is exercised.

	2.3 Effect of Plan

	SECTION 3  PURPOSE AND PARTICIPATION
	3.1 Purpose of Plan
	3.2 Participation in Plan
	3.3 Limits on Option Grants
	(a) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Option Holder under the Plan within any 12 month period shall be 5% of the Outstanding Issue (unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval if required by Regulator...
	(b) if required by Regulatory Rules, disinterested shareholder approval is required to the grant to Insiders, within a 12 month period, of a number of Options which, when added to the number of outstanding Options granted to Insiders within the previo...
	(c) with respect to section 5.1, the Expiry Date of an Option shall be no later than the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date of such Option;
	(d) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Consultant within any 12 month period must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue; and
	(e) the maximum number of Options which may be granted within any 12 month period to Employees or Consultants engaged in investor relations activities must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue and such options must vest in stages over 12 months with...

	3.4 Notification of Grant
	3.5 Copy of Plan; Effective Date of Plan
	3.6 Limitation on Service
	3.7 No Obligation to Exercise
	3.8 Agreement
	3.9 Notice
	3.10 Representation

	SECTION 4  NUMBER OF SHARES UNDER PLAN
	4.1 Number of Shares
	4.2 Fractional Shares

	SECTION 5  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS
	5.1 Exercise Period of Option
	5.2 Number of Shares Under Option
	5.3 Exercise Price of Option
	(a) for each organized trading facility on which the Shares are listed, Market Value will be the closing trading price of the Shares on the day immediately preceding the Grant Date, and, except with respect to Options awarded to U.S. Option Holders, m...
	(b) if the Company’s Shares are listed on more than one organized trading facility, the Market Value shall be the Market Value as determined in accordance with subparagraph (a) above for the primary organized trading facility on which the Shares are l...
	(c) if the Company’s Shares are listed on one or more organized trading facilities but have not traded during the ten trading days immediately preceding the Grant Date, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to se...
	(d) if the Company’s Shares are not listed on any organized trading facility, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to secure all necessary Regulatory Approvals, such value as is determined by the Committee to be...

	5.4 Incentive Stock Options.
	5.5 Termination of Option
	(a) Ceasing to Hold Office - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Executive and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be, unless ot...
	(i) ceasing to meet the qualifications set forth in the corporate legislation applicable to the Company;
	(ii) a special resolution having been passed by the shareholders of the Company removing the Option Holder as a director of the Company or any Subsidiary; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position; OR

	(b) Ceasing to be Employed or Engaged - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Op...
	(i) termination for cause;
	(ii) resigning his or her position; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position.


	5.6 Vesting of Option and Acceleration
	5.7 Additional Terms

	SECTION 6  TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS
	6.1 Non-transferable
	6.2 Death of Option Holder
	6.3 Disability of Option Holder
	6.4 Disability and Death of Option Holder
	6.5 Vesting
	6.6 Deemed Non-Interruption of Engagement

	SECTION 7  EXERCISE OF OPTION
	7.1 Exercise of Option
	7.2 Black Out Period
	7.3 Issue of Share Certificates
	7.4 No Rights as Shareholder
	7.5 No Right to Employment; Other Benefits
	7.6 Tax Withholding and Procedures
	(a) deliver a certified cheque, wire transfer or bank draft payable to the Company for the amount determined by the Company to be the appropriate amount on account of such taxes or related amounts;
	(b) otherwise ensure, in a manner acceptable to the Company (if at all) in its sole and unfettered discretion, that the amount will be securely funded; or
	(c) and must in all other respects follow any related procedures and conditions imposed by the Company.

	7.7 No trust Fund Created

	SECTION 8  ADMINISTRATION
	8.1 Board or Committee
	8.2 Powers of Committee
	(a) oversee the administration of the Plan in accordance with its terms;
	(b) appoint or replace the Administrator from time to time;
	(c) determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, including all questions relating to the Market Value;
	(d) correct any defect, supply any information or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purposes of the Plan;
	(e) prescribe, amend, and rescind rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Plan;
	(f) determine the duration and purposes of leaves of absence from employment or engagement by the Company which may be granted to Option Holders without constituting a termination of employment or engagement for purposes of the Plan;
	(g) do the following with respect to the granting of Options:
	(i) determine the Executives, Employees or Consultants to whom Options shall be granted, based on the eligibility criteria set out in this Plan;
	(ii) determine the terms of the Option to be granted to an Option Holder including, without limitation, the Grant Date, Expiry Date, Exercise Price and vesting schedule (which need not be identical with the terms of any other Option);
	(iii) subject to any necessary Regulatory Approvals and section 9.2, amend the terms of any Options;
	(iv) determine when Options shall be granted;
	(v) determine the number of Shares subject to each Option; and
	(vi) to designate Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;

	(h) accelerate the vesting schedule of any Option previously granted; and
	(i) make all other determinations necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion, for the administration of the Plan.

	8.3 Administration by Committee
	8.4 Interpretation

	SECTION 9  APPROVALS AND AMENDMENT
	9.1 Shareholder Approval of Plan
	9.2 Amendment of Option or Plan
	(a) materially decrease the rights or benefits accruing to an Option Holder; or
	(b) materially increase the obligations of an Option Holder; then, unless otherwise excepted out by a provision of this Plan, the Committee must also obtain the written consent of the Option Holder in question to such amendment.  If at the time the Ex...


	SECTION 10  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ISSUANCE OF OPTIONS AND SHARES
	10.1 Compliance with Laws
	10.2 Regulatory Approvals
	10.3 Inability to Obtain Regulatory Approvals

	SECTION 11  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	11.1 Termination of Plan
	11.2 No Grant During Suspension of Plan
	11.3 Alteration in Capital Structure
	(a) a change in the number or kind of shares of the Company covered by such Options; and
	(b) a change in the Exercise Price payable per Share provided, however, that the aggregate Exercise Price applicable to the unexercised portion of existing Options shall not be altered, it being intended that any adjustments made with respect to such ...
	(c) the issuance of additional securities of the Company in exchange for adequate consideration (including services); nor
	(d) the conversion of outstanding securities of the Company into Shares shall be deemed to be material alterations of the capital structure of the Company.  Any adjustment made to any Options pursuant to this section 11.3 shall not be considered an am...

	11.4 Triggering Events
	(a) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to terminate upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event; or
	(b) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to be exchanged for incentive stock options of another corporation upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event in such ratio and at such exercise price as the Committee deems approp...

	11.5 Notice of Termination by Triggering Event
	11.6 Determinations to be Made By Committee

	SECTION 12  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	12.1 Maximum Number of Options

	SECTION 13  CALIFORNIA OPTIONS
	13.1 California Options
	13.2 Termination Date
	13.3 Post-Termination Exercise Period
	(a) at least six months from the date of termination, if termination was caused by death or disability; or
	(b) at least 30 days from the date of termination, if termination was caused by other than death or disability.

	13.4 Shareholder Approval / Grant Limitations
	(a) the Company is a foreign private issuer, as defined by Rule 3b-4 of the Exchange Act, on the grant date of the California Award, and the aggregate number of persons in California granted awards under all compensation plans and agreements and issue...
	(b) prior to or within 12 months of the granting of the first California Award under the Plan and prior to increasing the number of Authorized Shares, the Plan is approved by a majority of the Company’s outstanding securities entitled to vote, not cou...

	13.5 Company Information
	(a) the Grant Date of this Option is ●, 20●; and
	(b) subject to sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 11.4 of the Plan, the Expiry Date of this Option is 20.
	1. The Options will not be exercisable unless and until they have vested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the vesting schedule below, and then only to the extent that they have vested.  Provided that the Option Holder remains in continuous...
	(a) ‎( Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after the Grant Date;
	(b) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(c) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(d) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];

	2. Upon the Option Holder ceasing to hold a position with the Company, other than as a result of the events set out in paragraphs 5.4(a) or 5.4(b) of the Plan, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be ( [Insert date desired that is longer or shorter tha...
	3. The following provisions apply to Incentive Stock Options.
	(a) Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) may be issued only to individuals who are employees of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (as defined under section 424(f) of the Code) (“U.S. Employees”).
	(b) If a U.S. Option Holder has been granted an ISO and ceases to be a U.S. Employee, then, in order to retain the status of the Option as an ISO for U.S. federal tax purposes, such Option must be exercised within the time limits set forth below.  Fai...


	(c) To the extent that an Option designated as an ISO becomes exercisable by an Option Holder for the first time during any calendar year for Shares having a fair market value greater than US$100,000 (measured by the fair market value as of the Grant ...
	(d) all of the Shares; or
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	PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA
	Part 1  INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions.
	1.2 Business Corporations Act Definitions Apply.
	1.3 Interpretation Act Applies.
	1.4 Conflict in Definitions.
	1.5 Conflict Between Articles and Legislation.

	Part 2  SHARES AND SHARE CERTIFICATES
	2.1 Authorized Share Structure.
	2.2 Form of Share Certificate.
	2.3 Right to Share Certificate or Acknowledgement.
	(a) one certificate representing the share or shares of each class or series of shares registered in the shareholder’s name; or
	(b) a non-transferable written acknowledgment of the shareholder’s right to obtain such a share certificate,

	2.4 Sending of Share Certificate.
	2.5 Replacement of Worn Out or Defaced Certificate.
	(a) order the certificate to be cancelled; and
	(b) issue a replacement share certificate.

	2.6 Replacement of Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificate.
	(a) proof satisfactory to them that the certificate is lost, stolen or destroyed; and
	(b) any indemnity the board of directors, or any officer or agent designated by the directors, considers adequate.

	2.7 Splitting Share Certificates.
	2.8 Certificate Fee.
	2.9 Recognition of Trusts.

	Part 3  ISSUE OF SHARES
	3.1 Directors Authorized to Issue Shares.
	3.2 Commissions and Discounts.
	3.3 Brokerage.
	3.4 Conditions of Issue.
	(a) consideration is provided to the Company for the issue of the share by one or more of the following:
	(i) past services performed for the Company;
	(ii) property; or
	(iii) money; and

	(b) the value of the consideration received by the Company equals or exceeds the issue price set for the share under Article 3.1.

	3.5 Warrants, Options and Rights.
	3.6 Fractional Shares.

	Part 4  SHARE REGISTERS
	4.1 Central Securities Register.
	4.2 Branch Registers.
	4.3 Appointment of Agents.
	4.4 Closing Register.

	Part 5  SHARE TRANSFERS
	5.1 Recording or Registering Transfer.
	(a) a duly signed instrument of transfer in respect of the share has been received by the Company;
	(b) if a share certificate has been issued by the Company in respect of the share to be transferred, that share certificate has been surrendered to the Company; and
	(c) if a non-transferable written acknowledgment of the shareholder’s right to obtain a share certificate has been issued by the Company in respect of the share to be transferred, that acknowledgment has been surrendered to the Company.

	5.2 Form of Instrument of Transfer.
	5.3 Transferor Remains Shareholder.
	5.4 Signing of Instrument of Transfer.
	(a) in the name of the person named as transferee in that instrument of transfer; or
	(b) if no person is named as transferee in that instrument of transfer, in the name of the person on whose behalf the share certificate is deposited for the purpose of having the transfer registered.

	5.5 Enquiry as to Title Not Required.
	5.6 Transfer Fee.

	Part 6  TRANSMISSION OF SHARES
	6.1 Legal Personal Representative Recognized on Death.
	6.2 Rights of Legal Personal Representative.

	Part 7  PURCHASE OF SHARES
	7.1 Company Authorized to Purchase Shares.
	7.2 Purchase When Insolvent.
	(a) the Company is insolvent; or
	(b) making the payment or providing the consideration would render the Company insolvent.

	7.3 Sale and Voting of Purchased Shares.
	(a) is not entitled to vote the share at a meeting of its shareholders;
	(b) must not pay a dividend in respect of the share; and
	(c) must not make any other distribution in respect of the share.


	Part 8  BORROWING POWERS
	8.1 Powers of Directors.
	(a) borrow money in the manner and amount, on the security, from the sources and on the terms and conditions that the directors consider appropriate;
	(b) issue bonds, debentures and other debt obligations either outright or as security for any liability or obligation of the Company or any other person;
	(c) guarantee the repayment of money by any other person or the performance of any obligation of any other person; and
	(d) mortgage or charge, whether by way of specific or floating charge, or give other security on the whole or any part of the present and future undertaking of the Company.

	8.2 Terms of Debt Instruments.
	8.3 Delegation by Directors.

	Part 9  ALTERATIONS
	9.1 Alteration of Authorized Share Structure.
	(a) create one or more classes or series of shares or, if none of the shares of a class or series of shares is allotted or issued, eliminate that class or series of shares;
	(b) increase, reduce or eliminate the maximum number of shares that the Company is authorized to issue out of any class or series of shares or establish a maximum number of shares that the Company is authorized to issue out of any class or series of s...
	(c) subdivide or consolidate all or any of its unissued, or fully paid issued, shares;
	(d) if the Company is authorized to issue shares of a class of shares with par value:
	(i) decrease the par value of those shares; or
	(ii) if none of the shares of that class of shares is allotted or issued, increase the par value of those shares;

	(e) change all or any of its unissued, or fully paid issued, shares with par value into shares without par value or any of its unissued shares without par value into shares with par value;
	(f) alter the identifying name of any of its shares; or
	(g) otherwise alter its shares or authorized share structure when required or permitted to do so by the Business Corporations Act.

	9.2 Special Rights and Restrictions.
	(a) create special rights or restrictions for, and attach those special rights or restrictions to, the shares of any class or series of shares, whether or not any or all of those shares have been issued; or
	(b) vary or delete any special rights or restrictions attached to the shares of any class or series of shares, whether or not any or all of those shares have been issued.

	9.3 Company Alterations

	Part 10  MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS
	10.1 Annual General Meetings.
	10.2 Resolution Instead of Annual General Meeting.
	10.3 Calling of Shareholder Meetings.
	10.4 Location of Shareholder Meetings.
	10.5 Notice for Meetings of Shareholders.
	(a) if and for so long as the Company is a public company, 21 days; and
	(b) otherwise, 10 days.

	10.6 Record Date for Notice.
	(a) if and for so long as the Company is a public company, 21 days; and
	(b) otherwise, 10 days.

	10.7 Record Date for Voting.
	10.8 Failure to Give Notice and Waiver of Notice.
	10.9 Notice of Special Business at Meetings of Shareholders.
	(a) state the general nature of the special business; and
	(b) if the special business includes considering, approving, ratifying, adopting or authorizing any document or the signing of or giving of effect to any document, have attached to it a copy of the document or state that a copy of the document will be...
	(i) at the Company’s records office, or at such other reasonably accessible location in British Columbia as is specified in the notice; and
	(ii) during statutory business hours on any one or more specified days before the day set for the holding of the meeting.



	Part 11  PROCEEDINGS AT MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS
	11.1 Special Business.
	(a) at a meeting of shareholders that is not an annual general meeting, all business is special business except business relating to the conduct of or voting at the meeting;
	(b) at an annual general meeting, all business is special business except for the following:
	(i) business relating to the conduct of, or voting at, the meeting;
	(ii) consideration of any financial statements of the Company presented to the meeting;
	(iii) consideration of any reports of the directors or auditor;
	(iv) the setting or changing of the number of directors;
	(v) the election or appointment of directors;
	(vi) the appointment of an auditor;
	(vii) business arising out of a report of the directors not requiring the passing of a special resolution or an exceptional resolution; and
	(viii) any other business which, under these Articles or the Business Corporations Act, may be transacted at a meeting of shareholders without prior notice of the business being given to the shareholders.


	11.2 Special Majority.
	11.3 Quorum.
	11.4 One Shareholder May Constitute Quorum.
	(a) the quorum is one person who is, or who represents by proxy, that shareholder; and
	(b) that shareholder, present in person or by proxy, may constitute the meeting.

	11.5 Meetings by Telephone or Other Communications Medium.
	11.6 Other Persons May Attend.
	11.7 Requirement of Quorum.
	11.8 Lack of Quorum.
	(a) in the case of a general meeting convened by requisition of shareholders, the meeting is dissolved; and
	(b) in the case of any other meeting of shareholders, the meeting stands adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place, or at such other date, time or location as the chair specifies on the adjournment.

	11.9 Lack of Quorum at Succeeding Meeting.
	11.10 Chair.
	(a) the chair of the board, if any; and
	(b) if the chair of the board is absent or unwilling to act as chair of the meeting, the president, if any.

	11.11 Selection of Alternate Chair.
	11.12 Adjournments.
	11.13 Notice of Adjourned Meeting.
	11.14 Decisions by Show of Hands or Poll.
	11.15 Declaration of Result.
	11.16 Motion Need Not Be Seconded.
	11.17 Casting Vote.
	11.18 Manner of Taking a Poll.
	(a) the poll must be taken:
	(i) at the meeting, or within seven days after the date of the meeting, as the chair of the meeting directs; and
	(ii) in the manner, at the time and at the place that the chair of the meeting directs;

	(b) the result of the poll is deemed to be a resolution of and passed at the meeting at which the poll is demanded; and
	(c) the demand for the poll may be withdrawn by the person who demanded it.

	11.19 Demand for a Poll on Adjournment.
	11.20 Chair Must Resolve Dispute.
	11.21 Casting of Votes.
	11.22 Demand for Poll.
	11.23 Demand for a Poll Not to Prevent Continuation of Meeting.
	11.24 Retention of Ballots and Proxies.

	Part 12  VOTES OF SHAREHOLDERS
	12.1 Number of Votes by Shareholder or by Shares.
	(a) on a vote by show of hands, every person present who is a shareholder or proxy holder and entitled to vote at the meeting has one vote, and
	(b) on a poll, every shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting has one vote in respect of each share held by that shareholder and may exercise that vote either in person or by proxy.

	12.2 Votes of Persons in Representative Capacity.
	12.3 Votes by Joint Shareholders.
	(a) any one of the joint shareholders may vote at any meeting, either personally or by proxy, in respect of the share as if that joint shareholder were solely entitled to it; or
	(b) if more than one of the joint shareholders is present at any meeting, personally or by proxy, and more than one of them votes in respect of that share, then only the vote of the joint shareholder present whose name stands first on the central secu...

	12.4 Legal Personal Representatives as Joint Shareholders.
	12.5 Representative of a Corporate Shareholder.
	(a) for that purpose, the instrument appointing a representative must:
	(i) be received at the registered office of the Company or at any other place specified, in the notice calling the meeting, for the receipt of proxies, at least the number of business days specified in the notice for the receipt of proxies or, if no n...
	(ii) be provided, at the meeting, to the chair of the meeting or to a person designated by the chair of the meeting; and

	(b) if a representative is appointed under this Article 12.5:
	(i) the representative is entitled to exercise in respect of and at that meeting the same rights on behalf of the corporation that the representative represents as that corporation could exercise if it were a shareholder who is an individual, includin...
	(ii) the representative, if present at the meeting, is to be counted for the purpose of forming a quorum and is deemed to be a shareholder present in person at the meeting.


	12.6 Proxy Provisions Do Not Apply to All Companies.
	12.7 Appointment of Proxy Holder.
	12.8 Alternate Proxy Holders.
	12.9 When Proxy Holder Need Not Be Shareholder.
	(a) the person appointing the proxy holder is a corporation or a representative of a corporation appointed under Article 12.5;
	(b) the Company has at the time of the meeting for which the proxy holder is to be appointed only one shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting;
	(c) the shareholders present in person or by proxy at and entitled to vote at the meeting for which the proxy holder is to be appointed, by a resolution on which the proxy holder is not entitled to vote but in respect of which the proxy holder is to b...
	(d) the Company is a public company.

	12.10 Deposit of Proxy.
	(a) be received at the registered office of the Company or at any other place specified, in the notice calling the meeting, for the receipt of proxies, at least the number of business days specified in the notice, or if no number of days is specified,...
	(b) unless the notice provides otherwise, be provided, at the meeting, to the chair of the meeting or to a person designated by the chair of the meeting.

	12.11 Validity of Proxy Vote.
	(a) at the registered office of the Company, at any time up to and including the last business day before the day set for the holding of the meeting at which the proxy is to be used; or
	(b) by the chair of the meeting, before the vote is taken.

	12.12 Form of Proxy.
	12.13 Revocation of Proxy.
	(a) received at the registered office of the Company at any time up to and including the last business day before the day set for the holding of the meeting at which the proxy is to be used; or
	(b) provided, at the meeting, to the chair of the meeting.

	12.14 Revocation of Proxy Must Be Signed.
	(a) if the shareholder for whom the proxy holder is appointed is an individual, the instrument must be signed by the shareholder or his or her legal personal representative or trustee in bankruptcy; or
	(b) if the shareholder for whom the proxy holder is appointed is a corporation, the instrument must be signed by the corporation or by a representative appointed for the corporation under Article 12.5.

	12.15 Production of Evidence of Authority to Vote.

	Part 13  DIRECTORS
	13.1 Number of Directors.
	(a) if the Company is a public company, the greater of three and the most recently set of:
	(i) the number of directors set by ordinary resolution (whether or not previous notice of the resolution was given); and
	(ii) the number of directors set under Article 14.4;

	(b) if the Company is not a public company, the most recently set of:
	(i) the number of directors set by ordinary resolution (whether or not previous notice of the resolution was given); and
	(ii) the number of directors set under Article 14.4.


	13.2 Change in Number of Directors.
	(a) the shareholders may elect or appoint the directors needed to fill any vacancies in the board of directors up to that number;
	(b) if the shareholders do not elect or appoint the directors needed to fill any vacancies in the board of directors up to that number contemporaneously with the setting of that number, then the directors may appoint, or the shareholders may elect or ...

	13.3 Directors’ Acts Valid Despite Vacancy.
	13.4 Qualifications of Directors.
	13.5 Remuneration of Directors.
	13.6 Reimbursement of Expenses of Directors.
	13.7 Special Remuneration for Directors.
	13.8 Gratuity, Pension or Allowance on Retirement of Director.

	Part 14  ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
	14.1 Election at Annual General Meeting.
	(a) the shareholders entitled to vote at the annual general meeting for the election of directors must elect, or in the unanimous resolution appoint, a board of directors consisting of the number of directors for the time being set under these Article...
	(b) all the directors cease to hold office immediately before the election or appointment of directors under paragraph (a), but are eligible for re-election or re-appointment.

	14.2 Consent to be a Director.
	(a) that individual consents to be a director in the manner provided for in the Business Corporations Act; or
	(b) that individual is elected or appointed at a meeting at which the individual is present and the individual does not refuse, at the meeting, to be a director.

	14.3 Failure to Elect or Appoint Directors.
	(a) the Company fails to hold an annual general meeting, and all the shareholders who are entitled to vote at an annual general meeting fail to pass the unanimous resolution contemplated by Article 10.2, on or before the date by which the annual gener...
	(b) the shareholders fail, at the annual general meeting or in the unanimous resolution contemplated by Article 10.2, to elect or appoint any directors;
	(c) the date on which his or her successor is elected or appointed; and
	(d) the date on which he or she otherwise ceases to hold office under the Business Corporations Act or these Articles.

	14.4 Places of Retiring Directors Not Filled.
	14.5 Directors May Fill Casual Vacancies.
	14.6 Remaining Directors Power to Act.
	14.7 Shareholders May Fill Vacancies.
	14.8 Additional Directors.
	(a) one-third of the number of first directors, if, at the time of the appointments, one or more of the first directors have not yet completed their first term of office; or
	(b) in any other case, one-third of the number of the current directors who were elected or appointed as directors other than under this Article 14.8.

	14.9 Ceasing to be a Director.
	(a) the term of office of the director expires;
	(b) the director dies;
	(c) the director resigns as a director by notice in writing provided to the Company or a lawyer for the Company; or
	(d) the director is removed from office pursuant to Articles 14.10 or 14.11.

	14.10 Removal of Director by Shareholders.
	14.11 Removal of Director by Directors.

	Part 15  POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS
	15.1 Powers of Management.
	15.2 Appointment of Attorney of Company.

	Part 16  DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
	16.1 Obligation to Account for Profits.
	16.2 Restrictions on Voting by Reason of Interest.
	16.3 Interested Director Counted in Quorum.
	16.4 Disclosure of Conflict of Interest or Property.
	16.5 Director Holding Other Office in the Company.
	16.6 No Disqualification.
	16.7 Professional Services by Director or Officer.
	16.8 Director or Officer in Other Corporations.

	Part 17  PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS
	17.1 Meetings of Directors.
	17.2 Voting at Meetings.
	17.3 Chair of Meetings.
	(a) the chair of the board, if any;
	(b) in the absence of the chair of the board, the president, if any, if the president is a director; or
	(c) any other director chosen by the directors if:
	(i) neither the chair of the board nor the president, if a director, is present at the meeting within 15 minutes after the time set for holding the meeting;
	(ii) neither the chair of the board nor the president, if a director, is willing to chair the meeting; or
	(iii) the chair of the board and the president, if a director, have advised the secretary, if any, or any other director, that they will not be present at the meeting.


	17.4 Meetings by Telephone or Other Communications Medium.
	17.5 Calling of Meetings.
	17.6 Notice of Meetings.
	17.7 When Notice Not Required.
	(a) the meeting is to be held immediately following a meeting of shareholders at which that director was elected or appointed or is the meeting of the directors at which that director is appointed; or
	(b) the director has waived notice of the meeting.

	17.8 Meeting Valid Despite Failure to Give Notice.
	17.9 Waiver of Notice of Meetings.
	17.10 Quorum.
	17.11 Validity of Acts Where Appointment Defective.
	17.12 Consent Resolutions in Writing.

	Part 18  EXECUTIVE AND OTHER COMMITTEES
	18.1 Appointment and Powers of Executive Committee.
	(a) the power to fill vacancies in the board of directors;
	(b) the power to remove a director;
	(c) the power to change the membership of, or fill vacancies in, any committee of the directors; and
	(d) such other powers, if any, as may be set out in the resolution or any subsequent directors’ resolution.

	18.2 Appointment and Powers of Other Committees.
	(a) appoint one or more committees (other than the executive committee) consisting of the director or directors that they consider appropriate;
	(b) delegate to a committee appointed under paragraph (a) any of the directors’ powers, except:
	(i) the power to fill vacancies in the board of directors;
	(ii) the power to remove a director;
	(iii) the power to change the membership of, or fill vacancies in, any committee of the board, and
	(iv) the power to appoint or remove officers appointed by the board; and

	(c) make any delegation referred to in paragraph (b) subject to the conditions set out in the resolution.

	18.3 Obligations of Committee.
	(a) conform to any rules that may from time to time be imposed on it by the directors; and
	(b) report every act or thing done in exercise of those powers as the directors may require.

	18.4 Powers of Board.
	(a) revoke or alter the authority given to a committee, or override a decision made by a committee, except as to acts done before such revocation, alteration or overriding;
	(b) terminate the appointment of, or change the membership of, a committee; and
	(c) fill vacancies on a committee.

	18.5 Committee Meetings.
	(a) the committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper;
	(b) the committee may elect a chair of its meetings but, if no chair of the meeting is elected, or if at any meeting the chair of the meeting is not present within 15 minutes after the time set for holding the meeting, the directors present who are me...
	(c) a majority of the members of a directors’ committee constitutes a quorum of the committee; and
	(d) questions arising at any meeting of the committee are determined by a majority of votes of the members present, and in case of an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting has no second or casting vote.


	Part 19  OFFICERS
	19.1 Appointment of Officers.
	19.2 Functions, Duties and Powers of Officers.
	(a) determine the functions and duties of the officer;
	(b) entrust to and confer on the officer any of the powers exercisable by the directors on such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as the directors think fit; and
	(c) revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any of the functions, duties and powers of the officer.

	19.3 Qualifications.
	19.4 Remuneration.

	Part 20  INDEMNIFICATION
	20.1 Definitions.
	(a) “eligible penalty” means a judgment, penalty or fine awarded or imposed in, or an amount paid in settlement of, an eligible proceeding;
	(b) “eligible proceeding” means a legal proceeding or investigative action, whether current, threatened, pending or completed, in which a director, former director of the Company or an affiliate of the Company (an “eligible party”) or any of the heirs...
	(i) is or may be joined as a party; or
	(ii) is or may be liable for or in respect of a judgment, penalty or fine in, or expenses related to, the proceeding;

	(c) “expenses” has the meaning set out in the Business Corporations Act.

	20.2 Mandatory Indemnification of Directors and Former Directors.
	20.3 Indemnification of Other Persons.
	20.4 Non-Compliance with Business Corporations Act.
	20.5 Company May Purchase Insurance.
	(a) is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company;
	(b) is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of a corporation at a time when the corporation is or was an affiliate of the Company;
	(c) at the request of the Company, is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of a corporation or of a partnership, trust, joint venture or other unincorporated entity;
	(d) at the request of the Company, holds or held a position equivalent to that of a director or officer of a partnership, trust, joint venture or other unincorporated entity;


	Part 21  DIVIDENDS
	21.1 Payment of Dividends Subject to Special Rights.
	21.2 Declaration of Dividends.
	21.3 No Notice Required.
	21.4 Record Date.
	21.5 Manner of Paying Dividend.
	21.6 Settlement of Difficulties.
	(a) set the value for distribution of specific assets;
	(b) determine that cash payments in substitution for all or any part of the specific assets to which any shareholders are entitled may be made to any shareholders on the basis of the value so fixed in order to adjust the rights of all parties; and
	(c) vest any such specific assets in trustees for the persons entitled to the dividend.

	21.7 When Dividend Payable.
	21.8 Dividends to be Paid in Accordance with Number of Shares.
	21.9 Receipt by Joint Shareholders.
	21.10 Dividend Bears No Interest.
	21.11 Fractional Dividends.
	21.12 Payment of Dividends.
	21.13 Capitalization of Surplus.

	Part 22  DOCUMENTS, RECORDS AND REPORTS
	22.1 Recording of Financial Affairs.
	22.2 Inspection of Accounting Records.
	22.3 Remuneration of Auditors.

	Part 23  NOTICES
	23.1 Method of Giving Notice.
	(a) mail addressed to the person at the applicable address for that person as follows:
	(i) for a record mailed to a shareholder, the shareholder’s registered address;
	(ii) for a record mailed to a director or officer, the prescribed address for mailing shown for the director or officer in the records kept by the Company or the mailing address provided by the recipient for the sending of that record or records of th...
	(iii) in any other case, the mailing address of the intended recipient;

	(b) delivery at the applicable address for that person as follows, addressed to the person:
	(i) for a record delivered to a shareholder, the shareholder’s registered address;
	(ii) for a record delivered to a director or officer, the prescribed address for delivery shown for the director or officer in the records kept by the Company or the delivery address provided by the recipient for the sending of that record or records ...
	(iii) in any other case, the delivery address of the intended recipient;

	(c) sending the record by fax to the fax number provided by the intended recipient for the sending of that record or records of that class;
	(d) sending the record, or a reference providing the intended recipient with immediate access to the record, by electronic communication to an address provided by the intended recipient for the sending of that record or records of that class;
	(e) sending the record by any method of transmitting legibly recorded messages, including without limitation by digital medium, magnetic medium, optical medium, mechanical reproduction or graphic imaging, to an address provided by the intended recipie...
	(f) physical delivery to the intended recipient.

	23.2 Deemed Receipt.
	23.3 Certificate of Sending.
	23.4 Notice to Joint Shareholders.
	23.5 Notice to Trustees.
	(a) mailing the record, addressed to them:
	(i) by name, by the title of the legal personal representative of the deceased or incapacitated shareholder, by the title of trustee of the bankrupt shareholder or by any similar description; and
	(ii) at the address, if any, supplied to the Company for that purpose by the persons claiming to be so entitled; or

	(b) if an address referred to in paragraph (a)(ii) has not been supplied to the Company, by giving the notice in a manner in which it might have been given if the death, bankruptcy or incapacity had not occurred.


	Part 24  SEAL
	24.1 Who May Attest Seal.
	(a) any two directors;
	(b) any officer, together with any director;
	(c) if the Company only has one director, that director; or
	(d) any one or more directors or officers or persons as may be determined by resolution of the directors.

	24.2 Sealing Copies.
	24.3 Mechanical Reproduction of Seal.

	Part 25  PROHIBITIONS
	25.1 Definitions.
	(a) “designated security” means:
	(i) a voting security of the Company;
	(ii) a security of the Company that is not a debt security and that carries a residual right to participate in the earnings of the Company or, on the liquidation or winding up of the Company, in its assets; or
	(iii) a security of the Company convertible, directly or indirectly, into a security described in paragraph (a) or (b);

	(b) “security” has the meaning assigned in the Securities Act (British Columbia);
	(c) “voting security” means a security of the Company that:
	(i) is not a debt security, and
	(ii) carries a voting right either under all circumstances or under some circumstances that have occurred and are continuing.


	25.2 Application.
	25.3 Consent Required for Transfer of Shares or Designated Securities.

	Part 26  SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS ATTACHED TO SUBORDINATE VOTING SHARES
	26.1 Voting
	26.2 Alteration to Rights of Subordinate Voting Shares
	(a) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right attached to the Subordinate Voting Shares; or
	(b) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares or Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis as provided for herein.

	26.3 Dividends
	(a)
	(ii) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Proportionate Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Proportionate Voting Share equal to the amount of the dividend declared per Subordinate Voting Share, multiplied by 80; and
	(b)

	(ii) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Multiple Voting Share equal to the amount of the dividend declared per Subordinate Voting Share.

	26.4 Liquidation Rights
	26.5 Subdivision or Consolidation
	26.6 Conversion of the Shares Upon An Offer
	(a) required, pursuant to applicable securities legislation or the rules of any stock exchange on which: (i) the Proportionate Voting Shares; or (ii) the Subordinate Voting Shares which may be obtained upon conversion of the Proportionate Voting Share...
	(b) not made to the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares for consideration per Subordinate Voting Share equal to 0.0125 of the consideration offered per Proportionate Voting Share;
	(i) give written notice of exercise of the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right to the transfer agent for the Subordinate Voting Shares, and of the number of Subordinate Voting Shares in respect of which the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Ri...
	(ii) deliver to the transfer agent for the Subordinate Voting Shares any share certificate or certificates representing the Subordinate Voting Shares in respect of which the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right is being exercised; and
	(iii) pay any applicable stamp tax or similar duty on or in respect of such conversion.



	Part 27  SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS ATTACHED TO PROPORTIONATE VOTING SHARES
	27.1 Voting
	27.2 Alteration to Rights of Proportionate Voting Shares
	(a) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right attached to the Proportionate Voting Shares; or
	(b) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares or Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis as provided for herein.

	27.3 Shares Superior to Proportionate Voting Shares
	(a) The Company may take no action which would authorize or create shares of any class or series having preferences superior to or on a parity with the Proportionate Voting Shares without the consent of the holders of a majority of the Proportionate V...
	(b) At any meeting of holders of Proportionate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares called to consider such a separate ordinary resolution, each Proportionate Voting Share and Multiple Voting Share will entitle the holder to one (1) vote and each ...

	27.4 Dividends
	(a) The holders of Proportionate Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive such dividends payable in cash or property of the Company as may be declared by the directors from time to time. The directors may declare no dividend payable in cash or prope...
	(b) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Proportionate Voting Shares on the Proportionate Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Proportionate Voting Shares on the Subordinate ...
	(c) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Subordinate Voting Shares on the Proportionate Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Voti...
	(d) Holders of fractional Proportionate Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive any dividend declared on the Proportionate Voting Shares, in an amount equal to the dividend per Proportionate Voting Share multiplied by the fraction thereof held by s...

	27.5 Liquidation Rights
	27.6 Subdivision or Consolidation
	27.7 Voluntary Conversion
	(a) Right to Convert Proportionate Voting Shares. Each Proportionate Voting Share shall be convertible at the option of the holder into such number of Subordinate Voting Shares as is determined by multiplying the number of Proportionate Voting Shares ...
	(b) Conversion Limitation Officer. Unless already appointed, upon receipt of a Conversion Notice (as defined below) for the period (the “Restricted Conversion Period”) prior to the date that is the later of six (6) months following December 31, 2018 a...
	(c) Foreign Private Issuer Status. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain its status as a “foreign private issuer” (as determined in accordance with Rule 3b-4 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Excha...
	(d) Conversion Limitation. In order to give effect to the FPI Restriction, the number of Subordinate Voting Shares issuable to a holder of Proportionate Voting Shares upon exercise by such holder of the Share Conversion Right during the Restricted Con...
	(e) Disputes.
	(i) Any holder of Proportionate Voting Shares who beneficially owns more than 5% of the issued and outstanding Proportionate Voting Shares may submit a written dispute as to the calculation of the 40% Threshold or the FPI Restriction by the Conversion...
	(ii) In the event of a dispute as to the number of Subordinate Voting Shares issuable to a holder of Proportionate Voting Shares in connection with a voluntary conversion of Proportionate Voting Shares, the Company shall issue to the holder of Proport...

	(f) Mechanics of Conversion. Before any holder of Proportionate Voting Shares shall be entitled to voluntarily convert Proportionate Voting Shares into Subordinate Voting Shares in accordance with Articles 27.7(a), the holder shall surrender the certi...


	Part 28  SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS ATTACHED TO MULTIPLE VOTING SHARES
	28.1 Voting
	28.2 Alteration to Rights of Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right attached to the Multiple Voting Shares; or
	(b) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis as provided for herein.

	28.3 Shares Superior to Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) The Company may take no action which would authorize or create shares of any class or series having preferences superior to or on a parity with the Multiple Voting Shares without the consent of the holders of a majority of the Multiple Voting Shar...
	(b) At any meeting of holders of Multiple Voting Shares called to consider such a separate ordinary resolution, each Multiple Voting Share will entitle the holder to one (1) vote and each fraction of a Multiple Voting Share shall entitle the holder to...

	28.4 Dividends
	(a) The holders of Multiple Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive such dividends payable in cash or property of the Company as may be declared by the directors from time to time. The directors may declare no dividend payable in cash or property o...
	(b) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Proportionate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Proportionate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Votin...
	(c) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Subordinate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Voting Sh...
	(d) Holders of fractional Multiple Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive any dividend declared on the Multiple Voting Shares, in an amount equal to the dividend per Multiple Voting Share multiplied by the fraction thereof held by such holder.

	28.5 Liquidation Rights
	28.6 Subdivision or Consolidation
	28.7 Transfer of Multiple Voting Shares
	28.8 Mandatory Conversion of Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) Definitions. In this Article 28.8 and 28.9:
	(i) “4Front” means 4Front Holdings LLC;
	(ii) “BC HoldCo” means 1196260 B.C. Ltd.;
	(iii) “Business Combination” means the completion of the combination of the businesses of 4Front, Nevada HoldCo, BC HoldCo and Cannex Capital Holdings Inc. pursuant to the Definitive Agreement;
	(iv) “Definitive Agreement” means the business combination agreement between, inter alia, 4Front, Nevada HoldCo, BC HoldCo and Cannex Capital Holdings Inc. dated <@>, 2019;
	(v) “Disability” means such holder (i) has been declared legally incompetent by a final court decree (the date of such decree being deemed to be the date on which the disability occurred), or (ii) has been found to be mentally disabled pursuant to a D...
	(vi) “Initial Holders” means the holders of Multiple Voting Shares as of the date of initial issuance of Multiple Voting Shares.
	(vii) “Involuntary Transfer Event” occurs in the event that an Initial Holder (a) files a voluntary petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or a petition for the appointment of a receiver or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, (b...
	(viii) “Nevada HoldCo means 4Front Ventures Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada.

	(b) Mandatory Conversion. Multiple Voting Shares are not convertible until the later of the date (the “Initial Conversion Date”) that (i) the aggregate number of Proportionate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares held by the Initial Holders are re...
	(i) the date of the Mandatory Conversion Event;
	(ii) the number of Subordinate Voting Shares into which the Multiple Voting Shares held by such holder have been converted.


	28.9 Transfers Prior to Initial Conversion Date
	(a) Limitation on Transfers. Subject to Section 28.7, an Initial Holder is permitted to Transfer Multiple Voting Shares prior to the Initial Conversion Date to another Initial Holder without compliance with this Section 28.9.
	(b) Purchase Obligation Upon Certain Events. Prior to the Initial Conversion Date, upon: (i) the death or Disability of an Initial Holder the other Initial Holders shall have the obligation to purchase all of such Initial Holder’s Multiple Voting Shar...
	(c) Notice of Purchase Obligation.  Promptly following an event triggering a Purchase Obligation, the Transferring Initial Holder shall send a written notice to the Company and other Initial Holders setting forth the event triggering the Purchase Obli...
	(d) Purchase Obligation Terms.
	(i) The closing shall be on or before the thirtieth day following the transmittal of the notice of the Purchase Obligation (the “Closing”).  At the Closing:  (i) the purchasing Initial Holder shall deliver to the Transferring Initial Holder the purcha...
	(ii) The per share price of the Subject Multiple Voting Shares to be purchased pursuant to this Section 28.9 shall be the Fair Market Value of the Subordinate Voting Shares as of the date prior to the date of the event triggering the Purchase Obligati...
	(iii) The purchase price of any Subject Multiple Voting Shares purchased pursuant to this Section 28.9 shall be paid in any combination of cash, by wire transfer, by certified or cashier’s check, or by a promissory note containing the terms set forth ...

	(e) Note Terms.
	(i) Any Note shall be paid in no more than 12 equal quarterly installments of principal and interest, and the first installment of which shall be due 90 days after the Closing.
	(ii) Any Note shall bear interest on such principal amount at the minimum rate established pursuant to IRS Code Sections 483 and 1274 necessary to avoid any imputed interest or original issue discount being attributed to the Note holder.  The Note sha...
	(iii) Any Note shall be secured by a pledge of such number of the purchasing Initial Holder’s Proportionate Voting Shares or Subordinate Voting Shares or such other assets (excluding the Multiple Voting Shares being acquired) such that the Pledged Val...
	(iv) As long as the Note is not in default, the purchasing Initial Holder shall be entitled to receive all dividends on such Multiple Voting Shares and to exercise all voting rights with respect to such Multiple Voting Shares.
	(v) Failure to make any payment required by a Note within 10 days after its due date shall constitute a default and shall cause the remaining unpaid balance to become immediately due and payable, at the holder’s option, and the Transferring Initial Ho...


	28.10 Extension of Offer to Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) required: (i) pursuant to applicable securities legislation or the rules of any stock exchange on which the Proportionate Voting Shares may then be listed, to be made to all or substantially all of the holders of Proportionate Voting Shares in a p...
	(b) such MVS Offer shall be extended by the offeror to the holders of Multiple Voting Shares (which shall not be required to convert in order to participate in the MVS Offer) for consideration per Multiple Voting Share equal to: (i) 0.0125 of the cons...
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	AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF CONVERSION
	by and among
	4FRONT HOLDINGS, LLC
	4FRONT VENTURES INC.
	4FRONT CAN/AM INVESTCO INC.
	and
	JOSHUA ROSEN
	Dated as of March 22, 2019
	AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF CONVERSION
	ARTICLE I   DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION; CONSTRUCTION
	1.1. Definitions
	1.2. Interpretation; Construction
	(a)   The table of contents and headings herein are for convenience of reference only, do not constitute part of this Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or otherwise affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
	(b)   No summary of this Agreement prepared by a party hereto shall affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
	(c)   Where a reference in this Agreement is made to an Article, Section or Exhibit, such reference shall be to an Article or Section of or Exhibit to this Agreement, unless otherwise indicated.
	(d)   Where a reference in a Section of this Agreement is made to clause, such reference shall be to a clause of such Section, unless otherwise indicated.
	(e)   The words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder” and “hereby” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall, unless otherwise indicated, refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.
	(f)   Whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation,” unless otherwise indicated.
	(g)   All pronouns and all variations thereof shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of the Person may require.
	(h)   Where a word or phrase is defined herein, each of its other grammatical forms shall have a corresponding meaning.
	(i)   A reference to any party to this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall include such party’s predecessors, successors and permitted assigns.
	(j)   A reference to any Law in this Agreement means such Law as amended, modified, codified, replaced or reenacted, and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
	(k)   All references to “$” in this Agreement are to United States dollars.
	(l)   The parties have participated jointly in negotiating and drafting this Agreement. In the event that an ambiguity or a question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties, and no pre...


	ARTICLE II   The CONTINUANCE AND VOTING RIGHTS
	2.1. The Continuance
	2.2. Shareholder Approval and Grant of Contractual Voting Rights.
	(a)   Joshua Rosen, the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date for the special meeting to approve the Continuance and the Arrangement, is the only shareholder of record entitled to vote on the Meeting Proposals.
	(b)   The Parties agree that it is in the best interests of the Constituent Shareholders to permit them to consider the Meeting Proposals and to vote their Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, Class B Proportionate Voting Shares or Class C Multiple Voti...
	(i)        Joshua Rosen, as the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date, will vote his common shares in accordance with the Constituent Shareholders by voting his common shares (1) in favor of the equity incentive plans if a majority of t...
	(ii)        Joshua Rosen, as the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date, will vote his common shares in accordance with the Constituent Shareholders by voting his common shares (1) in favor of the Continuance if a majority of the voting ...
	(iii)       Joshua Rosen, as the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date, will vote his common shares in accordance with the Constituent Shareholders by voting his common shares (1) in favor of the Arrangement if (x) at least 66⅔% of the ...

	(c)   The Parties agree that it is in the best interests of the Constituent Shareholders to grant them dissent rights in relation to the Continuance and the Arrangement as though they were shareholders on the record date, and Nevada Holdco hereby agre...
	(d)   Nevada Holdco agrees to convene and conduct the Meeting on the Meeting Date, subject to any adjournment or postponement thereof as contemplated in the information circular relating to the Meeting;
	(e)   Nevada Holdco agrees to provide notice of the Meeting and Meeting Date to each of the Constituent Shareholders and permit them to exercise their Contractual Voting Rights and vote at the Meeting;

	2.3. Effective Time
	2.4. Effect of Continuance.
	(a)          The name of the Continued Corporation will be “4Front Ventures Corp.”;
	(b)          The Notice of Articles and Articles of the Continued Corporation at the Effective Time will be in a form agreed to by the Parties, acting reasonably, and will reflect an authorized capital consisting of (i) an unlimited number of Class A ...
	(c)          By virtue of the Continuance and without any further action on the part of Nevada Holdco, the Continued Corporation or its shareholders:

	2.5. Closing
	2.6. Necessary Further Actions

	ARTICLE III   TAXES
	3.1. Tax Treatment.
	3.2. Tax Certification

	ARTICLE IV   Corporation Securities
	4.1. Effect on Outstanding Securities
	4.2. U.S. Securities Law Compliance.

	ARTICLE V   Conditions
	5.1. Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation to Effect the Continuance
	(a)   Shareholder Approval. The Continuance shall have been duly adopted by the holders of record on the record date, voting pursuant to the Contractual Voting Rights, constituting the majority vote in accordance with applicable Law and the certificat...
	(b)   Orders. No Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is in effect and has the effect of making the Continuance illegal or...
	(c)   Combination Agreement.  The conditions set forth in Article 3 of the Combination Agreement shall have been fulfilled, satisfied or waived by mutual consent.


	ARTICLE VI   Termination
	ARTICLE VII   Miscellaneous and General
	7.1. Survival
	7.2. Amendment
	7.3. Extension; Waiver
	7.4. Counterparts
	7.5. Governing Law
	7.6. Entire Agreement
	7.7. No Third Party Beneficiaries
	7.8. Subsidiary Obligations
	7.9. Severability
	7.10. Assignment
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	AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF CONVERSION
	1. DEFINED TERMS.
	Except as described below, capitalized terms used, but not defined, in this Amendment shall have the meanings specified in the Agreement.

	2. Amendments to the Agreement.
	The following definitions in Section 1.1 of the Agreement are hereby amended and restated as follows:

	3. General Provisions.
	(a) Effectiveness.  The amendment set forth in this Amendment shall be effective as of the date first written above.
	(b)  Except as specifically amended by this Amendment, all provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
	(a) Interpretation.  For the avoidance of doubt, from and after the date of this Amendment, references in the Agreement to the “Agreement” or any provision thereof shall be deemed to refer to the Agreement or such provision as amended by this Amendmen...


	Schedule H - Plan of Arrangement.pdf
	Article 1  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	Article 2  BUSINESS COMBINATION AGREEMENT
	Article 3  THE BUSINESS COMBINATION
	Article 4  DISSENT RIGHTS
	Article 5  DELIVERY OF SHARES
	Article 6  AMENDMENTS
	Article 7  FURTHER ASSURANCES

	Scheudle L.pdf
	1. CORPORATE STRUCTURE
	Corporate Name & Head and Registered Office
	Jurisdiction of Incorporation
	Inter-corporate Relationships
	Post-Business Combination

	2. GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS
	Financing Activities of 4Front
	Financing Activities of Cannex
	Regulatory Overview
	Regulation of Cannabis in the United States Federally
	The Regulatory Landscape on a U.S. State Level

	3. NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS
	General Business of Cannex
	General Business of 4Front
	(1) All costs are approximate and based on management’s best estimates.
	(2) Objectives being met depends on a number of factors, including completing additional financings. See “Risk Factors” and “Risk Factors – Risks Specifically Market, Securities and Other Risks – Additional financing” in this Information Circular.
	(3) Over the next 12 months, the Resulting Issuer does not intend to expand operations in Arkansas.
	Purpose of Funds
	Forecast 12 Month Budget
	Ability to Access Public and Private Capital

	Research and Development

	4. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	Annual Information
	4Front’s Annual Information
	Cannex’s Annual Information
	(1) Information is derived from the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Cannex as of and for the period from Formation on February 23, 2017 to September 30, 2017 and for the seven months ended April 30, 2018, which statements were required to...
	(2) On June 28, 2019, Cannex elected to change its fiscal year end to July 31.


	See Exhibit “L-1”  – Financial Statements.
	Selected Annual Financial Information [NTD: 4Front to update upon receipt of audited statements]
	(1) Information is derived from the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Cannex as of and for the period from Formation on February 23, 2017 to September 30, 2017 and for the seven months ended April 30, 2018, which statements were required to...
	(2) After giving effect to the Business Combination.
	See Exhibit “L-1” – Financial Statements.
	Selected Interim Financial Information
	Dividends
	Foreign GAAP

	5. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	6. MARKET FOR SECURITIES
	7. CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION
	8. OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES
	Summary of the Resulting Issuer Equity Incentive Plans

	9. DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES
	General Description of the Share Capital of the Resulting Issuer
	Subordinate Voting Shares
	Debt Securities
	Upon conversion, the Resulting Issuer Notes will also be subject to customary adjustment provisions in the event of a subdivision or re-division of the outstanding Resulting Issuer Shares into a greater number of Resulting Issuer Subordinate Proportio...
	Cannex, 4Front, and GGP continue to work to determine the precise terms of the Resulting Issuer Notes, and therefore, the above is a general outline of the anticipated terms of the Resulting Issuer Notes only, which terms are subject to change.
	Other Securities
	Prior Sales
	(1) Class C Units are profit interest units. Granted at a time when the fair market value of the units of 4Front were $442.50.
	(2) Issued in connection with a private placement of Class D Units at a price of $442.50 per unit and the conversion of the May 2016 loan, with interest, into Class D Units at a price of $442.50 per unit. The total funds raised were approximately $13....
	(3) Issued in connection with the acquisition by 4Front in November 2018 of all of the outstanding shares of Healthy Pharms for $27 million, of which $20 million was paid in cash, $3.5 million of Class E Units and $3.5 million in a promissory note of ...
	(4) Issued in connection with a private placement of Class F Units for gross proceeds of $31,258,329. 4Front also issued one 4Front Liquidity Warrant for each Class F Unit issued and sold in the private placement. As the Liquidity Event did not occur ...
	(5) Issued in connection with the acquisition by 4Front in November 2018 of all of the outstanding ownership interests of MavMax, LLC.
	(6) Class C Units are profit interest units. Granted at a time when the fair market value of the units of 4Front were $486.75.
	(7) Issued in connection with the partial repayment of the principal and interest of the December 2016 officer loans.
	(8) Issued in connection with four acquisitions by 4Front in February 2019.
	(9) Issued in connection with three acquisitions by 4Front in March 2019.
	(10) Issued in connection with five acquisitions by 4Front in April 2019.
	(1) Issued to certain shareholders of Cannex pursuant to the Cannex-Arco RTO Amalgamation.
	(2) Issued to certain shareholders of Arco pursuant to the Cannex-Arco RTO Amalgamation.
	(3) Issued to certain shareholders of Cannex USA pursuant to the Cannex-Arco RTO Amalgamation. Each Class A Share will be exchanged for Subordinate Proportionate Voting Shares on a 1:1 basis.
	(4) Issued upon conversion of the subscription receipts sold pursuant to the Cannex Private Placement. Each Subscription Receipt was issued by Cannex at a price of $1.00 each and entitles the holder thereof to acquire, upon satisfaction of the Cannex ...
	(5) Principal amount of senior secured convertible note issued by Cannex in connection with Cannex Notes. On completion of the Business Combination, the Cannex Notes will be exchanged for Resulting Issuer Notes. If the conversion right under the Resul...
	(6) Each GGP Note Warrant A is exercisable to purchase one share at the warrant exercise price of US$1.00 for a period of 36 months from November 21, 2018. On completion of the Business Combination, each GGP Note Warrant A will be exchanged for Result...
	(7) Each GGP Note Warrant B is exercisable to purchase one share at the warrant exercise price of US$1.33 for a period of 36 months from November 21, 2018. On completion of the Business Combination, each GGP Note Warrant B will be exchanged for Result...
	(8) Each GGP Note Warrant C is exercisable to purchase one share at the warrant exercise price of US$1.99 for a period of 36 months from November 21, 2018. On completion of the Business Combination, each GGP Note Warrant C will be exchanged for Result...
	(9) Issued upon conversion of the Subscription Receipts sold pursuant to the Cannex Private Placement (see Section 10.4 Other Securities). Each Resulting Issuer Agent Warrant will be exercisable for one Subordinate Voting Share at an exercise price of...
	(10) Issued under the Cannex Option Plan. Includes 3,700,000 Cannex Class A Share Options exercisable into 3,700,000 Cannex Class A Shares. Upon completion of the Business Combination, such options will be exchanged for 46,250 Resulting Issuer Replace...
	(11) Issued under the Cannex Option Plan. Expiry date is October 5, 2023.
	(12) Issued under the Cannex Option Plan. Expiry date is February 1, 2024.
	(13) Issued as partial consideration for the acquisition by Cannex of 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Pure Ratios Holdings, Inc.
	(14) Issued under the Cannex Option Plan. Expiry date is June 12, 2024.
	(15) Issued under the Cannex Option Plan. Expiry date is June 17, 2024.

	Stock Exchange Price

	10. ESCROWED SECURITIES
	11. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS
	Principal Shareholders
	(1) All Multiple Voting Shares will be held directly by the individuals listed in the first column.
	(2) Certain of the Subordinate Proportionate Voting Shares of Mr. Rosen and Mr. Chowscano will be held of record and beneficially by Mr. Rosen or Mr. Chowscano,  as applicable. Certain of the Subordinate Proportionate Voting Shares of Mr. Rosen and Mr...

	Voting Trusts

	12. DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
	Directors and Officers
	(1) Member of the audit committee.
	(2) Member of the compensation committee.

	Board Committees
	Audit Committee
	(1) A member of the audit committee is independent if he or she has no direct or indirect ‘material relationship’ with the Resulting Issuer. A material relationship is a relationship which could, in the view of the Resulting Issuer Board, reasonably i...
	(2) A member of the audit committee is financially literate if he or she has the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the brea...

	Compensation Committee
	Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies; Penalties or Sanctions; Personal Bankruptcies
	Conflicts of Interest
	Management

	13. CAPITALIZATION
	Convertible/Exchangeable Securities

	14. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
	Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities
	Stock Option Plans and Other Incentive Plans
	Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements
	Pension Plan Benefits

	15. INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
	16. PROMOTERS
	17. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
	Legal Proceedings
	17.1 Regulatory Actions

	18. INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS
	19. AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS
	20. MATERIAL CONTRACTS
	21. INTEREST OF EXPERTS
	22. OTHER MATERIAL FACTS
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	SECTION 1  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions
	(a) “Administrator” means such Executive or Employee of the Company as may be designated as Administrator by the Committee from time to time, or, if no such person is appointed, the Committee itself.
	(b) “Black-Out” means a restriction imposed by the Company on all or any of its directors, officers, employees, insiders or persons in a special relationship whereby they are to refrain from trading in the Company’s securities until the restriction ha...
	(c) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
	(d) “Change of Control” means an occurrence when either:
	(i) a Person or Entity, other than the current “control person” of the Company (as that term is defined in the Securities Act), becomes a “control person” of the Company; or
	(ii) a majority of the directors elected at any annual or extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of the Company are not individuals nominated by the Company’s then- incumbent Board.

	(e) “Class A Shares” means the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shares.
	(f) “Class B Shares” means the Company’s Class B proportionate voting shares.
	(g) “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder.
	(h) “Committee” means a committee of the Board to which the responsibility of approving the grant of stock options has been delegated, or if no such committee is appointed, the Board itself.  At any time that the Company is an SEC registrant and is no...
	(i) “Company” means 4Front Ventures Corp.
	(j) “Consultant” means an individual who:
	(i) is engaged to provide, on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Company or any Subsidiary, other than services provided in relation to a “distribution” (as that term is described in the Securities A...
	(ii) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any Subsidiary and the individual or a Consultant Entity (as defined in clause (v) below);
	(iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Company or any Subsidiary; and
	(iv) has a relationship with the Company or any Subsidiary that enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Company or is otherwise permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as a Consultant or ...
	(v) a corporation of which the individual is an employee or shareholder or a partnership of which the individual is an employee or partner (a “Consultant Entity”); or
	(vi) an RRSP or RRIF established by or for the individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(k) “Disability” means a medically determinable physical or mental impairment expected to result in death or to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, and which causes an individual to be unable to engage in any substantial gainful a...
	(l) “Employee” means:
	(i) an individual who works full-time or part-time for the Company or any Subsidiary and such other individual as may, from time to time, be permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as an employee or as an equivalent thereto; or
	(ii) an individual who works for the Company or any Subsidiary either full-time or on a continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and d...
	(iii) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(iv) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(m) “Exchange” means the stock exchange upon which the Class A Shares principally trade.
	(n) “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
	(o) “Executive” means an individual who is a director or officer of the Company or a Subsidiary, and includes:
	(i) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(ii) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(p) “Exercise Notice” means the written notice of the exercise of an Option, in the form set out as Schedule B hereto, duly executed by the Option Holder.
	(q) “Exercise Period” means the period during which a particular Option may be exercised and is the period from and including the Grant Date through to and including the Expiry Time on the Expiry Date provided, however, that no Option can be exercised...
	(r) “Exercise Price” means the price at which an Option is exercisable as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(s) “Expiry Date” means the date the Option expires as set out in the Option Certificate or as otherwise determined in accordance with sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 or 11.4.
	(t) “Expiry Time” means the time the Option expires on the Expiry Date, which is 4:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada on the Expiry Date.
	(u) “Fair Market Value” means the fair market value of the Class B Shares, which is the Market Value multiplied by 80.
	(v)  “Grant Date” means the date on which the Committee grants a particular Option, which is the date the Option comes into effect provided however that no Option can be exercised unless and until all necessary Regulatory Approvals have been obtained.
	(w) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is labelled or described as an Incentive Stock Option and which qualifies as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.
	(x) “Insider” means an insider as that term is defined in the Securities Act.
	(y) “Market Value” means the market value of the Class A Shares as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(z) “Non-Statutory Stock Option” means an Option granted to an Option Holder which is not intended to be or does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
	(aa) “Option” means a share purchase option granted pursuant to this Plan entitling the Option Holder to purchase Shares of the Company, and includes Incentive Stock Options and Non-Statutory Stock Options.
	(bb) “Option Certificate” means the certificate, in substantially the form set out as Schedule A hereto, evidencing the Option.
	(cc) “Option Holder” means a Person or Entity who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, the Personal Representative of such person.
	(dd) “Outstanding Issue” means the number of Class A Shares, taken together with the number of Class A Shares issuable on conversion of the Class B Shares and the Class C Multiple Voting Shares immediately prior to the Class B Share issuance or grant ...
	(ee) “Person or Entity” means an individual, natural person, corporation, government or political subdivision or agency of a government, and where two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group for the purpose ...
	(ff) “Personal Representative” means:
	(i) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and
	(ii) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder.

	(gg) “Plan” means this stock option plan as from time to time amended.
	(hh) “Regulatory Approvals” means any necessary approvals of the Regulatory Authorities as may be required from time to time for the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan or for the Options granted from time to time hereunder.
	(ii) “Regulatory Authorities” means all organized trading facilities on which the Shares are listed, and all securities commissions or similar securities regulatory bodies having jurisdiction over the Company, this Plan or the Options granted from tim...
	(jj) “Regulatory Rules” means all corporate and securities laws, regulations, rules, policies, notices, instruments and other orders of any kind whatsoever which may, from time to time, apply to the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan ...
	(kk) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), RSBC 1996, c.418 as from time to time amended.
	(ll) “Share” or “Shares” means, as the case may be, one or more Class B Shares in the capital stock of the Company.
	(mm) “Subsidiary” means a wholly-owned or controlled subsidiary corporation of the Company.
	(nn) “Ten Percent Shareholder Participant” means an individual to whom an Incentive Stock Option is granted pursuant to the provisions of the Plan who is, on the date of the grant, the owner of stock (as determined under Section 424(d) of the Code) po...
	(oo) “Triggering Event” means:
	(i) the proposed dissolution, liquidation or wind-up of the Company;
	(ii) a proposed merger, amalgamation, arrangement or reorganization of the Company with one or more corporations as a result of which, immediately following such event, the shareholders of the Company as a group, as they were immediately prior to such...
	(iii) the proposed acquisition of all or substantially all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company by one or more Persons or Entities;
	(iv) a proposed Change of Control of the Company;
	(v) the proposed sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
	(vi) a proposed material alteration of the capital structure of the Company which, in the opinion of the Committee, is of such a nature that it is not practical or feasible to make adjustments to this Plan or to the Options granted hereunder to permit...

	(pp) “U.S. Option Holder” means an Option Holder whose Options awarded under the Plan are subject to taxation under the Code, including U.S. residents and U.S. citizens regardless of country of residence.
	(qq) “Vest” or “Vesting” means that a portion of the Option granted to the Option Holder which is available to be exercised by the Option Holder at any time and from time to time.

	1.2 Choice of Law
	1.3 Headings

	SECTION 2  GRANT OF OPTIONS
	2.1 Grant of Options
	2.2 Record of Option Grants
	(a) the name and address of the Option Holder;
	(b) the category (Executive, Employee or Consultant) under which the Option was granted to him, her or it;
	(c) the designation of Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;
	(d) the Grant Date and Expiry Date of the Option;
	(e) the number of Shares which may be acquired on the exercise of the Option and the Exercise Price of the Option;
	(f) the vesting and other additional terms, if any, attached to the Option; and
	(g) the particulars of each and every time the Option is exercised.

	2.3 Effect of Plan

	SECTION 3  PURPOSE AND PARTICIPATION
	3.1 Purpose of Plan
	3.2 Participation in Plan
	3.3 Limits on Option Grants
	(a) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Option Holder under the Plan within any 12 month period shall be 5% of the Outstanding Issue (unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval if required by Regulator...
	(b) if required by Regulatory Rules, disinterested shareholder approval is required to the grant to Insiders, within a 12 month period, of a number of Options which, when added to the number of outstanding Options granted to Insiders within the previo...
	(c) with respect to section 5.1, the Expiry Date of an Option shall be no later than the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date of such Option;
	(d) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Consultant within any 12 month period must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue; and
	(e) the maximum number of Options which may be granted within any 12 month period to Employees or Consultants engaged in investor relations activities must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue and such options must vest in stages over 12 months with...

	3.4 Notification of Grant
	3.5 Copy of Plan; Effective Date of Plan
	3.6 Limitation on Service
	3.7 No Obligation to Exercise
	3.8 Agreement
	3.9 Notice
	3.10 Representation

	SECTION 4  NUMBER OF SHARES UNDER PLAN
	4.1 Number of Shares
	4.2 Fractional Shares

	SECTION 5  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS
	5.1 Exercise Period of Option
	5.2 Number of Shares Under Option
	5.3 Exercise Price of Option
	(a) for each organized trading facility on which the Class A Shares are listed, Market Value will be the closing trading price of the Class A Shares on the day immediately preceding the Grant Date, and, except with respect to Options awarded to U.S. O...
	(b) if the Company’s Class A Shares are listed on more than one organized trading facility, the Market Value shall be the Market Value as determined in accordance with subparagraph (a) above for the primary organized trading facility on which the Clas...
	(c) if the Company’s Class A Shares are listed on one or more organized trading facilities but have not traded during the ten trading days immediately preceding the Grant Date, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be requir...
	(d) if the Company’s Class A Shares are not listed on any organized trading facility, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to secure all necessary Regulatory Approvals, such value as is determined by the Committ...

	5.4 Incentive Stock Options.
	5.5 Termination of Option
	(a) Ceasing to Hold Office - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Executive and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be, unless ot...
	(i) ceasing to meet the qualifications set forth in the corporate legislation applicable to the Company;
	(ii) a special resolution having been passed by the shareholders of the Company removing the Option Holder as a director of the Company or any Subsidiary; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position; OR

	(b) Ceasing to be Employed or Engaged - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Op...
	(i) termination for cause;
	(ii) resigning his or her position; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position.


	5.6 Vesting of Option and Acceleration
	5.7 Additional Terms

	SECTION 6  TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS
	6.1 Non-transferable
	6.2 Death of Option Holder
	6.3 Disability of Option Holder
	6.4 Disability and Death of Option Holder
	6.5 Vesting
	6.6 Deemed Non-Interruption of Engagement

	SECTION 7  EXERCISE OF OPTION
	7.1 Exercise of Option
	7.2 Black Out Period
	7.3 Issue of Share Certificates
	7.4 No Rights as Shareholder
	7.5 No Right to Employment; Other Benefits
	7.6 Tax Withholding and Procedures
	(a) deliver a certified cheque, wire transfer or bank draft payable to the Company for the amount determined by the Company to be the appropriate amount on account of such taxes or related amounts;
	(b) otherwise ensure, in a manner acceptable to the Company (if at all) in its sole and unfettered discretion, that the amount will be securely funded; or
	(c) and must in all other respects follow any related procedures and conditions imposed by the Company.

	7.7 No trust Fund Created

	SECTION 8  ADMINISTRATION
	8.1 Board or Committee
	8.2 Powers of Committee
	(a) oversee the administration of the Plan in accordance with its terms;
	(b) appoint or replace the Administrator from time to time;
	(c) determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, including all questions relating to the Market Value;
	(d) correct any defect, supply any information or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purposes of the Plan;
	(e) prescribe, amend, and rescind rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Plan;
	(f) determine the duration and purposes of leaves of absence from employment or engagement by the Company which may be granted to Option Holders without constituting a termination of employment or engagement for purposes of the Plan;
	(g) do the following with respect to the granting of Options:
	(i) determine the Executives, Employees or Consultants to whom Options shall be granted, based on the eligibility criteria set out in this Plan;
	(ii) determine the terms of the Option to be granted to an Option Holder including, without limitation, the Grant Date, Expiry Date, Exercise Price and vesting schedule (which need not be identical with the terms of any other Option);
	(iii) subject to any necessary Regulatory Approvals and section 9.2, amend the terms of any Options;
	(iv) determine when Options shall be granted;
	(v) determine the number of Shares subject to each Option; and
	(vi) to designate Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;

	(h) accelerate the vesting schedule of any Option previously granted; and
	(i) make all other determinations necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion, for the administration of the Plan.

	8.3 Administration by Committee
	8.4 Interpretation

	SECTION 9  APPROVALS AND AMENDMENT
	9.1 Shareholder Approval of Plan
	9.2 Amendment of Option or Plan
	(a) materially decrease the rights or benefits accruing to an Option Holder; or
	(b) materially increase the obligations of an Option Holder; then, unless otherwise excepted out by a provision of this Plan, the Committee must also obtain the written consent of the Option Holder in question to such amendment.  If at the time the Ex...


	SECTION 10  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ISSUANCE OF OPTIONS AND SHARES
	10.1 Compliance with Laws
	10.2 Regulatory Approvals
	10.3 Inability to Obtain Regulatory Approvals

	SECTION 11  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	11.1 Termination of Plan
	11.2 No Grant During Suspension of Plan
	11.3 Alteration in Capital Structure
	(a) a change in the number or kind of shares of the Company covered by such Options; and
	(b) a change in the Exercise Price payable per Share provided, however, that the aggregate Exercise Price applicable to the unexercised portion of existing Options shall not be altered, it being intended that any adjustments made with respect to such ...
	(c) the issuance of additional securities of the Company in exchange for adequate consideration (including services); nor
	(d) the conversion of outstanding securities of the Company into Shares shall be deemed to be material alterations of the capital structure of the Company.  Any adjustment made to any Options pursuant to this section 11.3 shall not be considered an am...

	11.4 Triggering Events
	(a) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to terminate upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event; or
	(b) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to be exchanged for incentive stock options of another corporation upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event in such ratio and at such exercise price as the Committee deems approp...

	11.5 Notice of Termination by Triggering Event
	11.6 Determinations to be Made By Committee

	SECTION 12  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	12.1 Maximum Number of Options

	SECTION 13  CALIFORNIA OPTIONS
	13.1 California Options
	13.2 Termination Date
	13.3 Post-Termination Exercise Period
	(a) at least six months from the date of termination, if termination was caused by death or disability; or
	(b) at least 30 days from the date of termination, if termination was caused by other than death or disability.

	13.4 Shareholder Approval / Grant Limitations
	(a) the Company is a foreign private issuer, as defined by Rule 3b-4 of the Exchange Act, on the grant date of the California Award, and the aggregate number of persons in California granted awards under all compensation plans and agreements and issue...
	(b) prior to or within 12 months of the granting of the first California Award under the Plan and prior to increasing the number of Authorized Shares, the Plan is approved by a majority of the Company’s outstanding securities entitled to vote, not cou...

	13.5 Company Information
	(a) the Grant Date of this Option is ●, 20●; and
	(b) subject to sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 11.4 of the Plan, the Expiry Date of this Option is 20.
	1. The Options will not be exercisable unless and until they have vested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the vesting schedule below, and then only to the extent that they have vested.  Provided that the Option Holder remains in continuous...
	(a) ‎( Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after the Grant Date;
	(b) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(c) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(d) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];

	2. Upon the Option Holder ceasing to hold a position with the Company, other than as a result of the events set out in paragraphs 5.4(a) or 5.4(b) of the Plan, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be ( [Insert date desired that is longer or shorter tha...
	3. The following provisions apply to Incentive Stock Options.
	(a) Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) may be issued only to individuals who are employees of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (as defined under section 424(f) of the Code) (“U.S. Employees”).
	(b) If a U.S. Option Holder has been granted an ISO and ceases to be a U.S. Employee, then, in order to retain the status of the Option as an ISO for U.S. federal tax purposes, such Option must be exercised within the time limits set forth below.  Fai...


	(c) To the extent that an Option designated as an ISO becomes exercisable by an Option Holder for the first time during any calendar year for Shares having a fair market value greater than US$100,000 (measured by the fair market value as of the Grant ...
	(d) all of the Shares; or
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	SECTION 1  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions
	(a) “Administrator” means such Executive or Employee of the Company as may be designated as Administrator by the Committee from time to time, or, if no such person is appointed, the Committee itself.
	(b) “Black-Out” means a restriction imposed by the Company on all or any of its directors, officers, employees, insiders or persons in a special relationship whereby they are to refrain from trading in the Company’s securities until the restriction ha...
	(c) “Board” means the board of directors of the Company.
	(d) “Change of Control” means an occurrence when either:
	(i) a Person or Entity, other than the current “control person” of the Company (as that term is defined in the Securities Act), becomes a “control person” of the Company; or
	(ii) a majority of the directors elected at any annual or extraordinary general meeting of shareholders of the Company are not individuals nominated by the Company’s then- incumbent Board.

	(e) “Class A Shares” means the Company’s Class A subordinate voting shares.
	(f) “Code” means the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any regulations thereunder.
	(g) “Committee” means a committee of the Board to which the responsibility of approving the grant of stock options has been delegated, or if no such committee is appointed, the Board itself.  At any time that the Company is an SEC registrant and is no...
	(h) “Company” means 4Front Ventures Corp.
	(i) “Consultant” means an individual who:
	(i) is engaged to provide, on an ongoing bona fide basis, consulting, technical, management or other services to the Company or any Subsidiary, other than services provided in relation to a “distribution” (as that term is described in the Securities A...
	(ii) provides the services under a written contract between the Company or any Subsidiary and the individual or a Consultant Entity (as defined in clause (v) below);
	(iii) in the reasonable opinion of the Company, spends or will spend a significant amount of time and attention on the affairs and business of the Company or any Subsidiary; and
	(iv) has a relationship with the Company or any Subsidiary that enables the individual to be knowledgeable about the business and affairs of the Company or is otherwise permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as a Consultant or ...
	(v) a corporation of which the individual is an employee or shareholder or a partnership of which the individual is an employee or partner (a “Consultant Entity”); or
	(vi) an RRSP or RRIF established by or for the individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(j) “Disability” means a medically determinable physical or mental impairment expected to result in death or to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months, and which causes an individual to be unable to engage in any substantial gainful a...
	(k) “Employee” means:
	(i) an individual who works full-time or part-time for the Company or any Subsidiary and such other individual as may, from time to time, be permitted by applicable Regulatory Rules to be granted Options as an employee or as an equivalent thereto; or
	(ii) an individual who works for the Company or any Subsidiary either full-time or on a continuing and regular basis for a minimum amount of time per week providing services normally provided by an employee and who is subject to the same control and d...
	(iii) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(iv) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(l) “Exchange” means the stock exchange upon which the Class A Shares principally trade.
	(m) “Exchange Act “ means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
	(n) “Executive” means an individual who is a director or officer of the Company or a Subsidiary, and includes:
	(i) a corporation wholly-owned by such individual; and
	(ii) any RRSP or RRIF established by or for such individual under which he or she is the beneficiary.

	(o) “Exercise Notice” means the written notice of the exercise of an Option, in the form set out as Schedule B hereto, duly executed by the Option Holder.
	(p) “Exercise Period” means the period during which a particular Option may be exercised and is the period from and including the Grant Date through to and including the Expiry Time on the Expiry Date provided, however, that no Option can be exercised...
	(q) “Exercise Price” means the price at which an Option is exercisable as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(r) “Expiry Date” means the date the Option expires as set out in the Option Certificate or as otherwise determined in accordance with sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 or 11.4.
	(s) “Expiry Time” means the time the Option expires on the Expiry Date, which is 4:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada on the Expiry Date.
	(t) “Grant Date” means the date on which the Committee grants a particular Option, which is the date the Option comes into effect provided however that no Option can be exercised unless and until all necessary Regulatory Approvals have been obtained.
	(u) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is labelled or described as an Incentive Stock Option and which qualifies as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422(b) of the Code.
	(v) “Insider” means an insider as that term is defined in the Securities Act.
	(w) “Market Value” means the market value of the Class A Shares as determined in accordance with section 5.3.
	(x) “Non-Statutory Stock Option” means an Option granted to an Option Holder which is not intended to be or does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.
	(y) “Option” means a share purchase option granted pursuant to this Plan entitling the Option Holder to purchase Shares of the Company, and includes Incentive Stock Options and Non-Statutory Stock Options.
	(z) “Option Certificate” means the certificate, in substantially the form set out as Schedule A hereto, evidencing the Option.
	(aa) “Option Holder” means a Person or Entity who holds an unexercised and unexpired Option or, where applicable, the Personal Representative of such person.
	(bb) “Outstanding Issue” means the number of Class A Shares, taken together with the number of Shares issuable on conversion of the Class B Proportionate Voting Shares and the Class C Multiple Voting Shares immediately prior to the Class A Share issua...
	(cc) “Person or Entity” means an individual, natural person, corporation, government or political subdivision or agency of a government, and where two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group for the purpose ...
	(dd) “Personal Representative” means:
	(i) in the case of a deceased Option Holder, the executor or administrator of the deceased duly appointed by a court or public authority having jurisdiction to do so; and
	(ii) in the case of an Option Holder who for any reason is unable to manage his or her affairs, the person entitled by law to act on behalf of such Option Holder.

	(ee) “Plan” means this stock option plan as from time to time amended.
	(ff) “Regulatory Approvals” means any necessary approvals of the Regulatory Authorities as may be required from time to time for the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan or for the Options granted from time to time hereunder.
	(gg) “Regulatory Authorities” means all organized trading facilities on which the Shares are listed, and all securities commissions or similar securities regulatory bodies having jurisdiction over the Company, this Plan or the Options granted from tim...
	(hh) “Regulatory Rules” means all corporate and securities laws, regulations, rules, policies, notices, instruments and other orders of any kind whatsoever which may, from time to time, apply to the implementation, operation or amendment of this Plan ...
	(ii) “Securities Act” means the Securities Act (British Columbia), RSBC 1996, c.418 as from time to time amended.
	(jj) “Share” or “Shares” means, as the case may be, one or more Class A Shares in the capital stock of the Company.
	(kk) “Subsidiary” means a wholly-owned or controlled subsidiary corporation of the Company.
	(ll) “Ten Percent Shareholder Participant” means an individual to whom an Incentive Stock Option is granted pursuant to the provisions of the Plan who is, on the date of the grant, the owner of stock (as determined under Section 424(d) of the Code) po...
	(mm) “Triggering Event” means:
	(i) the proposed dissolution, liquidation or wind-up of the Company;
	(ii) a proposed merger, amalgamation, arrangement or reorganization of the Company with one or more corporations as a result of which, immediately following such event, the shareholders of the Company as a group, as they were immediately prior to such...
	(iii) the proposed acquisition of all or substantially all of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company by one or more Persons or Entities;
	(iv) a proposed Change of Control of the Company;
	(v) the proposed sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or
	(vi) a proposed material alteration of the capital structure of the Company which, in the opinion of the Committee, is of such a nature that it is not practical or feasible to make adjustments to this Plan or to the Options granted hereunder to permit...

	(nn) “U.S. Option Holder” means an Option Holder whose Options awarded under the Plan are subject to taxation under the Code, including U.S. residents and U.S. citizens regardless of country of residence.
	(oo) “Vest” or “Vesting” means that a portion of the Option granted to the Option Holder which is available to be exercised by the Option Holder at any time and from time to time.

	1.2 Choice of Law
	1.3 Headings

	SECTION 2  GRANT OF OPTIONS
	2.1 Grant of Options
	2.2 Record of Option Grants
	(a) the name and address of the Option Holder;
	(b) the category (Executive, Employee or Consultant) under which the Option was granted to him, her or it;
	(c) the designation of Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;
	(d) the Grant Date and Expiry Date of the Option;
	(e) the number of Shares which may be acquired on the exercise of the Option and the Exercise Price of the Option;
	(f) the vesting and other additional terms, if any, attached to the Option; and
	(g) the particulars of each and every time the Option is exercised.

	2.3 Effect of Plan

	SECTION 3  PURPOSE AND PARTICIPATION
	3.1 Purpose of Plan
	3.2 Participation in Plan
	3.3 Limits on Option Grants
	(a) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Option Holder under the Plan within any 12 month period shall be 5% of the Outstanding Issue (unless the Company has obtained disinterested shareholder approval if required by Regulator...
	(b) if required by Regulatory Rules, disinterested shareholder approval is required to the grant to Insiders, within a 12 month period, of a number of Options which, when added to the number of outstanding Options granted to Insiders within the previo...
	(c) with respect to section 5.1, the Expiry Date of an Option shall be no later than the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date of such Option;
	(d) the maximum number of Options which may be granted to any one Consultant within any 12 month period must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue; and
	(e) the maximum number of Options which may be granted within any 12 month period to Employees or Consultants engaged in investor relations activities must not exceed 2% of the Outstanding Issue and such options must vest in stages over 12 months with...

	3.4 Notification of Grant
	3.5 Copy of Plan; Effective Date of Plan
	3.6 Limitation on Service
	3.7 No Obligation to Exercise
	3.8 Agreement
	3.9 Notice
	3.10 Representation

	SECTION 4  NUMBER OF SHARES UNDER PLAN
	4.1 Number of Shares
	4.2 Fractional Shares

	SECTION 5  TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF OPTIONS
	5.1 Exercise Period of Option
	5.2 Number of Shares Under Option
	5.3 Exercise Price of Option
	(a) for each organized trading facility on which the Shares are listed, Market Value will be the closing trading price of the Shares on the day immediately preceding the Grant Date, and, except with respect to Options awarded to U.S. Option Holders, m...
	(b) if the Company’s Shares are listed on more than one organized trading facility, the Market Value shall be the Market Value as determined in accordance with subparagraph (a) above for the primary organized trading facility on which the Shares are l...
	(c) if the Company’s Shares are listed on one or more organized trading facilities but have not traded during the ten trading days immediately preceding the Grant Date, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to se...
	(d) if the Company’s Shares are not listed on any organized trading facility, then the Market Value will be, subject to any adjustments as may be required to secure all necessary Regulatory Approvals, such value as is determined by the Committee to be...

	5.4 Incentive Stock Options.
	5.5 Termination of Option
	(a) Ceasing to Hold Office - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Executive and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be, unless ot...
	(i) ceasing to meet the qualifications set forth in the corporate legislation applicable to the Company;
	(ii) a special resolution having been passed by the shareholders of the Company removing the Option Holder as a director of the Company or any Subsidiary; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position; OR

	(b) Ceasing to be Employed or Engaged - In the event that the Option Holder holds his or her Option as an Employee or Consultant and such Option Holder ceases to hold such position other than by reason of death or Disability, the Expiry Date of the Op...
	(i) termination for cause;
	(ii) resigning his or her position; or
	(iii) an order made by any Regulatory Authority having jurisdiction to so order, in which case the Expiry Date shall be the date the Option Holder ceases to hold such position.


	5.6 Vesting of Option and Acceleration
	5.7 Additional Terms

	SECTION 6  TRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS
	6.1 Non-transferable
	6.2 Death of Option Holder
	6.3 Disability of Option Holder
	6.4 Disability and Death of Option Holder
	6.5 Vesting
	6.6 Deemed Non-Interruption of Engagement

	SECTION 7  EXERCISE OF OPTION
	7.1 Exercise of Option
	7.2 Black Out Period
	7.3 Issue of Share Certificates
	7.4 No Rights as Shareholder
	7.5 No Right to Employment; Other Benefits
	7.6 Tax Withholding and Procedures
	(a) deliver a certified cheque, wire transfer or bank draft payable to the Company for the amount determined by the Company to be the appropriate amount on account of such taxes or related amounts;
	(b) otherwise ensure, in a manner acceptable to the Company (if at all) in its sole and unfettered discretion, that the amount will be securely funded; or
	(c) and must in all other respects follow any related procedures and conditions imposed by the Company.

	7.7 No trust Fund Created

	SECTION 8  ADMINISTRATION
	8.1 Board or Committee
	8.2 Powers of Committee
	(a) oversee the administration of the Plan in accordance with its terms;
	(b) appoint or replace the Administrator from time to time;
	(c) determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, including all questions relating to the Market Value;
	(d) correct any defect, supply any information or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner and to such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purposes of the Plan;
	(e) prescribe, amend, and rescind rules and regulations relating to the administration of the Plan;
	(f) determine the duration and purposes of leaves of absence from employment or engagement by the Company which may be granted to Option Holders without constituting a termination of employment or engagement for purposes of the Plan;
	(g) do the following with respect to the granting of Options:
	(i) determine the Executives, Employees or Consultants to whom Options shall be granted, based on the eligibility criteria set out in this Plan;
	(ii) determine the terms of the Option to be granted to an Option Holder including, without limitation, the Grant Date, Expiry Date, Exercise Price and vesting schedule (which need not be identical with the terms of any other Option);
	(iii) subject to any necessary Regulatory Approvals and section 9.2, amend the terms of any Options;
	(iv) determine when Options shall be granted;
	(v) determine the number of Shares subject to each Option; and
	(vi) to designate Options as Incentive Stock Options or Non-Statutory Options, as applicable;

	(h) accelerate the vesting schedule of any Option previously granted; and
	(i) make all other determinations necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion, for the administration of the Plan.

	8.3 Administration by Committee
	8.4 Interpretation

	SECTION 9  APPROVALS AND AMENDMENT
	9.1 Shareholder Approval of Plan
	9.2 Amendment of Option or Plan
	(a) materially decrease the rights or benefits accruing to an Option Holder; or
	(b) materially increase the obligations of an Option Holder; then, unless otherwise excepted out by a provision of this Plan, the Committee must also obtain the written consent of the Option Holder in question to such amendment.  If at the time the Ex...


	SECTION 10  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ISSUANCE OF OPTIONS AND SHARES
	10.1 Compliance with Laws
	10.2 Regulatory Approvals
	10.3 Inability to Obtain Regulatory Approvals

	SECTION 11  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	11.1 Termination of Plan
	11.2 No Grant During Suspension of Plan
	11.3 Alteration in Capital Structure
	(a) a change in the number or kind of shares of the Company covered by such Options; and
	(b) a change in the Exercise Price payable per Share provided, however, that the aggregate Exercise Price applicable to the unexercised portion of existing Options shall not be altered, it being intended that any adjustments made with respect to such ...
	(c) the issuance of additional securities of the Company in exchange for adequate consideration (including services); nor
	(d) the conversion of outstanding securities of the Company into Shares shall be deemed to be material alterations of the capital structure of the Company.  Any adjustment made to any Options pursuant to this section 11.3 shall not be considered an am...

	11.4 Triggering Events
	(a) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to terminate upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event; or
	(b) cause all or a portion of any of the Options granted under the Plan to be exchanged for incentive stock options of another corporation upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event in such ratio and at such exercise price as the Committee deems approp...

	11.5 Notice of Termination by Triggering Event
	11.6 Determinations to be Made By Committee

	SECTION 12  ADJUSTMENTS AND TERMINATION
	12.1 Maximum Number of Options

	SECTION 13  CALIFORNIA OPTIONS
	13.1 California Options
	13.2 Termination Date
	13.3 Post-Termination Exercise Period
	(a) at least six months from the date of termination, if termination was caused by death or disability; or
	(b) at least 30 days from the date of termination, if termination was caused by other than death or disability.

	13.4 Shareholder Approval / Grant Limitations
	(a) the Company is a foreign private issuer, as defined by Rule 3b-4 of the Exchange Act, on the grant date of the California Award, and the aggregate number of persons in California granted awards under all compensation plans and agreements and issue...
	(b) prior to or within 12 months of the granting of the first California Award under the Plan and prior to increasing the number of Authorized Shares, the Plan is approved by a majority of the Company’s outstanding securities entitled to vote, not cou...

	13.5 Company Information
	(a) the Grant Date of this Option is ●, 20●; and
	(b) subject to sections 5.4, 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 11.4 of the Plan, the Expiry Date of this Option is 20.
	1. The Options will not be exercisable unless and until they have vested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the vesting schedule below, and then only to the extent that they have vested.  Provided that the Option Holder remains in continuous...
	(a) ‎( Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after the Grant Date;
	(b) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(c) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];
	(d) ( additional Shares ((%) will vest and be exercisable on or after ( [date];

	2. Upon the Option Holder ceasing to hold a position with the Company, other than as a result of the events set out in paragraphs 5.4(a) or 5.4(b) of the Plan, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be ( [Insert date desired that is longer or shorter tha...
	3. The following provisions apply to Incentive Stock Options.
	(a) Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) may be issued only to individuals who are employees of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company (as defined under section 424(f) of the Code) (“U.S. Employees”).
	(b) If a U.S. Option Holder has been granted an ISO and ceases to be a U.S. Employee, then, in order to retain the status of the Option as an ISO for U.S. federal tax purposes, such Option must be exercised within the time limits set forth below.  Fai...


	(c) To the extent that an Option designated as an ISO becomes exercisable by an Option Holder for the first time during any calendar year for Shares having a fair market value greater than US$100,000 (measured by the fair market value as of the Grant ...
	(d) all of the Shares; or



	Schedule F - Articles.pdf
	PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA
	Part 1  INTERPRETATION
	1.1 Definitions.
	1.2 Business Corporations Act Definitions Apply.
	1.3 Interpretation Act Applies.
	1.4 Conflict in Definitions.
	1.5 Conflict Between Articles and Legislation.

	Part 2  SHARES AND SHARE CERTIFICATES
	2.1 Authorized Share Structure.
	2.2 Form of Share Certificate.
	2.3 Right to Share Certificate or Acknowledgement.
	(a) one certificate representing the share or shares of each class or series of shares registered in the shareholder’s name; or
	(b) a non-transferable written acknowledgment of the shareholder’s right to obtain such a share certificate,

	2.4 Sending of Share Certificate.
	2.5 Replacement of Worn Out or Defaced Certificate.
	(a) order the certificate to be cancelled; and
	(b) issue a replacement share certificate.

	2.6 Replacement of Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificate.
	(a) proof satisfactory to them that the certificate is lost, stolen or destroyed; and
	(b) any indemnity the board of directors, or any officer or agent designated by the directors, considers adequate.

	2.7 Splitting Share Certificates.
	2.8 Certificate Fee.
	2.9 Recognition of Trusts.

	Part 3  ISSUE OF SHARES
	3.1 Directors Authorized to Issue Shares.
	3.2 Commissions and Discounts.
	3.3 Brokerage.
	3.4 Conditions of Issue.
	(a) consideration is provided to the Company for the issue of the share by one or more of the following:
	(i) past services performed for the Company;
	(ii) property; or
	(iii) money; and

	(b) the value of the consideration received by the Company equals or exceeds the issue price set for the share under Article 3.1.

	3.5 Warrants, Options and Rights.
	3.6 Fractional Shares.

	Part 4  SHARE REGISTERS
	4.1 Central Securities Register.
	4.2 Branch Registers.
	4.3 Appointment of Agents.
	4.4 Closing Register.

	Part 5  SHARE TRANSFERS
	5.1 Recording or Registering Transfer.
	(a) a duly signed instrument of transfer in respect of the share has been received by the Company;
	(b) if a share certificate has been issued by the Company in respect of the share to be transferred, that share certificate has been surrendered to the Company; and
	(c) if a non-transferable written acknowledgment of the shareholder’s right to obtain a share certificate has been issued by the Company in respect of the share to be transferred, that acknowledgment has been surrendered to the Company.

	5.2 Form of Instrument of Transfer.
	5.3 Transferor Remains Shareholder.
	5.4 Signing of Instrument of Transfer.
	(a) in the name of the person named as transferee in that instrument of transfer; or
	(b) if no person is named as transferee in that instrument of transfer, in the name of the person on whose behalf the share certificate is deposited for the purpose of having the transfer registered.

	5.5 Enquiry as to Title Not Required.
	5.6 Transfer Fee.

	Part 6  TRANSMISSION OF SHARES
	6.1 Legal Personal Representative Recognized on Death.
	6.2 Rights of Legal Personal Representative.

	Part 7  PURCHASE OF SHARES
	7.1 Company Authorized to Purchase Shares.
	7.2 Purchase When Insolvent.
	(a) the Company is insolvent; or
	(b) making the payment or providing the consideration would render the Company insolvent.

	7.3 Sale and Voting of Purchased Shares.
	(a) is not entitled to vote the share at a meeting of its shareholders;
	(b) must not pay a dividend in respect of the share; and
	(c) must not make any other distribution in respect of the share.


	Part 8  BORROWING POWERS
	8.1 Powers of Directors.
	(a) borrow money in the manner and amount, on the security, from the sources and on the terms and conditions that the directors consider appropriate;
	(b) issue bonds, debentures and other debt obligations either outright or as security for any liability or obligation of the Company or any other person;
	(c) guarantee the repayment of money by any other person or the performance of any obligation of any other person; and
	(d) mortgage or charge, whether by way of specific or floating charge, or give other security on the whole or any part of the present and future undertaking of the Company.

	8.2 Terms of Debt Instruments.
	8.3 Delegation by Directors.

	Part 9  ALTERATIONS
	9.1 Alteration of Authorized Share Structure.
	(a) create one or more classes or series of shares or, if none of the shares of a class or series of shares is allotted or issued, eliminate that class or series of shares;
	(b) increase, reduce or eliminate the maximum number of shares that the Company is authorized to issue out of any class or series of shares or establish a maximum number of shares that the Company is authorized to issue out of any class or series of s...
	(c) subdivide or consolidate all or any of its unissued, or fully paid issued, shares;
	(d) if the Company is authorized to issue shares of a class of shares with par value:
	(i) decrease the par value of those shares; or
	(ii) if none of the shares of that class of shares is allotted or issued, increase the par value of those shares;

	(e) change all or any of its unissued, or fully paid issued, shares with par value into shares without par value or any of its unissued shares without par value into shares with par value;
	(f) alter the identifying name of any of its shares; or
	(g) otherwise alter its shares or authorized share structure when required or permitted to do so by the Business Corporations Act.

	9.2 Special Rights and Restrictions.
	(a) create special rights or restrictions for, and attach those special rights or restrictions to, the shares of any class or series of shares, whether or not any or all of those shares have been issued; or
	(b) vary or delete any special rights or restrictions attached to the shares of any class or series of shares, whether or not any or all of those shares have been issued.

	9.3 Company Alterations

	Part 10  MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS
	10.1 Annual General Meetings.
	10.2 Resolution Instead of Annual General Meeting.
	10.3 Calling of Shareholder Meetings.
	10.4 Location of Shareholder Meetings.
	10.5 Notice for Meetings of Shareholders.
	(a) if and for so long as the Company is a public company, 21 days; and
	(b) otherwise, 10 days.

	10.6 Record Date for Notice.
	(a) if and for so long as the Company is a public company, 21 days; and
	(b) otherwise, 10 days.

	10.7 Record Date for Voting.
	10.8 Failure to Give Notice and Waiver of Notice.
	10.9 Notice of Special Business at Meetings of Shareholders.
	(a) state the general nature of the special business; and
	(b) if the special business includes considering, approving, ratifying, adopting or authorizing any document or the signing of or giving of effect to any document, have attached to it a copy of the document or state that a copy of the document will be...
	(i) at the Company’s records office, or at such other reasonably accessible location in British Columbia as is specified in the notice; and
	(ii) during statutory business hours on any one or more specified days before the day set for the holding of the meeting.



	Part 11  PROCEEDINGS AT MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS
	11.1 Special Business.
	(a) at a meeting of shareholders that is not an annual general meeting, all business is special business except business relating to the conduct of or voting at the meeting;
	(b) at an annual general meeting, all business is special business except for the following:
	(i) business relating to the conduct of, or voting at, the meeting;
	(ii) consideration of any financial statements of the Company presented to the meeting;
	(iii) consideration of any reports of the directors or auditor;
	(iv) the setting or changing of the number of directors;
	(v) the election or appointment of directors;
	(vi) the appointment of an auditor;
	(vii) business arising out of a report of the directors not requiring the passing of a special resolution or an exceptional resolution; and
	(viii) any other business which, under these Articles or the Business Corporations Act, may be transacted at a meeting of shareholders without prior notice of the business being given to the shareholders.


	11.2 Special Majority.
	11.3 Quorum.
	11.4 One Shareholder May Constitute Quorum.
	(a) the quorum is one person who is, or who represents by proxy, that shareholder; and
	(b) that shareholder, present in person or by proxy, may constitute the meeting.

	11.5 Meetings by Telephone or Other Communications Medium.
	11.6 Other Persons May Attend.
	11.7 Requirement of Quorum.
	11.8 Lack of Quorum.
	(a) in the case of a general meeting convened by requisition of shareholders, the meeting is dissolved; and
	(b) in the case of any other meeting of shareholders, the meeting stands adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and place, or at such other date, time or location as the chair specifies on the adjournment.

	11.9 Lack of Quorum at Succeeding Meeting.
	11.10 Chair.
	(a) the chair of the board, if any; and
	(b) if the chair of the board is absent or unwilling to act as chair of the meeting, the president, if any.

	11.11 Selection of Alternate Chair.
	11.12 Adjournments.
	11.13 Notice of Adjourned Meeting.
	11.14 Decisions by Show of Hands or Poll.
	11.15 Declaration of Result.
	11.16 Motion Need Not Be Seconded.
	11.17 Casting Vote.
	11.18 Manner of Taking a Poll.
	(a) the poll must be taken:
	(i) at the meeting, or within seven days after the date of the meeting, as the chair of the meeting directs; and
	(ii) in the manner, at the time and at the place that the chair of the meeting directs;

	(b) the result of the poll is deemed to be a resolution of and passed at the meeting at which the poll is demanded; and
	(c) the demand for the poll may be withdrawn by the person who demanded it.

	11.19 Demand for a Poll on Adjournment.
	11.20 Chair Must Resolve Dispute.
	11.21 Casting of Votes.
	11.22 Demand for Poll.
	11.23 Demand for a Poll Not to Prevent Continuation of Meeting.
	11.24 Retention of Ballots and Proxies.

	Part 12  VOTES OF SHAREHOLDERS
	12.1 Number of Votes by Shareholder or by Shares.
	(a) on a vote by show of hands, every person present who is a shareholder or proxy holder and entitled to vote at the meeting has one vote, and
	(b) on a poll, every shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting has one vote in respect of each share held by that shareholder and may exercise that vote either in person or by proxy.

	12.2 Votes of Persons in Representative Capacity.
	12.3 Votes by Joint Shareholders.
	(a) any one of the joint shareholders may vote at any meeting, either personally or by proxy, in respect of the share as if that joint shareholder were solely entitled to it; or
	(b) if more than one of the joint shareholders is present at any meeting, personally or by proxy, and more than one of them votes in respect of that share, then only the vote of the joint shareholder present whose name stands first on the central secu...

	12.4 Legal Personal Representatives as Joint Shareholders.
	12.5 Representative of a Corporate Shareholder.
	(a) for that purpose, the instrument appointing a representative must:
	(i) be received at the registered office of the Company or at any other place specified, in the notice calling the meeting, for the receipt of proxies, at least the number of business days specified in the notice for the receipt of proxies or, if no n...
	(ii) be provided, at the meeting, to the chair of the meeting or to a person designated by the chair of the meeting; and

	(b) if a representative is appointed under this Article 12.5:
	(i) the representative is entitled to exercise in respect of and at that meeting the same rights on behalf of the corporation that the representative represents as that corporation could exercise if it were a shareholder who is an individual, includin...
	(ii) the representative, if present at the meeting, is to be counted for the purpose of forming a quorum and is deemed to be a shareholder present in person at the meeting.


	12.6 Proxy Provisions Do Not Apply to All Companies.
	12.7 Appointment of Proxy Holder.
	12.8 Alternate Proxy Holders.
	12.9 When Proxy Holder Need Not Be Shareholder.
	(a) the person appointing the proxy holder is a corporation or a representative of a corporation appointed under Article 12.5;
	(b) the Company has at the time of the meeting for which the proxy holder is to be appointed only one shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting;
	(c) the shareholders present in person or by proxy at and entitled to vote at the meeting for which the proxy holder is to be appointed, by a resolution on which the proxy holder is not entitled to vote but in respect of which the proxy holder is to b...
	(d) the Company is a public company.

	12.10 Deposit of Proxy.
	(a) be received at the registered office of the Company or at any other place specified, in the notice calling the meeting, for the receipt of proxies, at least the number of business days specified in the notice, or if no number of days is specified,...
	(b) unless the notice provides otherwise, be provided, at the meeting, to the chair of the meeting or to a person designated by the chair of the meeting.

	12.11 Validity of Proxy Vote.
	(a) at the registered office of the Company, at any time up to and including the last business day before the day set for the holding of the meeting at which the proxy is to be used; or
	(b) by the chair of the meeting, before the vote is taken.

	12.12 Form of Proxy.
	12.13 Revocation of Proxy.
	(a) received at the registered office of the Company at any time up to and including the last business day before the day set for the holding of the meeting at which the proxy is to be used; or
	(b) provided, at the meeting, to the chair of the meeting.

	12.14 Revocation of Proxy Must Be Signed.
	(a) if the shareholder for whom the proxy holder is appointed is an individual, the instrument must be signed by the shareholder or his or her legal personal representative or trustee in bankruptcy; or
	(b) if the shareholder for whom the proxy holder is appointed is a corporation, the instrument must be signed by the corporation or by a representative appointed for the corporation under Article 12.5.

	12.15 Production of Evidence of Authority to Vote.

	Part 13  DIRECTORS
	13.1 Number of Directors.
	(a) if the Company is a public company, the greater of three and the most recently set of:
	(i) the number of directors set by ordinary resolution (whether or not previous notice of the resolution was given); and
	(ii) the number of directors set under Article 14.4;

	(b) if the Company is not a public company, the most recently set of:
	(i) the number of directors set by ordinary resolution (whether or not previous notice of the resolution was given); and
	(ii) the number of directors set under Article 14.4.


	13.2 Change in Number of Directors.
	(a) the shareholders may elect or appoint the directors needed to fill any vacancies in the board of directors up to that number;
	(b) if the shareholders do not elect or appoint the directors needed to fill any vacancies in the board of directors up to that number contemporaneously with the setting of that number, then the directors may appoint, or the shareholders may elect or ...

	13.3 Directors’ Acts Valid Despite Vacancy.
	13.4 Qualifications of Directors.
	13.5 Remuneration of Directors.
	13.6 Reimbursement of Expenses of Directors.
	13.7 Special Remuneration for Directors.
	13.8 Gratuity, Pension or Allowance on Retirement of Director.

	Part 14  ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
	14.1 Election at Annual General Meeting.
	(a) the shareholders entitled to vote at the annual general meeting for the election of directors must elect, or in the unanimous resolution appoint, a board of directors consisting of the number of directors for the time being set under these Article...
	(b) all the directors cease to hold office immediately before the election or appointment of directors under paragraph (a), but are eligible for re-election or re-appointment.

	14.2 Consent to be a Director.
	(a) that individual consents to be a director in the manner provided for in the Business Corporations Act; or
	(b) that individual is elected or appointed at a meeting at which the individual is present and the individual does not refuse, at the meeting, to be a director.

	14.3 Failure to Elect or Appoint Directors.
	(a) the Company fails to hold an annual general meeting, and all the shareholders who are entitled to vote at an annual general meeting fail to pass the unanimous resolution contemplated by Article 10.2, on or before the date by which the annual gener...
	(b) the shareholders fail, at the annual general meeting or in the unanimous resolution contemplated by Article 10.2, to elect or appoint any directors;
	(c) the date on which his or her successor is elected or appointed; and
	(d) the date on which he or she otherwise ceases to hold office under the Business Corporations Act or these Articles.

	14.4 Places of Retiring Directors Not Filled.
	14.5 Directors May Fill Casual Vacancies.
	14.6 Remaining Directors Power to Act.
	14.7 Shareholders May Fill Vacancies.
	14.8 Additional Directors.
	(a) one-third of the number of first directors, if, at the time of the appointments, one or more of the first directors have not yet completed their first term of office; or
	(b) in any other case, one-third of the number of the current directors who were elected or appointed as directors other than under this Article 14.8.

	14.9 Ceasing to be a Director.
	(a) the term of office of the director expires;
	(b) the director dies;
	(c) the director resigns as a director by notice in writing provided to the Company or a lawyer for the Company; or
	(d) the director is removed from office pursuant to Articles 14.10 or 14.11.

	14.10 Removal of Director by Shareholders.
	14.11 Removal of Director by Directors.

	Part 15  POWERS AND DUTIES OF DIRECTORS
	15.1 Powers of Management.
	15.2 Appointment of Attorney of Company.

	Part 16  DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST OF DIRECTORS
	16.1 Obligation to Account for Profits.
	16.2 Restrictions on Voting by Reason of Interest.
	16.3 Interested Director Counted in Quorum.
	16.4 Disclosure of Conflict of Interest or Property.
	16.5 Director Holding Other Office in the Company.
	16.6 No Disqualification.
	16.7 Professional Services by Director or Officer.
	16.8 Director or Officer in Other Corporations.

	Part 17  PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS
	17.1 Meetings of Directors.
	17.2 Voting at Meetings.
	17.3 Chair of Meetings.
	(a) the chair of the board, if any;
	(b) in the absence of the chair of the board, the president, if any, if the president is a director; or
	(c) any other director chosen by the directors if:
	(i) neither the chair of the board nor the president, if a director, is present at the meeting within 15 minutes after the time set for holding the meeting;
	(ii) neither the chair of the board nor the president, if a director, is willing to chair the meeting; or
	(iii) the chair of the board and the president, if a director, have advised the secretary, if any, or any other director, that they will not be present at the meeting.


	17.4 Meetings by Telephone or Other Communications Medium.
	17.5 Calling of Meetings.
	17.6 Notice of Meetings.
	17.7 When Notice Not Required.
	(a) the meeting is to be held immediately following a meeting of shareholders at which that director was elected or appointed or is the meeting of the directors at which that director is appointed; or
	(b) the director has waived notice of the meeting.

	17.8 Meeting Valid Despite Failure to Give Notice.
	17.9 Waiver of Notice of Meetings.
	17.10 Quorum.
	17.11 Validity of Acts Where Appointment Defective.
	17.12 Consent Resolutions in Writing.

	Part 18  EXECUTIVE AND OTHER COMMITTEES
	18.1 Appointment and Powers of Executive Committee.
	(a) the power to fill vacancies in the board of directors;
	(b) the power to remove a director;
	(c) the power to change the membership of, or fill vacancies in, any committee of the directors; and
	(d) such other powers, if any, as may be set out in the resolution or any subsequent directors’ resolution.

	18.2 Appointment and Powers of Other Committees.
	(a) appoint one or more committees (other than the executive committee) consisting of the director or directors that they consider appropriate;
	(b) delegate to a committee appointed under paragraph (a) any of the directors’ powers, except:
	(i) the power to fill vacancies in the board of directors;
	(ii) the power to remove a director;
	(iii) the power to change the membership of, or fill vacancies in, any committee of the board, and
	(iv) the power to appoint or remove officers appointed by the board; and

	(c) make any delegation referred to in paragraph (b) subject to the conditions set out in the resolution.

	18.3 Obligations of Committee.
	(a) conform to any rules that may from time to time be imposed on it by the directors; and
	(b) report every act or thing done in exercise of those powers as the directors may require.

	18.4 Powers of Board.
	(a) revoke or alter the authority given to a committee, or override a decision made by a committee, except as to acts done before such revocation, alteration or overriding;
	(b) terminate the appointment of, or change the membership of, a committee; and
	(c) fill vacancies on a committee.

	18.5 Committee Meetings.
	(a) the committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper;
	(b) the committee may elect a chair of its meetings but, if no chair of the meeting is elected, or if at any meeting the chair of the meeting is not present within 15 minutes after the time set for holding the meeting, the directors present who are me...
	(c) a majority of the members of a directors’ committee constitutes a quorum of the committee; and
	(d) questions arising at any meeting of the committee are determined by a majority of votes of the members present, and in case of an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting has no second or casting vote.


	Part 19  OFFICERS
	19.1 Appointment of Officers.
	19.2 Functions, Duties and Powers of Officers.
	(a) determine the functions and duties of the officer;
	(b) entrust to and confer on the officer any of the powers exercisable by the directors on such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as the directors think fit; and
	(c) revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any of the functions, duties and powers of the officer.

	19.3 Qualifications.
	19.4 Remuneration.

	Part 20  INDEMNIFICATION
	20.1 Definitions.
	(a) “eligible penalty” means a judgment, penalty or fine awarded or imposed in, or an amount paid in settlement of, an eligible proceeding;
	(b) “eligible proceeding” means a legal proceeding or investigative action, whether current, threatened, pending or completed, in which a director, former director of the Company or an affiliate of the Company (an “eligible party”) or any of the heirs...
	(i) is or may be joined as a party; or
	(ii) is or may be liable for or in respect of a judgment, penalty or fine in, or expenses related to, the proceeding;

	(c) “expenses” has the meaning set out in the Business Corporations Act.

	20.2 Mandatory Indemnification of Directors and Former Directors.
	20.3 Indemnification of Other Persons.
	20.4 Non-Compliance with Business Corporations Act.
	20.5 Company May Purchase Insurance.
	(a) is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Company;
	(b) is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of a corporation at a time when the corporation is or was an affiliate of the Company;
	(c) at the request of the Company, is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of a corporation or of a partnership, trust, joint venture or other unincorporated entity;
	(d) at the request of the Company, holds or held a position equivalent to that of a director or officer of a partnership, trust, joint venture or other unincorporated entity;


	Part 21  DIVIDENDS
	21.1 Payment of Dividends Subject to Special Rights.
	21.2 Declaration of Dividends.
	21.3 No Notice Required.
	21.4 Record Date.
	21.5 Manner of Paying Dividend.
	21.6 Settlement of Difficulties.
	(a) set the value for distribution of specific assets;
	(b) determine that cash payments in substitution for all or any part of the specific assets to which any shareholders are entitled may be made to any shareholders on the basis of the value so fixed in order to adjust the rights of all parties; and
	(c) vest any such specific assets in trustees for the persons entitled to the dividend.

	21.7 When Dividend Payable.
	21.8 Dividends to be Paid in Accordance with Number of Shares.
	21.9 Receipt by Joint Shareholders.
	21.10 Dividend Bears No Interest.
	21.11 Fractional Dividends.
	21.12 Payment of Dividends.
	21.13 Capitalization of Surplus.

	Part 22  DOCUMENTS, RECORDS AND REPORTS
	22.1 Recording of Financial Affairs.
	22.2 Inspection of Accounting Records.
	22.3 Remuneration of Auditors.

	Part 23  NOTICES
	23.1 Method of Giving Notice.
	(a) mail addressed to the person at the applicable address for that person as follows:
	(i) for a record mailed to a shareholder, the shareholder’s registered address;
	(ii) for a record mailed to a director or officer, the prescribed address for mailing shown for the director or officer in the records kept by the Company or the mailing address provided by the recipient for the sending of that record or records of th...
	(iii) in any other case, the mailing address of the intended recipient;

	(b) delivery at the applicable address for that person as follows, addressed to the person:
	(i) for a record delivered to a shareholder, the shareholder’s registered address;
	(ii) for a record delivered to a director or officer, the prescribed address for delivery shown for the director or officer in the records kept by the Company or the delivery address provided by the recipient for the sending of that record or records ...
	(iii) in any other case, the delivery address of the intended recipient;

	(c) sending the record by fax to the fax number provided by the intended recipient for the sending of that record or records of that class;
	(d) sending the record, or a reference providing the intended recipient with immediate access to the record, by electronic communication to an address provided by the intended recipient for the sending of that record or records of that class;
	(e) sending the record by any method of transmitting legibly recorded messages, including without limitation by digital medium, magnetic medium, optical medium, mechanical reproduction or graphic imaging, to an address provided by the intended recipie...
	(f) physical delivery to the intended recipient.

	23.2 Deemed Receipt.
	23.3 Certificate of Sending.
	23.4 Notice to Joint Shareholders.
	23.5 Notice to Trustees.
	(a) mailing the record, addressed to them:
	(i) by name, by the title of the legal personal representative of the deceased or incapacitated shareholder, by the title of trustee of the bankrupt shareholder or by any similar description; and
	(ii) at the address, if any, supplied to the Company for that purpose by the persons claiming to be so entitled; or

	(b) if an address referred to in paragraph (a)(ii) has not been supplied to the Company, by giving the notice in a manner in which it might have been given if the death, bankruptcy or incapacity had not occurred.


	Part 24  SEAL
	24.1 Who May Attest Seal.
	(a) any two directors;
	(b) any officer, together with any director;
	(c) if the Company only has one director, that director; or
	(d) any one or more directors or officers or persons as may be determined by resolution of the directors.

	24.2 Sealing Copies.
	24.3 Mechanical Reproduction of Seal.

	Part 25  PROHIBITIONS
	25.1 Definitions.
	(a) “designated security” means:
	(i) a voting security of the Company;
	(ii) a security of the Company that is not a debt security and that carries a residual right to participate in the earnings of the Company or, on the liquidation or winding up of the Company, in its assets; or
	(iii) a security of the Company convertible, directly or indirectly, into a security described in paragraph (a) or (b);

	(b) “security” has the meaning assigned in the Securities Act (British Columbia);
	(c) “voting security” means a security of the Company that:
	(i) is not a debt security, and
	(ii) carries a voting right either under all circumstances or under some circumstances that have occurred and are continuing.


	25.2 Application.
	25.3 Consent Required for Transfer of Shares or Designated Securities.

	Part 26  SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS ATTACHED TO SUBORDINATE VOTING SHARES
	26.1 Voting
	26.2 Alteration to Rights of Subordinate Voting Shares
	(a) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right attached to the Subordinate Voting Shares; or
	(b) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares or Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis as provided for herein.

	26.3 Dividends
	(a)
	(ii) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Proportionate Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Proportionate Voting Share equal to the amount of the dividend declared per Subordinate Voting Share, multiplied by 80; and
	(b)

	(ii) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, in a number of shares per Multiple Voting Share equal to the amount of the dividend declared per Subordinate Voting Share.

	26.4 Liquidation Rights
	26.5 Subdivision or Consolidation
	26.6 Conversion of the Shares Upon An Offer
	(a) required, pursuant to applicable securities legislation or the rules of any stock exchange on which: (i) the Proportionate Voting Shares; or (ii) the Subordinate Voting Shares which may be obtained upon conversion of the Proportionate Voting Share...
	(b) not made to the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares for consideration per Subordinate Voting Share equal to 0.0125 of the consideration offered per Proportionate Voting Share;
	(i) give written notice of exercise of the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right to the transfer agent for the Subordinate Voting Shares, and of the number of Subordinate Voting Shares in respect of which the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Ri...
	(ii) deliver to the transfer agent for the Subordinate Voting Shares any share certificate or certificates representing the Subordinate Voting Shares in respect of which the Subordinate Voting Share Conversion Right is being exercised; and
	(iii) pay any applicable stamp tax or similar duty on or in respect of such conversion.



	Part 27  SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS ATTACHED TO PROPORTIONATE VOTING SHARES
	27.1 Voting
	27.2 Alteration to Rights of Proportionate Voting Shares
	(a) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right attached to the Proportionate Voting Shares; or
	(b) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares or Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis as provided for herein.

	27.3 Shares Superior to Proportionate Voting Shares
	(a) The Company may take no action which would authorize or create shares of any class or series having preferences superior to or on a parity with the Proportionate Voting Shares without the consent of the holders of a majority of the Proportionate V...
	(b) At any meeting of holders of Proportionate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares called to consider such a separate ordinary resolution, each Proportionate Voting Share and Multiple Voting Share will entitle the holder to one (1) vote and each ...

	27.4 Dividends
	(a) The holders of Proportionate Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive such dividends payable in cash or property of the Company as may be declared by the directors from time to time. The directors may declare no dividend payable in cash or prope...
	(b) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Proportionate Voting Shares on the Proportionate Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Proportionate Voting Shares on the Subordinate ...
	(c) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Subordinate Voting Shares on the Proportionate Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Voti...
	(d) Holders of fractional Proportionate Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive any dividend declared on the Proportionate Voting Shares, in an amount equal to the dividend per Proportionate Voting Share multiplied by the fraction thereof held by s...

	27.5 Liquidation Rights
	27.6 Subdivision or Consolidation
	27.7 Voluntary Conversion
	(a) Right to Convert Proportionate Voting Shares. Each Proportionate Voting Share shall be convertible at the option of the holder into such number of Subordinate Voting Shares as is determined by multiplying the number of Proportionate Voting Shares ...
	(b) Conversion Limitation Officer. Unless already appointed, upon receipt of a Conversion Notice (as defined below) for the period (the “Restricted Conversion Period”) prior to the date that is the later of six (6) months following December 31, 2018 a...
	(c) Foreign Private Issuer Status. The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain its status as a “foreign private issuer” (as determined in accordance with Rule 3b-4 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Excha...
	(d) Conversion Limitation. In order to give effect to the FPI Restriction, the number of Subordinate Voting Shares issuable to a holder of Proportionate Voting Shares upon exercise by such holder of the Share Conversion Right during the Restricted Con...
	(e) Disputes.
	(i) Any holder of Proportionate Voting Shares who beneficially owns more than 5% of the issued and outstanding Proportionate Voting Shares may submit a written dispute as to the calculation of the 40% Threshold or the FPI Restriction by the Conversion...
	(ii) In the event of a dispute as to the number of Subordinate Voting Shares issuable to a holder of Proportionate Voting Shares in connection with a voluntary conversion of Proportionate Voting Shares, the Company shall issue to the holder of Proport...

	(f) Mechanics of Conversion. Before any holder of Proportionate Voting Shares shall be entitled to voluntarily convert Proportionate Voting Shares into Subordinate Voting Shares in accordance with Articles 27.7(a), the holder shall surrender the certi...


	Part 28  SPECIAL RIGHTS AND RESTRICTIONS ATTACHED TO MULTIPLE VOTING SHARES
	28.1 Voting
	28.2 Alteration to Rights of Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) prejudice or interfere with any right or special right attached to the Multiple Voting Shares; or
	(b) affect the rights or special rights of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares on a per share basis as provided for herein.

	28.3 Shares Superior to Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) The Company may take no action which would authorize or create shares of any class or series having preferences superior to or on a parity with the Multiple Voting Shares without the consent of the holders of a majority of the Multiple Voting Shar...
	(b) At any meeting of holders of Multiple Voting Shares called to consider such a separate ordinary resolution, each Multiple Voting Share will entitle the holder to one (1) vote and each fraction of a Multiple Voting Share shall entitle the holder to...

	28.4 Dividends
	(a) The holders of Multiple Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive such dividends payable in cash or property of the Company as may be declared by the directors from time to time. The directors may declare no dividend payable in cash or property o...
	(b) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Proportionate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Proportionate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Votin...
	(c) The directors may declare a stock dividend payable in Subordinate Voting Shares on the Multiple Voting Shares, but only if the directors simultaneously declare a stock dividend payable in: (i) Subordinate Voting Shares on the Subordinate Voting Sh...
	(d) Holders of fractional Multiple Voting Shares shall be entitled to receive any dividend declared on the Multiple Voting Shares, in an amount equal to the dividend per Multiple Voting Share multiplied by the fraction thereof held by such holder.

	28.5 Liquidation Rights
	28.6 Subdivision or Consolidation
	28.7 Transfer of Multiple Voting Shares
	28.8 Mandatory Conversion of Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) Definitions. In this Article 28.8 and 28.9:
	(i) “4Front” means 4Front Holdings LLC;
	(ii) “BC HoldCo” means 1196260 B.C. Ltd.;
	(iii) “Business Combination” means the completion of the combination of the businesses of 4Front, Nevada HoldCo, BC HoldCo and Cannex Capital Holdings Inc. pursuant to the Definitive Agreement;
	(iv) “Definitive Agreement” means the business combination agreement between, inter alia, 4Front, Nevada HoldCo, BC HoldCo and Cannex Capital Holdings Inc. dated <@>, 2019;
	(v) “Disability” means such holder (i) has been declared legally incompetent by a final court decree (the date of such decree being deemed to be the date on which the disability occurred), or (ii) has been found to be mentally disabled pursuant to a D...
	(vi) “Initial Holders” means the holders of Multiple Voting Shares as of the date of initial issuance of Multiple Voting Shares.
	(vii) “Involuntary Transfer Event” occurs in the event that an Initial Holder (a) files a voluntary petition under any bankruptcy or insolvency law or a petition for the appointment of a receiver or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, (b...
	(viii) “Nevada HoldCo means 4Front Ventures Corp., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada.

	(b) Mandatory Conversion. Multiple Voting Shares are not convertible until the later of the date (the “Initial Conversion Date”) that (i) the aggregate number of Proportionate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares held by the Initial Holders are re...
	(i) the date of the Mandatory Conversion Event;
	(ii) the number of Subordinate Voting Shares into which the Multiple Voting Shares held by such holder have been converted.


	28.9 Transfers Prior to Initial Conversion Date
	(a) Limitation on Transfers. Subject to Section 28.7, an Initial Holder is permitted to Transfer Multiple Voting Shares prior to the Initial Conversion Date to another Initial Holder without compliance with this Section 28.9.
	(b) Purchase Obligation Upon Certain Events. Prior to the Initial Conversion Date, upon: (i) the death or Disability of an Initial Holder the other Initial Holders shall have the obligation to purchase all of such Initial Holder’s Multiple Voting Shar...
	(c) Notice of Purchase Obligation.  Promptly following an event triggering a Purchase Obligation, the Transferring Initial Holder shall send a written notice to the Company and other Initial Holders setting forth the event triggering the Purchase Obli...
	(d) Purchase Obligation Terms.
	(i) The closing shall be on or before the thirtieth day following the transmittal of the notice of the Purchase Obligation (the “Closing”).  At the Closing:  (i) the purchasing Initial Holder shall deliver to the Transferring Initial Holder the purcha...
	(ii) The per share price of the Subject Multiple Voting Shares to be purchased pursuant to this Section 28.9 shall be the Fair Market Value of the Subordinate Voting Shares as of the date prior to the date of the event triggering the Purchase Obligati...
	(iii) The purchase price of any Subject Multiple Voting Shares purchased pursuant to this Section 28.9 shall be paid in any combination of cash, by wire transfer, by certified or cashier’s check, or by a promissory note containing the terms set forth ...

	(e) Note Terms.
	(i) Any Note shall be paid in no more than 12 equal quarterly installments of principal and interest, and the first installment of which shall be due 90 days after the Closing.
	(ii) Any Note shall bear interest on such principal amount at the minimum rate established pursuant to IRS Code Sections 483 and 1274 necessary to avoid any imputed interest or original issue discount being attributed to the Note holder.  The Note sha...
	(iii) Any Note shall be secured by a pledge of such number of the purchasing Initial Holder’s Proportionate Voting Shares or Subordinate Voting Shares or such other assets (excluding the Multiple Voting Shares being acquired) such that the Pledged Val...
	(iv) As long as the Note is not in default, the purchasing Initial Holder shall be entitled to receive all dividends on such Multiple Voting Shares and to exercise all voting rights with respect to such Multiple Voting Shares.
	(v) Failure to make any payment required by a Note within 10 days after its due date shall constitute a default and shall cause the remaining unpaid balance to become immediately due and payable, at the holder’s option, and the Transferring Initial Ho...


	28.10 Extension of Offer to Multiple Voting Shares
	(a) required: (i) pursuant to applicable securities legislation or the rules of any stock exchange on which the Proportionate Voting Shares may then be listed, to be made to all or substantially all of the holders of Proportionate Voting Shares in a p...
	(b) such MVS Offer shall be extended by the offeror to the holders of Multiple Voting Shares (which shall not be required to convert in order to participate in the MVS Offer) for consideration per Multiple Voting Share equal to: (i) 0.0125 of the cons...
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	AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF CONVERSION
	by and among
	4FRONT HOLDINGS, LLC
	4FRONT VENTURES INC.
	4FRONT CAN/AM INVESTCO INC.
	and
	JOSHUA ROSEN
	Dated as of March 22, 2019
	AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF CONVERSION
	ARTICLE I   DEFINITIONS; INTERPRETATION; CONSTRUCTION
	1.1. Definitions
	1.2. Interpretation; Construction
	(a)   The table of contents and headings herein are for convenience of reference only, do not constitute part of this Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or otherwise affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
	(b)   No summary of this Agreement prepared by a party hereto shall affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
	(c)   Where a reference in this Agreement is made to an Article, Section or Exhibit, such reference shall be to an Article or Section of or Exhibit to this Agreement, unless otherwise indicated.
	(d)   Where a reference in a Section of this Agreement is made to clause, such reference shall be to a clause of such Section, unless otherwise indicated.
	(e)   The words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder” and “hereby” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall, unless otherwise indicated, refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.
	(f)   Whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation,” unless otherwise indicated.
	(g)   All pronouns and all variations thereof shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of the Person may require.
	(h)   Where a word or phrase is defined herein, each of its other grammatical forms shall have a corresponding meaning.
	(i)   A reference to any party to this Agreement or any other agreement or document shall include such party’s predecessors, successors and permitted assigns.
	(j)   A reference to any Law in this Agreement means such Law as amended, modified, codified, replaced or reenacted, and all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
	(k)   All references to “$” in this Agreement are to United States dollars.
	(l)   The parties have participated jointly in negotiating and drafting this Agreement. In the event that an ambiguity or a question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties, and no pre...


	ARTICLE II   The CONTINUANCE AND VOTING RIGHTS
	2.1. The Continuance
	2.2. Shareholder Approval and Grant of Contractual Voting Rights.
	(a)   Joshua Rosen, the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date for the special meeting to approve the Continuance and the Arrangement, is the only shareholder of record entitled to vote on the Meeting Proposals.
	(b)   The Parties agree that it is in the best interests of the Constituent Shareholders to permit them to consider the Meeting Proposals and to vote their Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, Class B Proportionate Voting Shares or Class C Multiple Voti...
	(i)        Joshua Rosen, as the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date, will vote his common shares in accordance with the Constituent Shareholders by voting his common shares (1) in favor of the equity incentive plans if a majority of t...
	(ii)        Joshua Rosen, as the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date, will vote his common shares in accordance with the Constituent Shareholders by voting his common shares (1) in favor of the Continuance if a majority of the voting ...
	(iii)       Joshua Rosen, as the sole shareholder of Nevada Holdco on the record date, will vote his common shares in accordance with the Constituent Shareholders by voting his common shares (1) in favor of the Arrangement if (x) at least 66⅔% of the ...

	(c)   The Parties agree that it is in the best interests of the Constituent Shareholders to grant them dissent rights in relation to the Continuance and the Arrangement as though they were shareholders on the record date, and Nevada Holdco hereby agre...
	(d)   Nevada Holdco agrees to convene and conduct the Meeting on the Meeting Date, subject to any adjournment or postponement thereof as contemplated in the information circular relating to the Meeting;
	(e)   Nevada Holdco agrees to provide notice of the Meeting and Meeting Date to each of the Constituent Shareholders and permit them to exercise their Contractual Voting Rights and vote at the Meeting;

	2.3. Effective Time
	2.4. Effect of Continuance.
	(a)          The name of the Continued Corporation will be “4Front Ventures Corp.”;
	(b)          The Notice of Articles and Articles of the Continued Corporation at the Effective Time will be in a form agreed to by the Parties, acting reasonably, and will reflect an authorized capital consisting of (i) an unlimited number of Class A ...
	(c)          By virtue of the Continuance and without any further action on the part of Nevada Holdco, the Continued Corporation or its shareholders:

	2.5. Closing
	2.6. Necessary Further Actions

	ARTICLE III   TAXES
	3.1. Tax Treatment.
	3.2. Tax Certification

	ARTICLE IV   Corporation Securities
	4.1. Effect on Outstanding Securities
	4.2. U.S. Securities Law Compliance.

	ARTICLE V   Conditions
	5.1. Conditions to Each Party’s Obligation to Effect the Continuance
	(a)   Shareholder Approval. The Continuance shall have been duly adopted by the holders of record on the record date, voting pursuant to the Contractual Voting Rights, constituting the majority vote in accordance with applicable Law and the certificat...
	(b)   Orders. No Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) that is in effect and has the effect of making the Continuance illegal or...
	(c)   Combination Agreement.  The conditions set forth in Article 3 of the Combination Agreement shall have been fulfilled, satisfied or waived by mutual consent.


	ARTICLE VI   Termination
	ARTICLE VII   Miscellaneous and General
	7.1. Survival
	7.2. Amendment
	7.3. Extension; Waiver
	7.4. Counterparts
	7.5. Governing Law
	7.6. Entire Agreement
	7.7. No Third Party Beneficiaries
	7.8. Subsidiary Obligations
	7.9. Severability
	7.10. Assignment
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	AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF CONVERSION
	1. DEFINED TERMS.
	Except as described below, capitalized terms used, but not defined, in this Amendment shall have the meanings specified in the Agreement.

	2. Amendments to the Agreement.
	The following definitions in Section 1.1 of the Agreement are hereby amended and restated as follows:

	3. General Provisions.
	(a) Effectiveness.  The amendment set forth in this Amendment shall be effective as of the date first written above.
	(b)  Except as specifically amended by this Amendment, all provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
	(a) Interpretation.  For the avoidance of doubt, from and after the date of this Amendment, references in the Agreement to the “Agreement” or any provision thereof shall be deemed to refer to the Agreement or such provision as amended by this Amendmen...
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	02. 4Front Holdings LLC Consolidated Financial Statements 2018 and 2017
	Copy of 4Front 2018 Financial Statements as of 7.7.19 fina;.pdf
	1-Cons BS
	2-Cons IS
	3-Equity
	4-Cash Flow Stmt

	4Front 2018 footnotes as of 7.7.19fin.pdf
	The following table summarizes the preliminary purchase price allocation:
	Cash        $ 269,346
	Prepaid Expenses        70,789
	Inventory                2,600,000
	Biological Assets      410,000
	Property and Equipment              4,522,366
	Deposit       139,333
	Identifiable Intangible Assets:
	Cannabis Licenses               17,600,000
	Customer Relationships              2,900,000
	Non-Competition Agreements     250,000
	Trademarks                                         100,000
	Goodwill                                                      6,065,518
	Accounts Payable                ( 31,782)
	Accrued Liabilities               (192,209)
	Income Taxes Payable                (542,846)
	Deferred Tax Liability               (232,321)
	Finance Lease Payable                    (93,526)
	Fair value of net assets acquired   $      33,834,668
	Cash Consideration     $      21,249,300
	Notes payable issued               9,085,368
	Equity paid in kind               3,500,000
	Fair value of consideration    $      33,834,668
	Holdings                              HPI                             Pro-forma Results
	2018            2017               2018            2017                2018               2017
	Revenue, net         $ 3,662,801    $   721,009    $4,229,293   $ 1,992,416   $  7,892,094     $ 2,713,425
	Gross profit (loss)      1,357,494     (   318,407)     2,025,151     1,942,087        3,382,645        1,623,680
	Net operating loss   (11,375,535)    (4,656,765)    (  251,986)   (   336,561)   (11,627,521)     (4,993,326)
	Net loss                   (  8,339,306)    (3,588,870)    (  875,889)   (1,837,261)   (  9,215,195)     (5,426,131)
	Acquisition costs, of $126,354, were excluded from the consideration transferred, and were included in Selling, General and Administrative expenses in the period in which they were incurred.
	The purchase price allocation is preliminary and the Company has up to one year to make adjustments to the purchase price allocation.
	For year ended December 31, general and administrative expenses were comprised of:
	There have been no transfers between fair value levels during the years ending December 31, 2018 and 2017.
	The following table summarizes the Company’s financial instruments as of December 31, 2018:


	03. 4Front Q1 2019 final - REVISED
	The following table summarizes the preliminary purchase price allocation:
	Cash        $ 101,567
	Inventory                     90,754
	Property and Equipment                   72,754
	Deposit           2,000
	Goodwill                 6,225,044
	Accounts Payable                 (137,428)
	Accrued Liabilities                     (  14,765)
	Fair value of net assets acquired   $         6,339,917
	Cash Consideration     $        3,359,857
	Payables issued                  305,060
	Equity paid in kind               2,675,000
	Fair value of consideration    $        6,339,917
	Prior to the acquisition, PHX Interactive LLC did not formally charge Greens Goddess Inc. for management services provided. Thus the Pro-forma Results for Holdings and PHX Interactive LLC are not meaningful and are not included.
	Acquisition costs, of $40,587, were excluded from the consideration transferred, and were included in Selling, General and Administrative Expenses in the period in which they were incurred.
	The purchase price allocation is preliminary and the Company has up to one year to make adjustments to the purchase price allocation.
	There have been no transfers between fair value levels during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and the year ending December 31, 2018.
	The following table summarizes the Company’s financial instruments as of March 31, 2019:
	The following table summarizes the Company’s financial instruments as of December 31, 2018:
	Copy of 4Front q1 2019 mgo comments v3 (002).pdf
	1-Cons BS
	2-Cons IS
	4-Cash Flow Stmt

	4Front Q1 2019 notes mgo comments.pdf
	Untitled
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	OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
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	There have been no transfers between fair value levels during the years ending December 31, 2018 and 2017.
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